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BlackB erry Executive Team
BlackBerry Officers

John Chen
Executive Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

John Chen is Executive Chairman of BlackBerry's Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer.

John is a distinguished and proven leader in the technology industry. Prior to joining BlackBerry, he served as
Chairman and CEO of Sybase lnc. for 15 years, where he developed and led the company's re-invention from a
mature, slower-growth technology company into a $1.5 billion-plus high-growth innovator. Under his direction, Sybqge
became the leading provider of enterprise mobility and mobile commerce solutions, achieving 55 consecutive quartb-rd\,
of profitability. ,," '.i
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John started his career as an engineer at Burroughs Corp. in 1979, where he progressed to General Manager of the
UNIX'Group following a merger that renamed the company Unisys. John went on to become President of Pyramid

. Technology, where he served from 1991-1995, before they were acquired by Siemens Nixdorf and he was offered the
position of Executive Board Member, which he held from 1995-1997.

He has testified before Congress on U.S,-China trade relations. ln 2005, U.S, President George W. Bush appointed
him to serve on the President's Export Council. ln 2006, he was appointed co-chair of the Secure Borders and Open
Doors Advisory Committee. Additionally, John chaired the U.S.-China Policy Advisory Roundtable for the Center for
Strategic and lnternational Studies (CSIS). John is actively involved in international relations. He has been a member of
the Committee of 100 since 1997 and was Chairman from 2009-2011 , with the dedicated mission of furthering U,S.-
China relations.

ln recognition of his leadership in building U.S.-Asia relations, John has received awards from the U,S.-Asia lnstitute,
the U.S.-China Policy Foundation, and the California-Asia Business Council. For his corporate board work, he has
been honored by the U.S.-Pan Asian American Chamber of Commerce Education Foundation.

John graduated magna cum laude from Brown University with a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering and holds
a master's in electrical engineering from California lnstitute of Technology. John has an honorary professorship from
Shanghai University, and honorary doctorates from San Jose State University, City University of Hong Kong, and Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.

John serves on the Board of Directors for The Walt Disney Company and Wells Fargo & Co. He is also active in the
not-for-profit community, and is a trustee of Caltech, board member of the National Committee on U.S.-China
Relations, member of CFR, national trustee of The First Tee and Governor of the San Francisco Symphony.

Steve Capelli
Chief Financial Officer

Steve Capelli is Chief Financial Officer, responsible for all of BlackBerry's financial operations including corporate
accounting, FP&A, treasury, tax, procurement, pricing and investor relations. , ,-
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Steve has 25 years of executive experience leading finance and operations organizations in the software and
techn'ology industry.

Prior to joining BlackBerry, Steve was President of Worldwide Field Operations at Sybase with responsibility for more
than $1 billion in annual revenue. Steve also led international operations at Sybase as General Manager with
responsibility for sales, operations, finance, customer support, marketing and human resources. Prior to Sybase,
Steve was Chief Financial Officer of Siemens Pyramid. Earlier in his career, he served in controllership roles at Digital
Equipment Corporation, Unisys Corporation and WR Grace and Company.

Steve received a bachelor's degree in accounting from The College of New Jersey and an MBA in finance from
Rutgers University. He currently serves on several corporate boards with representation on audit, compensation and
governance committees.

Dr Sandeep Chennakeshu
President, BlackBerry Technology Solutions

Dr. Sandeep Chennakeshu is the President of BlackBerry Technology Solutions (BTS). ln this role, he manages and
drives the strategic direction of BlackBerry's innovative technology assets, including QNX Software Systems
(embedded software), Certicom (cryptography applications) and Paratek (RF antenna tuning). Sandeep also manages
the company's extensive patent portfolio and is a key leader of the lnternet of Things strategy.

Over the past 25 years, Sandeep has been engaged in research, product development, lP creation/licensing and
general management in the wireless, electronics and semiconductor industry.

Prior to joining BlackBerry, Sandeep was the President of PMP LLC & RSI Consulting LLC, offering restructurin g, ."-* ..

strategic growth and innovation consultation to multinational clients. He has previously served as Senior Advisor d! ,', ':

Sony -orporation of America, Chief Development Officer of Freescale Semiconductor and General Manager of 'r -'i
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Freescale's Wireless Business group, respectively. Sandeep was also President of Ericsson Mobile Platforms and
Chief Technology Officer of Sony-Ericsson and Ericsson Mobile Phones, Sandeep started his career in research and
development at General Electric (GE).

Sandeep holds a Ph.D. in electrical engineering from Southern Methodist University and a Post Graduate Diploma in
lndustrral Management from the lndian lnstitute of Science. He is an lnstitute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
(IEEE) Fellow and is a named inventor on 73 patents.

Billy Ho

Executive Vice President, Enterprise Products and Value Added Solutions

Billy leads the Enterprise Product Management and Software organizations.

Prior to joining BlackBerry, Billy served as Senior Vice President of Product & Technology Operations at Sybase, lnc.
where he was responsible for Sybase technology research, product development and customer support. He held
many other leadership positions within Sybase, including General Manager of the OEM Business Unit, Senior Vice
President and General Manager of the e-Business Division, and Vice President of the Product Development, Enterprise
Solutions Division. He has also been a Director of Engineering at Unisys and Siemens.

Billy earned a MS in Computer Science from California lnstitute of Technology in Pasadena, California and a BS in
Electrical Engineering from McGill University in Montreal, Canada.

039

981



Nita White-lvy
Executive Vice President, Human Resources

Nita is responsible for leading the HR team to design and deliver global programs, initiatives, partnerships, solutions
and services in all facets of HR to support the achievement of the company's operational goals and strategic
objectives.

Before joining BlackBerry, Nita served as Chief People Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer for SAP Cloud and
SuccessFactors. Prior to that, she was Vice President of Worldwide Human Resources for Sybase, lnc., where she
was responsible for providing and implementing high quality, state-of-the-art human resource and security services
and programs for Sybase employees, management, executives and campuses worldwide.

Nita has an MBA from Santa Clara University, Santa Clara, Calif., and has also completed several courses towards an
MA in Counseling Psychology from the same institution. She earned her BS in Business Administration with finance
and accounting major with honors,
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Carl J. Wiese

President, Global Sales

Carl Wiese is President, Global Sales, and is responsible for driving BlackBerry's go-to-market strategy and advancing
the company's global sales and services efforts to drive growth.

Prior to BlackBerry, Carl spent more than a decade at Cisco in a variety of leadership roles, most recently as Senior
Vice President leading the company's global collaboration business, directing sales and go-to-market strategy. He
also served as Vice President of U.S. & Canada Advanced Technologies, focused on driving sales and deployment
processes for new and emerging technologies that represented some of the company's highest potential growth
segments.

Cad has over 25 years' experience in sales, marketing, services, and product management for high-technology
companies. Previously, Carl held executive positions at Apple, Avaya, Lucent and Texas lnstruments.

Carl holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Oklahoma State University.
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Stev6n E. Zipperstein
Chief Legal Officer

Steve is responsible for worldwide legal, government relations, public policy, compliance, regulatory, corporate
security and corporate real estate for BlackBerry Ltd. Steve also serves as the company's Chief Risk Otficer and
oversees the company's internal audit function.

Steve previously served as the General Counsel of Verizon Wireless from 2003 through 2O11, and as a Deputy
General Counsel of Verizon Communications lnc. from 2000 through 2003. Prior to the formation of Verizon
Communications, Steve served as a Deputy General Counsel for GTE Corporation with corporate-wide responsibility
for state regulatory, litigation and compliance matters.

Before joining GTEl/erizon, Steve served for more than nine years as a federal prosecutor in the United States
Attorney's office in Los Angeles. Steve tried more than a dozen federal felony jury trials (including the first-ever
prosecution against the owners of a failed savings and loan during the late 19BOs) and he argued 23 cases before the
9th Circuit Court of Appeals. Steve also served as Counselorto Attorney General Janet Reno during the 1995
congressional hearings regarding the events at the Branch Davidian compound in Waco, Texas.

Steve graduated from UCLA with a bachelor's degree in Political Science with highest honors, and received his law
degree from the University of California, Davis, where he graduated Order of the Coif and served as a Law Review
Editor and a Member of the Moot Court Board. Steve has taught at Loyola Law School in Los Angeles and published
several law review articles. He has testified before Congress on telecommunications policy issues numerous times.

Steve is a Member of the American Law lnstitute and a Fellow of the American Bar Foundation.
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Mark Wilson

Chief Marketing Officer

As Chief Marketing Officer, Mark Wilson is responsible for delivering the BlackBerry message through thought
leadership and other opportunities that promote the brand. He also leads technology partner and developer
programs, industry solutions and corporate events.

Before joining BlackBerry, he was chief marketing officer for Avaya, senior vice president of marketing for Sybase, an

SAP Company, leader of the strategy practice at KPMG Consulting's lnformation, Communication and Entertainment
Group, and a marketing manager for AT&T. Mark was named by BtoB Magazine as one of the Best Marketers from
2009-2011 and 2013. He was also named to the 2013 FierceCMO list of CMOs to watch,

Mark holds an MBA and an MA in public policy studies from The University of Chicago. He received his BA from
University of California at Santa Barbara.

Senior Leaders
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Vito Giallorenzo

SVP, Corporate Development & Strategic Partnership

Vito leads Blackberry's Corporate Development activities, including strategy and M&A. He is also responsible for
Strategic Partnerships and Alliances.

Vito joined BlackBerry after more than a decade working as a technology investment banker in New York and London,
at Morgan Stanley and, most recently, as Managing Director at Perella Weinberg Partners.

He has also worked at Naspers as Corporate Development Principal and held several engineering roles at Cisco
Systems earlier in his career.

Vito received a Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering from both the Politecnico di Milano and the University of
lllinois, and a Masters of Business Administration from INSEAD.

Vice President and Corporate Controller
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Steve Rai is Vice President and Corporate Controller for BlackBerry. ln this role he is responsible for overseeing
various aspects of the CFO Organization, including: Financial Reporting, Accounting, Tax, Revenue, SOX Compliance,
Payroll, lnsurance and Equity Administration.

Steve brings more than 25 years of progressive experience in financial management, business advisory and assurance
services to U.S, and Canadian public companies, ranging from start-ups to multinational corporations.

Before joining BlackBerry, Steve was Corporate Controller for PMC-Sierra. He previously held senior management
positions with TSX Venture Exchange and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Steve holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree with an accounting and finance major from Simon Fraser
University in British Columbia, Canada. He is a Certified Public Accountant through the American lnstitute of Certified
Public Accountants in lllinois (USA) and a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants in British Columbia,
Canada.

Neelam Sandhu

Senior Director of Business Operations, Office of the CEO

Neelam Sandhu is responsible for the operations of the CEO office, including supporting the CEO in managing key
customer and government relationships globally, preparation for and management of executive meetings and other
engagements, and driving special cross-functional projects to deliver operational efficiencies. Neelam also manages
BlackBerry's travel strategy and operations.

a.

045

987



Since joining BlackBerry in 2009 Neelam has held various positions, based out of the company's United Kingdom,

New York and California offices. Her responsibilities have included Brand Management, Brand Messaging, Marketing
'Operations, Go-To-Market for the Curve and Porsche Design products and Corporate Strategic lnitiatives,

Neelam holds a bachelor's degree, with honors, in Business Management, from the University of Leicester and an

Executive Certification in Financial Analysis from the University of California at Berkeley's Haas School of Business.

Alex Thurber
Senior Vice President and General Manager, Mobility Solutions

Alex Thurber is Senior Vice President and General Manager of Mobility Solutions for BlackBerry. He is responsible for
BlackBerry's global mobility product roadmap and joint development. He oversees the manufacturing supply chain,
repair, customer support and product quality functions.

Alex has more than 25 years of experience in high-tech security. He joined BlackBerry in 2016 as the Senior Vice
President of Global Sales. Prior to BlackBerry, he founded Thurber Technology Group, a technology company that
became one of Portland Oregon's first lnternet service providers, focused on providing secure connectivity to the
newly commercialized I nternet.

ln 1997, Alex's company was the fastest growing technology company in Oregon, and the 75th fastest-growing
technology company in the United States. ln 1999, Alex was named Oregon's Technology Entrepreneur of the Year.
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After selling his company, he spent 10 years at Cisco Systems, responsible for developing global go-to-market
st.rategies for both security and mobility solutions, Alex left Cisco to spend three years as the head of Worldwide
Channels for McAfee. After McAfee was acquired by lntel, Alex went on to run worldwide sales for two smaller security
companies in the Northwest, ending by developing and executing a complete sales turnaround for WatchGuard
Technologies of Seattle.

Mike Webber
Chief lnformation Officer

Mike Webber is Chief lnformation Officer at BlackBerry. ln this role he manages Corporate lnformation Technology
and Technology Services that are provided to BlackBerry customers globally.

Mike previously served as Vice President, Cyber Security and Core Networking at BlackBerry, responsible for all
aspects of cybersecurity and networking for the Corporation and BlackBerry customer services. He has more than
30 years of experience in Information Technology and has held leadership roles at lBM, AT&T, and Cisco, focused
on networking, cybersecurity, and a wide range of lT and customer service responsibilities.
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at@b$Hprftbo EUoiepGhlaetbesdd{mprofessfuBHf (http://slobal.blackberry.com/en)

Facebook (https://wrlw.facebook.com/BlackBerry) German (http://de.blackberry.com)

Twitter (https://twitter.com/blackberry)

YouTube
(https://www.youtube. com/user/BlackBerry)

I nstagram (http://instagram. com/blackberry/)

Corporate

Company (https://ca.blackberry. com/company)

lnvestors
(https ://ca. blackbeny. com/company/- j nvestor:s)

Careers
(https://ca. blackberry. com/company/careers)

News (https://ca. blackberry.com/company/news)

Cediflcations
(https://ca.blackberry. com/company/certifications)

French (http://global. blackberry.com/fr)

Spanish (http ://global. blackberry.com/es)

Arabic (http://global.blackberry. com/ar)

lndonesian (http://id. blackberry. com)

Japanese (http://jp. blackberry.com)

Sites

Developers (http ://developer. blackberry.com/)

Beta Accessibility
(https/1beta.)ryebapps,blackberry,com/defaults/logir/? (https//ca,blacKberry^com/legal/accessibility)
cont=portals&act=index&item=) patents

Contact Us (https://ca.blackberry.com/contact)

Support (https://ca. blackberry.com/support)

Legal lnfo

Overview (https://ca. blackberry.com/legal)

(https://ca. blackberry.com/legal/blackberry-virtual-
patent-marking)

Trademarks
(https://ca.blackberry.com/legal/trademarks),

Privacy Policy
(https://ca. blackberry. com/legal/privacy-poliby)-

Paft ners (https://padner. blackberry.com/)
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\rUSllJlIlEDlidlllllDl*Jy Lll IllLeU' All I19l llS lC!;CIVeU.
(https ://ca. blackberry. com/company/success)

Corpoi'ate Responsibility
(httf s://ca. blackberry. com/company/about-
us/corporate-responsibil ity)
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Court File No. 17-71659 

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

B E T W E E N:

DAVID PARKER

Plaintiff

- and -

BLACKBERRY LIMITED

Defendant

**********

CROSS-EXAMINATION ON AFFIDAVIT
Sworn: October 2, 2017

of LISA CARSWELL, a representative of the
defendant herein, at the offices of Marbrae
Reporting & Mediation, at Kitchener, Ontario
on Monday the 29th day of January, 2018 at
the hour of 10:00 a.m., pursuant to
appointment.

**********

APPEARANCES:

Andrew Reinholdt counsel for the plaintiff
(Nelligan O'Brien Payne)

Ryan Lax & Arlen K. Sternberg counsel for the defendant
(Torys LLP)

ALSO PRESENT:

Lindsay Skyers
(Blackberry)

**********
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Court File No. 17-71659

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WITNESS: PAGE

Cross-Examination by Mr. Reinholdt;  4.

Re-exam by Mr. Lax; 25.

Transcript Ordered: January 29, 2018

Transcript Completed: March 2, 2018

Parties Notified of Completion: March 2, 2018
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3.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

U N D E R   A D V I S E M E N T S

PAGE

Question number 91: "I'd like an undertaking 
for the FAQ?"  17.

Question number 118: "I'm going to ask for an 
undertaking for any of the emails where an 
employee is refusing to provide a resignation 
letter?"  21.

Question number 135: "The witness said she can't 
recall.  Can I have an undertaking to check to see 
if there are any notes of her conversations with 
any of the employees referred to throughout that 
affidavit and, if so, to provide those?"  25.

***********

NOTE: The preceding list(s) are provided as
a service to counsel and do not
purport to be complete nor binding on
the parties herein.  
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4.

LISA CARSWELL: SWORN

EXAMINATION BY MR. REINHOLDT:

MR. REINHOLDT:   Good morning.

A.   Good morning.

1. Q.   Can you state your full name for the

record?

A.   Lisa Carswell.

2. Q.   And you've been sworn this morning?

A.   I have.

3. Q.   I'm going to be asking you questions

about your affidavit.  If you don't understand what

I'm saying or you need me to clarify just ask.  I'm

happy to rephrase.  Before we start I understand that

there's a correction that you want to make to the

affidavit?

A.   Correct.

4. Q.   And that's at paragraph three.  Your

affidavit is at tab three of the responding motion

record.  So at paragraph three there's a heading

above that says discussions with employees following

December 9th meeting?  Sorry, you have to say yes.

A.   Yes.

5. Q.   You want to correct that to say December

8th?

A.   Correct.

6. Q.   And then in paragraph three it says on
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5.

December 9th, 2016.  You want to correct that to

December 8th, 2016?

A.   Correct.

7. Q.   And then the last sentence of that

paragraph, I have reviewed the description of that

meeting at paragraph 23.  You want that to actually

say paragraph 22?

A.   Correct.

8. Q.   Okay.  So we'll make those corrections. 

Before we start is there anything else that you need

to correct in the affidavit?

A.   No.

9. Q.   Everything else is accurate to your

knowledge?

A.   Yes.

10. Q.   In preparing this affidavit did you

review any of the other affidavits that are sworn in

the Blackberry motion records, the book in front of

you?

A.   I reviewed Rebecca Graham's. 

11. Q.   Okay.  That's the only other one that

you reviewed?

A.   Correct.

12. Q.   In swearing this affidavit you've

attached two exhibits to it, two emails.  I don't

need you to look at them right now, my only question
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6.

is did you review other emails in preparing this

affidavit?

A.   I did not.

13. Q.   These were the only two emails you

reviewed?

A.   Correct.

14. Q.   Were you given those emails to review or

did you produce them?

A.   They were provided to me.

15. Q.   So you didn't review all of your email

correspondence with employees from September 2016

until March 2017?

A.   I did not.

16. Q.   Okay, so this is just two emails of that

period of time?

A.   Correct.

17. Q.   In preparing for today have you spoken

with any other witnesses who have already been cross-

examined in this matter?  So have you spoken with

Amber Jessup? 

A.   I have not.

18. Q.   Zoltan Racz? 

A.   No.

19. Q.   I'm just going to ask you a little bit

about your general practice as a HR professional.  In

your day-to-day work do you generally take notes?
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7.

A.   I do.  I would say not all of the time. 

I would say when things feel like I need to take

notes, I would take notes.

20. Q.   So that would be conversations with

employees occasionally...

A.   Sometimes.

21. Q.   ...you'd take notes?

A.   Yes.

22. Q.   What would be circumstances that would

make you take notes?

A.   If a conversation was getting heated or

angry or contentious.

23. Q.   Would you take notes if you needed to

get back to someone because you didn't know the

answer?

A.   I would, yes.

24. Q.   I understand from some of the other

cross-examinations that the Blackberry HR team— And

when I'm saying that right now I'm just referring to

yourself, Amber Jessup, Rebecca Graham and Jennifer

Mascarin— held regular meetings?

A.   Correct.

25. Q.   Would you take notes during those

meetings?

A.   Sometimes.

26. Q.   So you're currently a human resources
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8.

business partner?

A.   Correct.

27. Q.   And you've been with Blackberry since

2009?

A.   Yes.

28. Q.   You're currently on leave?

A.   I am, yes.

29. Q.   When did your leave start?

A.   It started on June 7th of 2017.

30. Q.   Okay.  You report to Rebecca Graham?

A.   I did during this time.  I now report to

John Mazurek.

31. Q.   Okay.  And for the time, just so we're

clear, it's August 2016 until March 2017?

A.   Correct.

32. Q.   You reported to Graham through that

period of time?

A.   I did, yeah.

33. Q.   Did you also report through Amber Jessup

or was she separate?

A.   She was a colleague.  We both reported

to Rebecca.

34. Q.   And Rebecca reported to Nita White-Ivy?

A.   Correct.

35. Q.   Did you have any communications with

Nita White-Ivy during that period of time?

530999



9.

A.   I did not.

36. Q.   Did you receive any communications from

her during that period of time?

MR. LAX:   Can I interject.  General

communications, all communications with Nita

White-Ivy aren't relevant.  I mean,

communications relative to this case may be

an appropriate subject to ask about.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Well if the starting point

is no then I'll stop the questions, if it's

yes then I'll narrow my questioning. 

MR. LAX:   I'm asking the witness to only

answer if there were communications relative

to the case.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Whether it's relevant or not

is something that I don't think we can agree

on right now.  So the fact that I'm asking if

there are communications, I'll narrow my

questioning afterwards but that's a fair

starting point.  If she says no I'm going to

move on.

MR. LAX:   Feel free to answer.

A.   Can you repeat the question?  Sorry.

37. Q.   Did you receive any communications from

Nita White-Ivy during the relevant period of time we

already defined?
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10.

A.   No.

38. Q.   When you're communicating with the HR

team, so again Jessup, Mascarin and Graham, you do

that by email? 

A.   Primarily in person and in email.

39. Q.   In the record I see at time employees

referring to pinging someone.  Is that a reference to

Blackberry Messenger? 

A.   I believe so, yes.

40. Q.   Would you communicate with them by

Blackberry Messenger?

A.   I never did.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.

A.   I would have communicated with Graham,

Mascarin and Jessup but not employees.

41. Q.   You would have communicated with them by

Blackberry Messenger?

A.   Yep, occasionally. 

42. Q.   So as I'm sure you're aware, this

litigation is about an arrangement between Ford and

Blackberry.  When did you first become aware of any

sort of business relationship between Ford and

Blackberry?

A.   I don't remember the exact date.  It

would have been late 2016, December.

43. Q.   How did you become aware of this?
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11.

A.   I was informed through Rebecca. 

44. Q.   How did she inform you?

A.   In a meeting with just our HR team.

45. Q.   And that's referring to the same three

other individuals we've been talking about?

A.   Yes.

46. Q.   Do you have any notes from that meeting?

A.   Not that I recall.

47. Q.   That would have been before the town

hall meetings?  The December 8th town hall meeting?

A.   Correct.

48. Q.   So if you want to turn to paragraph

three of your affidavit.

A.   Yep.

49. Q.   We've already corrected it to say

December 8.  Were you involved in the planning of

this meeting?

A.   I was not.

50. Q.   You attended via teleconference?

A.   I did.

51. Q.   Paragraph four, you say in the weeks

following that meeting approximately ten to 15

individuals asked you questions.  So first I want to

ask, when you say in the weeks following, how many

weeks are you referring to?

A.   The weeks following would be from the
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12.

December 9th meeting through until the offers of

employment that are referred to in paragraph six of

January 12th.

52. Q.   Okay.  You say approximately ten to 15

individuals asked you questions?

A.   Approximately.

53. Q.   It could have been more?

A.   I would say not more.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.

A.   It could have been less.

54. Q.   Do you remember the names of these

individuals?

A.   I do not.

55. Q.   Any of the names?

A.   I don't.

56. Q.   But you can remember the questions that

they asked you?

A.   I remember the types of questions that

were being asked.

57. Q.   The types of questions?

A.   Yes.

58. Q.   Okay.  In answering these questions who

did you consult with?

A.   We consulted with Rebecca Graham.  Many

of the questions were related to our resignation

practice, which I would have known the answer from
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our common Blackberry practices. 

59. Q.   So in answering questions about

resignations you didn't go back and ask anyone how to

answer that question?

A.   I'd need an example of the type of

question.

60. Q.   Well you just mentioned about

resignation letters.  So my question is did you have

any conversations with...

MR. LAX:   I don't think she said letters.

A.   I didn't mention resignation letters.

61. Q.   No, sorry, not letters but resignations. 

I apologize.  In resignations let's start, did you

have any conversations with Rebecca Graham about how

to answer those questions?

A.   We received direction from Rebecca. 

62. Q.   And she said to say that it meant the

employee was resigning from Blackberry?

A.   That if the employee chose to accept

offer of employment with Ford that would mean a

resignation from Blackberry.

63. Q.   And you would have provided that answer

consistently to anyone who asked?

A.   Yes.

64. Q.   And you would have expected the rest of

the HR team to provide the same answer?
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A.   I would have.

65. Q.   Paragraph five, it's about

communications you had with Travis Allen?

A.   Yes.

66. Q.   Let's just turn to the exhibit.  So

that's at tab A.  So this is an email sent December

9th, 2016?

A.   Correct.

67. Q.   You received this email at the time?

A.   I did.

68. Q.   I don't see any answer attached?

A.   No, that's because Travis and I spoke in

person.

69. Q.   You spoke in person?

A.   We did.

70. Q.   Do you have any notes from that

conversation?

A.   I do not.

71. Q.   You had one conversation with this

employee?

A.   Just one.

72. Q.   Just one?  Okay.  What area in

Blackberry did this employee work in?

A.   He was a software developer. 

73. Q.   Okay.  In mobility solutions?

A.   Correct.
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74. Q.   What level was he?

A.   It says here senior software developer. 

So that would have been within Blackberry a level E.

75. Q.   When he asked these questions did you go

and look what positions might be available for him?

A.   I recommended— We didn't really get to

that.  I did say that if he declined the offer with

Ford that he would remain a Blackberry employee and

that if that was something he was interested in that

he could look at the job postings that were available

or speak to management.

76. Q.   But you didn't tell him about what

specific positions he could move into?

A.   I did not, no.

77. Q.   Do you have any notes of your

conversation with Mr. Allen?

A.   I don't.

78. Q.   So in your conversation with him did he

ask about staying with Blackberry?

A.   He did not.  The extent that he asked

was if I decline the Ford offer will I be laid off.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.

A.   He did not ask about staying with

Blackberry.

79. Q.   You're certain of that?  In your meeting

with him he didn't ask that?
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A.   To the best of my recollection he did

not ask.  It was primarily about the logistics of a

potential resignation with Blackberry.

80. Q.   In the course of the conversations you

were having from December 8th onward really until

March, did any employees ask you about what would

happen to their years of Blackberry service or

seniority if they moved over to Ford?

A.   I don't recall being asked that question

specifically, no.

81. Q.   So paragraph ten, we're now into a

section, so paragraph six sort of through I guess

12,...

A.   Yes.

82. Q.   ...the time period you're speaking about

here is roughly from January 12th until February 2nd?

A.   No, this would have been through until

March 1st.

83. Q.   It would have been right through until

March 1st?

A.   Correct.

84. Q.   Okay.  So in paragraph ten you say

somewhere between seven to ten employees asked what

would happen if they declined the Ford offer?

A.   Correct.

85. Q.   And then sort of further in the
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paragraph you indicate what your response was?

A.   Yes.

86. Q.   You would have provided this response

consistently to these employees?

A.   I would have, yes.

87. Q.   The same response?

A.   Yes.

88. Q.   In providing this response did you

consult with anyone?

A.   We did receive— This was discussed as a

HR team with Rebecca, Amber and Jennifer. 

89. Q.   When was that discussed?

A.   I don't remember.

90. Q.   Was this ever put to you in writing?

A.   There was a FAQ that was provided to us.

91. Q.   I'd like an undertaking for the FAQ?

MR. LAX:   We'll take that under advisement.

92. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  Paragraph 11, you refer

to a conversation with Raymond Skarratt? 

A.   Yes.   

93. Q.   And then you have an email exchange with

him at exhibit E of your affidavit?

A.   Correct.

94. Q.   This email exchange was on January 23rd,

2017?

A.   Yes.
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95. Q.   In his email at the bottom of the page

he asks I am wondering what my options would be if I

decided to reject the offer from Ford?  At this point

I just want to make sure that I have as much

information as possible before I make a final

decision. 

A.   Correct.

96. Q.   It appears based on the next email that

you had a phone conversation with him?

A.   We did, yes.

97. Q.   Do you have any notes from that phone

conversation?

A.   I do not.

98. Q.   Okay.  In your response to him you would

have said roughly what you said in paragraph ten of

your affidavit that we just went through?

A.   I would have, yes.

99. Q.   What area of Blackberry did Raymond work

in?

A.   I don't recall.

100. Q.   Do you remember what skill set he had? 

A.   I do not.

101. Q.   Did you look it up?

A.   I would have at the time.  I don't

remember now.

MR. LAX:   Can I point to paragraph 11 of the
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affidavit.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Is it in there?

MR. LAX:   Yes.  It states his position.

A.   Oh okay.  So he was a software developer

as well.

102. Q.   You're confident that that's correct?

A.   Yes.

103. Q.   You put this in the affidavit?

A.   Yes.

104. Q.   You looked it up?

A.   I would have had— Somebody looked it up

for me as I didn't have access to my email.

105. Q.   Do you know who looked it up for you?

A.   I don't know.

106. Q.   So going back to exhibit B.  At the time

did you review internal postings with Blackberry that

would be suitable specifically for Skarratt? 

A.   I don't remember the specific

conversation.  I do know that my answer would have

been as outlined in paragraph ten.  I don't remember

looking at specific positions for Raymond.

107. Q.   You don't think you would have?

A.   I don't believe so.

108. Q.   Okay.  You wouldn't have told him about

specific positions he could move into if he stayed

with Blackberry?
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A.   I would have made him aware that there

were positions posted that he could review.

109. Q.   But not a specific position he would get

if he stayed with Blackberry?

MR. LAX:   I believe you've already asked

this question and received two answers to the

same question already.

MR. REINHOLDT:   I don't think I have.

A.   No.

110. Q.   At any point did you tell an employee

who had not yet accepted an offer from Ford

specifically what position they would be in with

Blackberry if they remained with the company?

A.   I did not.

111. Q.   Paragraph 12 of your affidavit.  So this

paragraph the last sentence you say I— Sorry, for the

context, Mr. Parker seems to assert that he and other

employees who received offers for employment from

Ford felt that they had no choice but to accept the

offer and if they did not do so their careers at

Blackberry would likely end.  I disagree with his

assertion in respect to the other employees based on

the discussions I had with individual employees as

described and illustrated above.

A.   Correct.

112. Q.   So this is you asserting this?  This is
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your perception of those conversations?

A.   It is, yes.

113. Q.   Okay.  Paragraph 15, you start he

sentence with the exception of two employees referred

to below.  Paragraph 16 and 17 are the only other

paragraphs in your affidavit and paragraph 16 refers

to a few employees indicated to me that they were not

providing resignation letters.

A.   Correct.

114. Q.   So who are the two employees that you're

referring to below?

A.   I don't recall their names.

115. Q.   When you say the two employees below are

you referring to 16?

A.   Yes.

116. Q.   And there was only two who indicated

they were not providing resignation letters?

A.   Two in writing that indicated that to

me.

117. Q.   Okay.  So others indicated it through

phone conversations or other communications?

A.   Not that I recall.

118. Q.   I'm going to ask for an undertaking for

any of the emails where an employee is refusing to

provide a resignation letter?

MR. LAX:   We'll take that under advisement.
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119. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  And you don't remember

the name of the two employees?

A.   I don't.

120. Q.   Did you review your emails from roughly

this period of time?  So after Blackberry requested

the resignation letters?

MR. LAX:   You have an answer to that

question from the outset of this cross, the

documents you reviewed in preparing the

affidavit.

121. MR. STERNBERG:  Q.  Are you confident it's

only two?   

A.   I'm confident.

122. Q.   Okay.  Paragraph 17.  You say I also

recall that some employees when they handed in their

resignation letters specifically expressed to me that

they disagreed with this lawsuit, which they had

already heard about and wanted to distance themselves

from it as they did not feel it applied to their

situation.  How many employees expressed this to you?

A.   I don't remember the exact number.  It

would have been less than five.

123. Q.   And how did they communicate to you? 

Email,...

A.   In person.  In hallway conversations.

124. Q.   Do you have any notes from those
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conversations?

A.   I don't.

125. Q.   Did you report these conversations to

Rebecca Graham?

A.   I let her know that, conversationally

that they had happened.

126. Q.   You didn't do it in writing?

A.   No I did not.

127. Q.   You didn't think to do it in writing?

A.   No.

128. Q.   You were instructed to do it in writing

at one point?

A.   We were asked about it but....

129. Q.   You were asked to report it at some

point?

A.   Rebecca asked us about whether these

conversations had happened.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.

A.   I sat beside Rebecca so we talked a lot.

130. Q.   Oh okay.  But just to be clear, you're

confident you did not put this in writing?

A.   Yes.

131. Q.   And just so I'm being fair to you,

exhibit PP of Rebecca Graham's affidavit, so that's

the first tab, so this is an email from Rebecca

Graham to Amber, Jennifer, yourself and she's asking

5451014



24.

you to send a list— And sorry, this is the email at

the bottom right in the middle of the paragraph.  Can

you please send me a list of those who you spoke to

that feel this way and she's asking about employees

who asked to distance themselves from the lawsuit. 

When you say she asked for it, is this the email

you're referring to?

A.   Yes.

132. Q.   Did you ever provide her with a written

list of those names?

A.   I didn't because they were hallway

conversations.  I didn't know the names of the

individuals.

133. Q.   And you don't remember now the names of

the individuals?

A.   I don't, no.

MR. REINHOLDT:   I think I'm done.  Do you

want to just give me two minutes to go

through my notes.

MR. LAX:   Yes.

OFF THE RECORD:

134. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  You said on some

occasions you take notes of conversations with

employees.  With respect to any of the conversations

you refer to throughout your affidavit, did you take

notes of any of those conversations?
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A.   I don't recall taking specific notes

from them as most of the conversations were quite

congenial and straight forward and referred to

administrative aspects of a resignation.

135. Q.   The witness said she can't recall.  Can

I have an undertaking to check to see if there are

any notes of her conversations with any of the

employees referred to throughout that affidavit and,

if so, to provide those?

MR. LAX:   We'll take that under advisement.

MR. REINHOLDT:   That was my last question. 

Thank you very much.

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LAX:

136. MR. LAX:  Q.  Ms. Carswell you were asked

whether you are on leave by Mr. Reinholdt.  What type

of leave are you on?

A.   So I'm currently on maternity leave.  My

leave that started on June 7th was a short term

disability leave related to complications for my

pregnancy.  And then I was on parents of critically

ill children leave for three months.
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MR. LAX:   Okay, thank you very much.

OFF THE RECORD:

**********

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that the foregoing
is a true and accurate transcription 
of the record made by sound recording
apparatus, of the cross-examination made 
before me, to the best of my skill and 
ability.

.....................................
Shannon Robart, C.C.R.

THIS TRANSCRIPT IS THE PROPERTY OF MARBRAE REPORTING &
MEDIATION AND ALL COPYRIGHT IS RESERVED. PHOTOSTATIC COPIES OF
THIS TRANSCRIPT ARE NOT CERTIFIED AND HAVE NOT BEEN PAID FOR
UNLESS THEY BEAR THE ORIGINAL SIGNATURE OF SHANNON ROBART   
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JENNIFER MASCARIN: SWORN

EXAMINATION BY MR. REINHOLDT:

1. Q.   Jennifer can you just state your full

name for the record?

A.   Jennifer Rachel Mascarin. 

2. Q.   And you've been sworn?

A.   Yes.

3. Q.   That's just for the record, even though

I was here two seconds ago when that happened.

A.   Okay.

4. Q.   So my name is Andrew Reinholdt.  I'm

with the lawyers for the plaintiffs in this case. 

I'm going to be asking you questions about your

affidavit.  So that's at tab four of Blackberry's

motion record.  If you don't understand my question

just ask me to rephrase it, I'm happy to do so...

A.   Okay.

5. Q.   ...and we should be able to move through

this fairly efficiently.  Just for a bit of

background, you're no longer with Blackberry?

A.   Correct.

6. Q.   And you left Blackberry as of, just to

be clear, September 2017?

A.   Yes.

7. Q.   In preparing this affidavit did you

review other affidavits?
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A.   I reviewed Rebecca Graham's affidavit.

8. Q.   And that was the only affidavit you

reviewed?

A.   Yes.

9. Q.   There's two exhibits attached to your

affidavit, A and B.  So two emails at the back.

A.   Yep.

10. Q.   You were provided these emails to attach

to your affidavit?

A.   Yes.  They were part of the affidavit

that I was given the documents for examples to

provide.

11. Q.   Okay.  Were you given any other emails

to review?

A.   No.

12. Q.   Did you review your own emails from

September 2016 through to March 2017 in preparing

this affidavit?

A.   No because I did not have access to

them.

13. Q.   Okay.  In preparing for today to speak

with Amber Jessup?

A.   No.

14. Q.   Did you speak with Zoltan Racz?

A.   No.

15. Q.   When you were working for Blackberry,
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and really between September 2016 and March 2017,

most of my questions, almost all of my questions are

going to be about that period of time.

A.   Did you say September or December?

MR. REINHOLDT:   September.

A.   September, okay.

16. Q.   As a general practice did you take notes

in your day-to-day work?

A.   In my day-to-day work yes, I take notes.

17. Q.   Okay.  Would you take notes of

conversations with employees?

A.   Not generally, no.

18. Q.   Would you ever take notes of

conversations with employees?

A.   Yeah, depending on the circumstances.

19. Q.   If it was maybe a heated conversation

you might take notes?

A.   Potentially, yeah.

20. Q.   If you didn't know the answer and you

needed to look something up you'd take notes?

A.   Yes.

21. Q.   What about team meetings with sort of

your HR team?  And I'm referring to Amber Jessup,

Lisa Carswell and Rebecca Graham.

A.   Okay.

22. Q.   Would you take notes of those
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conversations?

A.   Of the meetings that we were in you're

asking about?

MR. REINHOLDT:   Yes.

A.   Like team meetings and stuff like that?

MR. REINHOLDT:   Yes.

A.   Yep.

23. Q.   You'd take notes of those conversations?

A.   Yes.

24. Q.   Do you still have those notes?

A.   No.

25. Q.   Do you know if Blackberry would still

have those notes?

A.   I know I gave one of my notebooks to—

Actually it might have been Lindsay I think.

26. Q.   And just for clarity, who is Lindsay? 

But for the record who is Lindsay?

A.   Oh.  She was in legal.

27. Q.   In legal?

A.   In the legal department.

28. Q.   What's her full name?

A.   Lindsay Skyers.

29. Q.   Okay.  I'd like an undertaking for that

notebook but only with respect to the period of time

from September 2016 through to March 2017?

MR. LAX:   Refused.  It's overbroad.  You
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haven't established that there are relevant

notes in that notebook. 

30. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  Okay.  When did you

become aware just generally that Ford and Blackberry

were engaged in some kind of a business relationship?

A.   In December 2017.

31. Q.   Rebecca Graham told you?

MR. LAX:   Sorry, when's that?

MR. REINHOLDT:   I thought she said 2016.

A.   2016, sorry.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Sorry, I heard 2016.

MR. LAX:   Oh, I heard 2017.  

A.   2016.

MR. LAX:   Just for clarity for the record.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay, thanks.

A.   Sorry.  I honestly can't remember if it

was Rebecca that told us it was a relationship with

Ford they were entering into or if it was in the town

hall with Ralph Pini.  I can't remember.

32. Q.   And when you're saying the town hall

you're referring to the December 8th town hall

meeting?

A.   Yes.

33. Q.   And that's in...

A.   It's in the affidavit.

34. Q.   ...your affidavit starting paragraph
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four.  Just for clarity, that's the town hall...

A.   Yes.

35. Q.   Okay.  So you're not sure whether or not

you were aware of some sort of arrangement before the

December 8th town hall meeting?

A.   No, I can't remember.

36. Q.   Okay.  In paragraph two of your

affidavit you say approximately 100 employees who

received offers of employment from Ford were located

in the Waterloo office?

A.   Yes.

37. Q.   Were you responsible for answering any

questions those 100 employees had about the Ford and

Blackberry arrangement?

A.   Yes.

38. Q.   Were you the only one responsible for

answering those employees' questions?

A.   No.

39. Q.   Rebecca Graham also?

A.   Yes.

40. Q.   Amber Jessup?

A.   Yes.

41. Q.   Lisa Carswell?

A.   Yes.

42. Q.   Would you also answer questions for

Ottawa employees?
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A.   Yes.

43. Q.   If I sort of refer to your HR team as

Rebecca Graham, Amber Jessup and Lisa is that a fair

characterization of the team of people you worked

with?

A.   Yes.  The team of people that was

supporting mobility solutions.

44. Q.   Okay.  Were you all equally responsible

for answering questions about the Ford Blackberry

arrangement from each location or would you each sort

of have a primary area that you were responsible for?

A.   Everyone had their client groups as per

usual, we're all assigned kind of various client

groups under different VP's or directors and

generally we'd be responsible for answering those

employees' questions because they would know to reach

out to me or Amber or Lisa or Rebecca.

45. Q.   So just so I'm clear on this, was it

more defined by the client group and sort of what

type of business versus the geographic location?

A.   I would say so but generally Amber, you

know, had Ottawa because she was co-located in

Ottawa.

46. Q.   Okay.  So a bit of both?

A.   Yep.  Yeah.

47. Q.   The different locations they work
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somewhat together?  Like the business group

overlapped different geographic locations?

A.   Yes.

48. Q.   Going to paragraph five of your

affidavit, you refer to a December 13th town hall.  I

don't know if it's called a town hall but a meeting

with Randy Fraser?

A.   Mm-hmm.

49. Q.   He's the head of Sunrise Florida Product

Design Centre at Blackberry?

A.   Yes.

50. Q.   You attended that meeting?

A.   Yes, I was on the phone.

51. Q.   Did you take notes during that meeting?

A.   No.

52. Q.   Was there an agenda for that meeting?

A.   No.

53. Q.   How many employees were in attendance in

that meeting?

A.   I can't remember how big Randy's group

was.  I think around, I think around— Oh gosh.  I

can't remember.  Definitely less than 100. 

54. Q.   Less than 100?

A.   Yeah.  I would say closer to 50 ish I

think.  I'm pretty sure.

55. Q.   Would these employees have been invited
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to the earlier town hall meetings?

A.   Yes.

56. Q.   Would have all those employees formed a

part of the silver team?  What's roughly been

referred to as the silver team.

A.   I can't recall if all of them, all of

these people in the meeting.  I can't recall if every

single one of them were.

57. Q.   But a large majority of them would have

been?

A.   Yes.

58. Q.   Was there a slide deck for this meeting? 

A.   I didn't see one, I was on the phone. 

I'm not sure if Randy had one in the room.

59. Q.   Can I have an undertaking to check

whether there was a slide deck or other presentation

materials for this meeting?

MR. LAX:   I'll take that under advisement.

MR. REINHOLDT:   And if so, to produce it.

MR. LAX:   Under advisement.

60. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  And just for clarity,

Randy Fraser is still with Blackberry?

A.   No.

61. Q.   No, he's not?

A.   No.

62. Q.   Paragraph six, you refer to Tom Dye
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conducting small group meetings?

A.   He had one meeting.

63. Q.   Before that you say some other

Blackberry managers in the first sentence.  How many

Blackberry managers are you referring to?

A.   It would have been, I supported Randy

and Tom.  I think those were the only two that had a

direct follow up meeting to that, to the town hall.

64. Q.   So when you say some other Blackberry,

just another Blackberry manager had a meeting?

A.   Yeah.

65. Q.   It was a single manager.  Okay.  The

meeting you refer to in paragraph six, how many

employees would have been present at that meeting?

A.   I think probably around the same.  Like

maybe 50 ish.

66. Q.   And again, the majority of these would

have been silver team employees?

A.   No.

67. Q.   No?

A.   No.

68. Q.   There would have been silver team

employees though?

A.   Yes.

69. Q.   Who else would have been present then?

A.   Other employees in Tom's group that were
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not part of silver.

70. Q.   These are employees who are still with

Blackberry?

A.   I'm not sure if all of them are or not. 

I'm not there anymore.

71. Q.   Fair enough.  These are employees who

didn't go over to Ford as part of this arrangement

though when you're referring to other employees?

A.   Correct.

72. Q.   Would have some of them gone to TCL?

MR. LAX:   That's irrelevant. 

MR. REINHOLDT:   I'm trying to figure out

who's in this meeting she's talking about. 

It's a fair question.

MR. LAX:   She's told you that a portion were

on the silver team and a portion were not.

MR. REINHOLDT:   And I'm trying to find out

who the others are.

MR. LAX:   That's irrelevant.  It's a

refusal.

MR. REINHOLDT:   On what basis.

MR. LAX:   That it's irrelevant.

MR. REINHOLDT:   I'm exploring the evidence

that she's put in her affidavit.  This is an

entirely fair question.

MR. LAX:   I maintain my refusal.   
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73. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  You were present for the

meeting that Tom Dye ran?

A.   Yes.

74. Q.   By teleconference as well?

A.   No, I was in person.

75. Q.   In person?  Do you recall if there was a

slide deck for that meeting, or some other

presentation material?

A.   There was not.

76. Q.   Were there speaking notes?

A.   No I don't think so.

77. Q.   An agenda?

A.   No.

78. Q.   Were either the Randy Fraser meeting or

the Tom Dye meeting recorded?

A.   No.

79. Q.   In either of the meetings was the option

of these employees staying with Blackberry if they

turned down the Ford opportunity discussed, or if

they were not offered the Ford opportunity?

A.  I can't recall the questions that were

asked.

80. Q.   Can you recall what the purpose of the

meeting was then?

A.   The purpose of the meeting...

81. Q.   And I'll start with just the Tom Dye
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one.

A.   For Tom the purpose of the meeting was

to answer, or I guess reiterate probably— Sorry, I'm

trying to remember.  They happened after the town

hall with Ralph so they were following up to see if

probably anyone had any questions and to just

reiterate Ralph's points I guess.

82. Q.   What do you mean by Ralph's points?

A.   What Ralph would have said in the town

hall.

83. Q.   Being what?

A.   Just talking about the opportunity with

Ford.

84. Q.   Saying that employees should consider

the opportunity?

A.   Yeah, employees should consider, if they

were to receive an offer, the opportunity.     

85. Q.   But you don't remember whether or not

staying with Blackberry was a topic that was

discussed?

A.   I don't remember.

86. Q.   And you don't remember that as well for

the Fraser meeting?

A.   No.

87. Q.   Did you help prepare Randy Fraser for

his meeting?
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A.   No.

88. Q.   Did you help schedule it?

A.   No.

89. Q.   Did you help prepare Mr. Dye for his

meeting?

A.   No.

90. Q.   Did you have any discussion with him

before the meeting at all about the meeting?

A.   Not that I can recall.

91. Q.   Paragraph seven— Oh sorry, just one last

tidy up.  Is Tom Dye still with Blackberry?

A.   I'm not sure.

92. Q.   You're not sure?  Okay.

A.   I'm not there.

93. Q.   At the time you left was he still with

Blackberry?

A.   Yes.

94. Q.   Paragraph seven, you say you had

individual conversations in person, by phone and/or

by email with 20 employees?

A.   Approximately.

95. Q.   Approximately 20 employees?

A.   Mm-hmm.

96. Q.   Can you help me, when you say

approximately, more or less?  What range would you

say?
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A.   I would say less.  A little bit less.

97. Q.   You say the reaction was generally very

positive?

A.   Mm-hmm.

98. Q.   That was your perception of their

reaction?

A.   Based on the conversations, yep.

99. Q.   Okay.  Did you take any notes of your

conversations with employees?

A.   No, I don't think so.

100. Q.   You're confident of that?

A.   Yes.

101. Q.   What are the names of the employees who

asked you questions?

A.   In this time period I can't recall.

102. Q.   You can't recall any of their names?

A.   Not off the top of my head.

103. Q.   How are you confident about how many

conversations you had?

A.   I know I didn't have very many.

104. Q.   Did any employees ask you questions

about what would happen to their years of service or

seniority should they accept the Ford offer?

A.   Yes, I think that was one of the

questions.

105. Q.   Do you remember when you were asked that
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question?

A.   Like the day?

106. Q.   Approximately.  I know it's hard to come

up with a specific day.

A.   After the town halls.

107. Q.   So roughly in late...

A.   December.

108. Q.   ...December?

A.   Yeah.

109. Q.   What did you say?

A.   At that point I don't think I had an

answer for them.

110. Q.   Did you go discuss how to answer that

question with the HR team?

A.   Yes.

111. Q.   And that would have been Amber

Jessup,...

A.   Rebecca,...

112. Q.   ...Rebecca and Lisa?

A.   Yep.

113. Q.   Okay.  What was the outcome of that

discussion?  What answer were you instructed to give

or did you agree to give?

A.   I think we agreed to get clarification

on the answer.

114. Q.   From Ford?
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MR. LAX:   I'm just instructing the witness

in this line of questioning if any of the

answers relate...

MR. REINHOLDT:   I don't think you can

instruct...

MR. LAX:   ...to consultation,...

MR. REINHOLDT:   ...the witness on...

MR. LAX:   ...if any of them relate to

consultation with counsel, that is privileged

information and it's not to be given in an

answer.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay, that's fair if that's

what it is.

MR. LAX:   I don't know if that's the case

but I'm stating that caveat. 

A.   I would have had discussions with

Rebecca and she would have taken it from there.

115. Q.   Did you receive clarity at some point?

A.   Yes.

116. Q.   And what was the answer?

A.   What was the original question?

117. Q.   About whether or not the employee's

service or seniority would move over to Ford if they

accepted the offer.

A.   If they accepted the offer from Ford

they were resigning from Blackberry and it would be
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treated like any other resignation.

118. Q.   So the answer was no the service would

not carry over?

A.   Correct.

119. Q.   Okay.  When were you told that?

A.   It was either later in December or early

January.

120. Q.   And that was by Rebecca Graham?

A.   Yes.

121. Q.   In the team meetings with HR?

A.   Yes.

122. Q.   Okay.  If you can turn to exhibit A.  So

this is an email exchange between yourself and Nathan

Webster?

A.   Mm-hmm.

123. Q.   And Nathan Webster is a Manager of Beta

and Services?

A.   Yes.

124. Q.   In his email at the bottom of the page

he says here are questions from my team.  Do you know

approximately how big his team was?

A.   He had a team of about ten to 15

employees I believe.

125. Q.   Okay so these are questions from those

ten to 15 employees?

A.   Yes.
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126. Q.   You respond to his email saying if you

have time for a call I can and answer some of them. 

I also have something I need your assistance with. 

Please call me and then you have your phone number.

A.   Yep.

127. Q.   Do you remember having a telephone

conversation about this?

A.   I do.

128. Q.   This email exchange was roughly December

15th?

A.   Mm-hmm.

129. Q.   Do you remember was it December 15th,

16th, like immediately after this email exchange?

A.   Yes.

130. Q.   Do you have any notes of your phone

conversation you had with him?

A.   No.

131. Q.   You didn't take notes?

A.   Not that I can recall.

132. Q.   When you sort of gave him answers— First

of all, you gave him answers to these questions?

A.   A lot of the questions at that point in

time I didn't have answers to.

133. Q.   Okay.  Did you go seek answers for him?

A.   Yes.

134. Q.   From Rebecca Graham?
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A.   Yes.

135. Q.   Did you do that in writing?

A.   No.

136. Q.   Verbally?

A.   Yes.

137. Q.   Did you take notes of any of those

conversations?

A.   No.

138. Q.   So you sought answers from Rebecca

Graham?

A.   Yes.

139. Q.   Did you relay those back to Mr. Webster?

A.   Yes.

140. Q.   And then you expected him to relay that

information to his team?

A.   Yes.  I mean in the email he says he has

questions from his team so I'm assuming he would have

given them.  I only gave them to Nathan.

141. Q.   You would have expected him to provide

those answers consistently to his team members? 

Provide the same answer to the same question?

A.   Yes.

142. Q.   Question one, how will Ford know what

skill sets we have to offer and how to determine the

type of offers for individuals?  What answer did you

give to that question?
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A.   I don't think I had an answer to that

question.  I don't know that information.

143. Q.   You don't remember or you don't know?

A.   I don't know the answer to that

question.

144. Q.   Did you ask Rebecca Graham the answer to

that question?

A.   I can't recall if I asked her that

specific question.

145. Q.   Do you remember whether or not you gave

Mr. Webster an answer to that question?

A.   No, I don't remember.

146. Q.   Question two is another question about

is the offer from Ford going to be for full time or

contract employment?  What answer did you give to

that question?

A.   I directed him to Ford HR I believe for

that question.

147. Q.   Did you ask Rebecca Graham what the

answer to that question would be?

A.   Yes.

148. Q.   What did Rebecca Graham tell you?

A.   I believe for that question she— For any

Ford questions, should be directed back to Ford

regarding the Ford offers.

149. Q.   Exhibit B, or actually sorry, paragraph
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11.  You might keep your finger at exhibit B but also

go back to paragraph 11 of your affidavit.  Paragraph

11 refers to exhibit B.

A.   Okay.

150. Q.   So in paragraph 11 you're talking about

employees approaching you asking whether they could

decline the Ford offer and asking you about options

if they were to do so?

A.   Yes.

151. Q.   So this email from Allan Stirrett, which

is exhibit B, is an example of that?

A.   Yes.

152. Q.   And you would have told him that they're

free to decline the Ford offer?

A.   Yes.

153. Q.   And that HR would look for comparable

roles within their group?

A.   Yes.

154. Q.   And if there's no roles available they

would have looked more broadly at Blackberry

generally?

A.   Yes.

155. Q.   And if not they'd be laid off and

receive severance?

A.   I don't recall specifically saying that

to any employee.
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156. Q.   But you do recall Blackberry

communications where they said that?  Where

individuals from Blackberry said that to employees,

that if they were eventually laid off they'd receive

severance? 

A.   I specifically never said that to

employees.  I don't recall anyone else— I can't

recall anyone else's conversations because I wasn't

part of those conversations.

157. Q.   So with respect to Mr. Stirrett, he

asked you, I have a quick question regarding the Ford

offer, specifically in terms of what happens if I

don't take the offer.  Can you answer that via email

or can we talk in person or over the phone?  I just

want to make sure I have all the information about

all the options before signing on the dotted line. 

The word all is in cap locks.  And then thank you. 

And then you say I'll give you a call tomorrow to

discuss.  So did you call him the next day to

discuss?

A.   Yes.

158. Q.   Do you have any notes from that phone

conversation?

A.   No.

159. Q.   So we see in your affidavit that he's a

Senior System Software Developer.  Where does he
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work, or where did he work at the time he was sending

this email to you?

A.   Honestly I don't know.  I don't know if

he was Ottawa or Waterloo.

160. Q.   Would you have known at the time?

A.   Potentially.

161. Q.   Would you have looked it up on answering

his question?

A.   I don't believe I looked it up, no.

162. Q.   Did you look at what roles were

available in whichever location he was working in

before you spoke with him?

A.   No.

163. Q.   Did you look at his background or skill

set to see what types of roles he might be suited

for?

A.   No.

164. Q.   You didn't think to do that?

A.   He wasn't asking me to do that.

165. Q.   Well he was asking what would happen if

he didn't take the offer.

A.   Okay.

166. Q.   And Blackberry's position is they would

find suitable roles for individuals who didn't take

the offer, correct?

A.   Blackberry's position was they would
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remain Blackberry employees and we would attempt to

re-employ them to other areas of Blackberry.

167. Q.   But you didn't look at what other areas

were available at the time he was asking this

question?

A.   No.

168. Q.   Did you review any job postings before

speaking with him?

A.   No.

169. Q.   You received other similar questions

from employees, correct?

A.   Yes.

170. Q.   Did you ever review job postings with

them before providing an answer?

A.   No.

171. Q.   Before an employee turned down a Ford

offer did you ever tell them about a specific

position they could move into if they were to decline

it?

A.   No, that wasn't possible.

172. Q.   It wasn't possible?

A.   Well it would depend on other people. 

How many other people declined roles as well.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.

A.   And skill sets.

173. Q.   Paragraph 13, when you're saying at the
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bottom in my discussions with employees I emphasized

that they could chose to decline an offer from Ford

and if they did so there were potential positions on

other projects and teams at Blackberry.

MR. LAX:   Let's wait for the witness to turn

up the affidavit.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Yes, sorry.

MR. LAX:   I think you were at paragraph 13?

MR. REINHOLDT:   Thirteen, yes.

MR. LAX:   Is it the final sentence?

MR. REINHOLDT:   Just the final sentence.

A.   Yep.

174. Q.   Do you recall how many conversations you

would have had of this kind?

A.   I can't recall the exact number, no.

175. Q.   Do you recall what specific employees,

or the names of employees, you had these

conversations with other than sort of what's set out

in the exhibits or in the affidavit already?

A.   The only one that comes to mind right

now is a conversation with Ian Wilson I believe his

name was.  That's truly the only one, the name that I

can recall.

176. Q.   But there were others?

A.   Yes.

177. Q.   Paragraph 14, you're stating on February
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2nd, 2017 you sent an email that's referred to at

paragraphs 63 and 64 of the Graham affidavit and then

following that I had some further individual

discussions and/or email exchanges with various

employees in the Waterloo office.  So just for

fairness let's go to 63 and 64 just so you can see

what's being referred to there.

A.   Sure.

MR. LAX:   It's at tab one of this brief.

MR. REINHOLDT:   And I think this is going to

be a bit of a choose your own adventure and

will end up in an exhibit after that.

A.   What tab is it?  Sorry.

MR. LAX:   Sorry, tab one.

A.   Oh sorry.

MR. LAX:   Paragraphs 63 and 64.

A.   Okay.

178. Q.   And you'll see in 63 and 64 she's

referring to an email attached as exhibit K...

A.   Yep.

179. Q.   ...of the Parker affidavit.  So the

Parker affidavit is in the motion record of the

moving party.

MR. LAX:   It's this thicker brief down here.

180. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  To confirm, this is the

email you're referring to at exhibit K of David
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Parker's affidavit, correct?

A.   Yes.

181. Q.   That's the email you're referring to?

A.   Yes.

182. Q.   So I just wanted to do that so you could

situate yourself in terms of the timing of

everything.  So I'll give you a chance to just look

through this email.

MR. STERNBERG:   You may want to give her a

minute to look at 63 and 64.  She...

MR. REINHOLDT:   I'm actually not...

MR. STERNBERG:   ...turned it up and I notice

she hasn't had even two seconds...

MR. REINHOLDT:   Maybe just go off the record

for half a second.

OFF THE RECORD - DISCUSSION:

183. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  Okay so you have that

open in front of you.  If you want to look back at

paragraph 14 of your affidavit at the same time. 

A.   What tab?

184. Q.   Sorry, tab four, paragraph 14.  And it's

the very last page of your affidavit.  The last

sentence you say following that email, so that's why

I wanted to show you the email so you could sort of

situate yourself.

A.   Sure.
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185. Q.   I had some further individual

discussions and/or email exchanges with various

employees in the Waterloo office.

A.   Yep.

186. Q.   Do you remember how many employees you

discussed this with?

A.   I would be guessing but I know again it

was a low number so I would stick around 20 ish. 

187. Q.   And when you're saying individual

discussions, you're referring to about accepting the

offer with Ford and remaining with Blackberry,

questions around those issues?

A.   About anything that was pertaining in

this email.  There was logistical stuff in there as

well.

188. Q.   So about the resignation letter for

example?

A.   Yep.  About their devices and all of

that stuff.

189. Q.   Benefit issues, holiday issues?

A.   Yep.

190. Q.   Do you remember the names of any of the

employees you spoke to?

A.   Not off— No.

191. Q.   Did you take notes of any of your

discussions with these employees?
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A.   No.

192. Q.   So throughout this period of time, so

you said sometime around December 8th, which was the

first town hall meeting, you became aware that there

was some arrangement between Ford and Blackberry?

A.   Correct.

193. Q.   You and the HR team would meet somewhat

regularly to discuss how to respond to employee

questions?

A.   Yes.

194. Q.   Was it a weekly meeting?  Was it

informal?

A.   We had a weekly HR team meeting.

195. Q.   And I would imagine during this period

of time one of the main focuses would have been the

Ford Blackberry arrangement?

A.   Yes.

196. Q.   One of the things that was discussed was

how to respond to employee questions?

A.   Yes.

197. Q.   Earlier you said you took notes during

the team meetings.  Would you have taken notes

throughout this period of time?

A.   Yes.

198. Q.   Now that we know that those meetings

were often focused on that, responding to questions
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and the Blackberry Ford arrangement, I'd like an

undertaking for the notes from I'll say December,

since that's when this witness became aware of this,

through until March 2017.  And that's December 2016.

MR. LAX:   December 2016 through March 2017?

MR. REINHOLDT:   Yes.  She said she became

aware of it December 8th.

MR. LAX:   Right.  We'll take that under

advisement.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay.  Give me just 30

seconds to review.  I don't think I even need

to go to another room.  I think I'm done.

MR. LAX:   Okay, sure.

OFF THE RECORD:

199. MR. REINHOLDT:  Q.  From the time you became

aware of the Ford Blackberry arrangement did you have

any email communications or other communications with

Nita White-Ivy with respect to it?

A.   No.

200. Q.   Did you receive anything from her?  Any

communications from her?

A.   Not directly, no.

201. Q.   Did you receive some indirectly?

A.   Anything would have been through

Rebecca.

202. Q.   Would have those been emails forwarded
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to you?

A.   No.

203. Q.   Just all conversations?

A.   Yes.

204. Q.   Okay.  With respect to answering

employee questions, you already said at one point you

went back to Rebecca Graham to ask some follow up

questions in order to respond.

A.   Mm-hmm.

205. Q.   Did you ever communicate with Rebecca

Graham in writing when you were seeking guidance on

how to respond to employees?

A.   I honestly can't recall if I sent any

emails or anything.

206. Q.   Can I ask for an undertaking to check if

there are any emails to Rebecca Graham seeking

guidance on how to respond to employee questions

about the Ford Blackberry arrangement and, if so, to

produce them?

MR. LAX:   We'll take that under advisement.

MR. REINHOLDT:   Okay, subject to

undertakings and refusals, those are my

questions.

MR. LAX:   Okay, we're just going to take two

minutes in the other room.

OFF THE RECORD:
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RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. LAX

207. MR. LAX:  Q.  I just have one question.  Ms.

Mascarin in answer to one of Mr. Reinholdt's

questions you indicated that you don't recall telling

any employees that if they were laid off they would

receive severance.

A.   Correct.

208. Q.   Do you recall any employee specifically

asking you that question?

A.   No.

MR. LAX:   Okay, thank you.

OFF THE RECORD:

**********

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that the foregoing
is a true and accurate transcription of
the record made by sound recording
apparatus, of the cross-examination made 
before me, to the best of my skill and 
ability.

.....................................
Shannon Robart, C.C.R.

THIS TRANSCRIPT IS THE PROPERTY OF MARBRAE REPORTING &
MEDIATION AND ALL COPYRIGHT IS RESERVED. PHOTOSTATIC COPIES OF
THIS TRANSCRIPT ARE NOT CERTIFIED AND HAVE NOT BEEN PAID FOR
UNLESS THEY BEAR THE ORIGINAL SIGNATURE OF SHANNON ROBART
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        1               ZOLTAN RACZ, SWORN: 

 

        2               CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DION: 

 

        3 1.            Q.  Good evening now, Mr. Racz.  Could you please 

 

        4       state your full name for the record? 

 

        5               A.  Yes.  Zoltan Iosif Racz.  I am the Chief 

 

        6       Engineer at Ford summoned here for testifying towards my 

 

        7       affidavit. 

 

        8 2.            Q.  Yes, and thank you for being here.  Can you 

 

        9       confirm that you've been sworn in today? 

 

       10               A.  Yes, I confirm. 

 

       11 3.            Q.  Now, you have your affidavit open in front of 

 

       12       you.  So this is an affidavit you swore on September 28th, 

 

       13       2017? 

 

       14               A.  That is correct. 

 

       15 4.            Q.  It should be on that last page.  And at that 

 

       16       time, you understood that you were swearing that everything 

 

       17       in that document was to your knowledge true? 

 

       18               A.  Yes. 

 

       19 5.            Q.  Did you review your affidavit in preparation 

 

       20       for today? 

 

       21               A.  I reviewed it, yes. 

 

       22 6.            Q.  Is the information contained in your affidavit 

 

       23       still true? 

 

       24               A.  Yes. 

 

       25 7.            Q.  What other material did you review prior to 
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        1       signing your affidavit on September 28th, 2017? 

 

        2               A.  I reviewed a couple of e-mails that were 

 

        3       presented to me that are attached as annex to the 

 

        4       affidavit. 

 

        5 8.            Q.  Did you review any of the other affidavits even 

 

        6       in draft form? 

 

        7               A.  No. 

 

        8 9.            Q.  When did you start working for Blackberry? 

 

        9               A.  In January of 2005. 

 

       10 10.           Q.  Prior to switching over to Ford, when you were 

 

       11       still VP of Platform Software, who did you report to at 

 

       12       Blackberry? 

 

       13               A.  I reported to Chris House who was the software 

 

       14       leader for Mobility Solutions. 

 

       15 11.           Q.  As VP Platform Software, you were part of the 

 

       16       management team at Blackberry? 

 

       17               A.  Yes. 

 

       18 12.           Q.  So I'm going to start with paragraph 1 of your 

 

       19       affidavit. 

 

       20               A.  Yes. 

 

       21 13.           Q.  You state that you managed a large number of 

 

       22       employees in Canada, mostly in Ottawa and Waterloo.  Can 

 

       23       you confirm how many employees that you managed in Ottawa? 

 

       24               A.  I don't have an exact number at this time.  I 

 

       25       can't remember precisely, but it was probably in the range 
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        1       of 100. 

 

        2 14.           Q.  And what about Waterloo? 

 

        3               A.  Again, the same answer.  I don't have an exact 

 

        4       number, but probably in the range of 50. 

 

        5 15.           Q.  All right.  So we see from paragraph 3 of your 

 

        6       affidavit that you received an offer from Ford on December 

 

        7       8th, 2016, correct? 

 

        8               A.  Yes. 

 

        9 16.           Q.  Was this offer provided to you in person? 

 

       10               A.  Yes. 

 

       11 17.           Q.  And then if you want to switch over just to 

 

       12       confirm, I'll be referring to Exhibit "D" of Rebecca 

 

       13       Graham's affidavit.  She's right at the beginning of that 

 

       14       set of documents. 

 

       15               A.  Okay. 

 

       16 18.           Q.  But I will be going back to your affidavit. 

 

       17               MR. STERNBERG:  Keep your hand in there. 

 

       18               THE WITNESS:  Yes? 

 

       19               BY MS. DION: 

 

       20 19.           Q.  So if we go to Exhibit "D"? 

 

       21               A.  "D", okay. 

 

       22 20.           Q.  So it appears from this exhibit that you 

 

       23       accepted your Ford offer on December 12th, 2016.  Can you 

 

       24       confirm that that's the date on which you accepted the 

 

       25       offer? 
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        1               A.  Yes, I confirm. 

 

        2 21.           Q.  That same email there suggests that you send 

 

        3       your acceptance in writing.  Is that correct? 

 

        4               A.  Yes. 

 

        5 22.           Q.  Did you send it by email? 

 

        6               A.  I sent a signed version of the paper document 

 

        7       through mail courier. 

 

        8 23.           Q.  Now, we see in this email a reference to -- 

 

        9       sorry, you sent your email to two individuals, Charles 

 

       10       Gray, Stuart Taylor and then we see Chuck Manastra on the 

 

       11       cc line? 

 

       12               A.  Correct. 

 

       13 24.           Q.  Can you tell me who Charles Gray is? 

 

       14               A.  Charles Gray is a director of Electrical and 

 

       15       Electronic Systems at Ford. 

 

       16 25.           Q.  And Stuart Taylor? 

 

       17               A.  He is the Chief Engineer for Infotainment 

 

       18       Systems within Charles Gray's organization. 

 

       19 26.           Q.  Were any of the people copied on this email or 

 

       20       to which you sent this email, the people who offered you 

 

       21       employment with Ford in person on December 8th? 

 

       22               A.  Chuck Gray, Charles Gray.  I refer to him as 

 

       23       Chuck because that's his name, Chuck.  Charles Gray and 

 

       24       Chuck Manastra were present in person.  Stuart Taylor was 

 

       25       not. 
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        1 27.           Q.  Did you advise Blackberry's HR department that 

 

        2       you had accepted employment with Ford? 

 

        3               A.  Yes. 

 

        4 28.           Q.  Do you remember when? 

 

        5               A.  I don't remember exactly.  I would have to go 

 

        6       back on the -- in the records that I no longer have access 

 

        7       to, unfortunately.  But shortly after I have indicated to 

 

        8       Ford that I accepted the offer, I have given a verbal 

 

        9       confirmation to my leader, Chris House, and Rebecca Graham 

 

       10       who was my HR business partner about my decision. 

 

       11 29.           Q.  So nothing in writing? 

 

       12               A.  Nothing in writing, no.  At that time. 

 

       13 30.           Q.  Did you confirm in writing after that time? 

 

       14               A.  Before my exit from Blackberry, yes. 

 

       15 31.           Q.  Do you remember roughly how long before your 

 

       16       exit from Blackberry that you confirmed this in writing? 

 

       17               A.  It was sometime in February, but I can't 

 

       18       remember exactly the number of days prior to my last day 

 

       19       which was February 20th. 

 

       20 32.           Q.  Would that have been by email that you put this 

 

       21       in writing? 

 

       22               A.  No, no.  It would have been a written document. 

 

       23 33.           Q.  A written document. 

 

       24               MS. DION:  Can I ask for an undertaking for a copy 

 

       25       of the written document that Mr. Racz sent to Blackberry 

  

3941061



 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                              7 

 

 

        1       confirming that he had accepted employment with Ford sent 

 

        2       roughly a few weeks before his last day with Blackberry? 

 

        3               MR. STERNBERG:  I don't think he told you that.  He 

 

        4       said it was sometime in February.  I thought he said he 

 

        5       doesn't know how many days before.  But in any event, his 

 

        6       answer was whatever it was, but I understand what you're 

 

        7       asking for and we'll take it under advisement.                 *A* 

 

        8               BY MS. DION: 

 

        9 34.           Q.  Did you tell the employees that you managed 

 

       10       that you had accepted Ford's offer? 

 

       11               A.  I have told some of my direct reports sometime 

 

       12       after my verbal acceptance. 

 

       13 35.           Q.  So do you have less direct reports than the 

 

       14       individuals that you managed? 

 

       15               A.  Yes. 

 

       16 36.           Q.  How many direct reports do you have? 

 

       17               A.  Did I have at the time? 

 

       18 37.           Q.  Yes, when you say that you told some of your 

 

       19       direct -- 

 

       20               A.  Some of my direct reports. 

 

       21 38.           Q.  Yes.  At that time when you had told some of 

 

       22       them, how many direct reports did you have in total? 

 

       23               A.  Honestly, I can't remember exactly, but it 

 

       24       would have been less than a dozen.  They were scattered 

 

       25       throughout the sites that I managed. 
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        1 39.           Q.  And of those roughly dozen direct reports, how 

 

        2       many did you tell that you had accepted Ford's offer? 

 

        3               A.  I cannot remember the ones that I didn't tell 

 

        4       it to, so not sure. 

 

        5 40.           Q.  Would you have told these direct reports of 

 

        6       your acceptance in person? 

 

        7               A.  Either in person or on a conference call that 

 

        8       we may have had after my acceptance. 

 

        9 41.           Q.  So not in writing? 

 

       10               A.  No. 

 

       11 42.           Q.  Was Michael Dawson one of your direct reports? 

 

       12               A.  No. 

 

       13 43.           Q.  Was he an individual that you managed? 

 

       14               A.  No. 

 

       15 44.           Q.  Was the Ford offer that you received on 

 

       16       December 8th the version of the offer from Ford that you 

 

       17       eventually accepted? 

 

       18               A.  Yes. 

 

       19 45.           Q.  I'm going to refer to that second stack of 

 

       20       documents.  There, yes.  So Exhibit "K" of David Parker's 

 

       21       affidavit, on page 88, that one right there. 

 

       22               A.  Okay. 

 

       23 46.           Q.  You see an email that was sent out on February 

 

       24       2nd, 2017, from Amber Jessup.  Did you receive a copy of 

 

       25       this email? 
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        1               A.  Give me one moment.  I confirm, yes, I did 

 

        2       receive it. 

 

        3 47.           Q.  And did you receive it on February 2nd, 2017? 

 

        4               A.  I believe so, yes. 

 

        5 48.           Q.  Now if you turn to page 90 at the top right? 

 

        6               A.  Yes. 

 

        7 49.           Q.  You'll see a template resignation letter? 

 

        8               A.  Yes. 

 

        9 50.           Q.  Was this also part of the email that you 

 

       10       received on February 2nd, 2017? 

 

       11               A.  Yes. 

 

       12 51.           Q.  Was this the first time that someone from 

 

       13       Blackberry informed you that you needed to officially 

 

       14       resign from your employment with Blackberry? 

 

       15               A.  Yes. 

 

       16 52.           Q.  So I'm taking you back to your affidavit now. 

 

       17               A.  Yes. 

 

       18 53.           Q.  We're going to go to paragraph 18.  So 

 

       19       according to this paragraph, some employees spoke to you 

 

       20       about that February 2nd email and the request for a 

 

       21       resignation? 

 

       22               A.  Yes. 

 

       23 54.           Q.  Do you recall roughly how many employees spoke 

 

       24       to you about that issue? 

 

       25               A.  I can't remember precisely how many, but I 
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        1       would say less than a dozen employees that came to speak to 

 

        2       me personally. 

 

        3 55.           Q.  And were these all direct reports of yours? 

 

        4               A.  No, not necessarily. 

 

        5 56.           Q.  Were some direct reports of yours? 

 

        6               A.  I believe one or two were my direct reports and 

 

        7       the rest were in the chain of command. 

 

        8 57.           Q.  Do you recall the names of anyone that spoke to 

 

        9       you about this request for a resignation letter? 

 

       10               A.  Not precisely given that there were lots of 

 

       11       discussions and I didn't take, you know, extra care to note 

 

       12       down or to remember what was a discussion, what context and 

 

       13       what precise question there was or objection. 

 

       14 58.           Q.  So we see in this paragraph 18 that you 

 

       15       mentioned a concern about providing that resignation letter 

 

       16       at that stage because of the probationary period that Ford 

 

       17       was requiring people to be subject to if they accepted the 

 

       18       offer? 

 

       19               A.  Yes. 

 

       20 59.           Q.  Do you recall any other concern that was raised 

 

       21       by any of these employees that were coming to speak to you 

 

       22       about this resignation letter request? 

 

       23               A.  Yes. 

 

       24 60.           Q.  Okay, could you inform me of what other 

 

       25       concerns they had? 
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        1               A.  Yes.  The other concern that was raised to me 

 

        2       was with respect to the standing an employee would have 

 

        3       with respect to Human Resources Canada with respect to 

 

        4       eligibility for unemployment benefits in case they would 

 

        5       have been laid off from Ford in a certain window of time, 

 

        6       knowing that they have resigned from their previous job and 

 

        7       in suspecting that there could be a minimum period of work 

 

        8       that would have to be done at Ford before any eligibility 

 

        9       for unemployment insurance.  So a worst-case scenario. 

 

       10 61.           Q.  So, other than this unemployment insurance 

 

       11       issue and probationary period, were there any other 

 

       12       concerns raised? 

 

       13               A.  I believe one or two individuals raised 

 

       14       concerns about the tone and the need for the document. 

 

       15 62.           Q.  And regarding that unemployment insurance 

 

       16       question, was that something that you were able to answer? 

 

       17               A.  No.  No, I was not.  And therefore, I avoided 

 

       18       giving them any advice since it's not my area of specialty. 

 

       19 63.           Q.  Did you offer up someone else's name that they 

 

       20       might be able to speak to? 

 

       21               A.  I always directed them to Human Resources, the 

 

       22       Blackberry Human Resources team. 

 

       23 64.           Q.  Specifically to Rebecca Graham or anyone? 

 

       24               A.  To -- since these people spoke to me in Ottawa, 

 

       25       it was Amber Jessup who was the local Human Resources 
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        1       business partner. 

 

        2 65.           Q.  So according to paragraph 19 of your affidavit 

 

        3       you confirmed your resignation with Blackberry by way of 

 

        4       letter.  Is this the same letter that you had referred to 

 

        5       previously that you gave to Blackberry? 

 

        6               A.  Yes.  Yes. 

 

        7 66.           Q.  Now, in paragraph 10 of your affidavit? 

 

        8               A.  Yes. 

 

        9 67.           Q.  You confirm having received questions from 

 

       10       employees that focused on policy or process.  Do you recall 

 

       11       that? 

 

       12               A.  Yes. 

 

       13 68.           Q.  Do you recall what type of policy questions you 

 

       14       were asked? 

 

       15               A.  Based on my recollection, they were related to 

 

       16       the process that would be followed or the policy that 

 

       17       Blackberry would follow in case an employee would accept or 

 

       18       reject the Ford offer. 

 

       19 69.           Q.  Do you recall roughly how many employees would 

 

       20       have asked you about this process, this specific question? 

 

       21               A.  Hard for me to say precisely, but again overall 

 

       22       through that period between 12 to 24 employees.  So less 

 

       23       than two dozen employees that I have probably spoken to 

 

       24       related to the offers. 

 

       25 70.           Q.  And about whether -- what would happen if they 
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        1       would accept or reject? 

 

        2               A.  That's right. 

 

        3 71.           Q.  And you always responded to them in the same 

 

        4       way? 

 

        5               A.  Yes. 

 

        6 72.           Q.  For the same questions? 

 

        7               A.  It became clear that, you know, my advice, you 

 

        8       know, would not -- would need to be careful because every 

 

        9       person would have to make an individual choice and 

 

       10       therefore I tried to keep the conversation, you know, 

 

       11       advice to be given on a personal level, not management 

 

       12       related and I wanted to make sure that I was honest about 

 

       13       the opportunity of each person's offer since I knew them 

 

       14       for a long time. 

 

       15 73.           Q.  You knew that they were going to be getting 

 

       16       offers for a long time? 

 

       17               A.  No, no.  It's about - 

 

       18 74.           Q.  Oh, you knew the people for a long time? 

 

       19               A.  The people, that's right. 

 

       20 75.           Q.  And prior to responding to this policy-type 

 

       21       question on accepting or rejecting the Ford offer, had you 

 

       22       discussed how to respond to these types of questions with 

 

       23       either other Blackberry management or Blackberry HR? 

 

       24               A.  Not necessarily related with this particular 

 

       25       process of, you know, the offers from Ford.  We have 
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        1       discussed it in the years before. 

 

        2 76.           Q.  What's "it"?  Discussed what? 

 

        3               A.  What is the process to be followed, you know, 

 

        4       when employees need to be reassigned. 

 

        5 77.           Q.  Was there any other type of policy question 

 

        6       that you were asked? 

 

        7               A.  Not that I can recall. 

 

        8 78.           Q.  What about the process-type question that you 

 

        9       also reference in paragraph 10? 

 

       10               A.  So the policy refers to what would be the logic 

 

       11       and the behaviour that Blackberry would likely follow and 

 

       12       the process would be more concretely about the steps and 

 

       13       perhaps the details of how that policy would be implemented 

 

       14       and therefore what could an employee expect. 

 

       15 79.           Q.  Do you recall the names of any of these 

 

       16       employees that asked you either policy or process type 

 

       17       questions? 

 

       18               A.  I can't remember, no. 

 

       19 80.           Q.  So then we turn to paragraph 11. 

 

       20               A.  Yes. 

 

       21 81.           Q.  You mention how a small number of employees 

 

       22       were wanting more information about their specific options 

 

       23       if they turned down the Ford offer.  Are you referring to 

 

       24       the same employees that we were just -- 

 

       25               A.  Yes. 
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        1 82.           Q.  -- discussing in paragraph 10? 

 

        2               A.  Yes. 

 

        3 83.           Q.  With respect to paragraph 10 you had mentioned 

 

        4       maybe 12 to 24 people had asked you either policy or 

 

        5       process type question and then we get to paragraph 11 where 

 

        6       at the bottom we see as far as you recall there was only 

 

        7       one or two employees that asked you what would happen if 

 

        8       they turned down the Ford offer and were ultimately not 

 

        9       able to be placed on another team or project? 

 

       10               A.  Yes. 

 

       11 84.           Q.  So obviously not very many of those employees? 

 

       12               A.  That's right. 

 

       13 85.           Q.  And you still only remember there having been 

 

       14       one or two? 

 

       15               A.  Yes. 

 

       16 86.           Q.  Do you recall which employees those one or two 

 

       17       were? 

 

       18               A.  I can't recall, I'm sorry. 

 

       19 87.           Q.  Next, in paragraph 12. 

 

       20               A.  Yes. 

 

       21 88.           Q.  You state that some employees expressed concern 

 

       22       about giving up their tenure if they accepted the Ford 

 

       23       offer.  That first sentence? 

 

       24               A.  Yes. 

 

       25 89.           Q.  Do you recall how many employees expressed that 
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        1       concern to you? 

 

        2               A.  It was part of the same discussion that -- 

 

        3       those same discussions that I was referencing in paragraph 

 

        4       10.  So I can't remember how -- what subset of those 

 

        5       discussions, that 12 to 24 would have included the question 

 

        6       about tenure and what would happen with it. 

 

        7 90.           Q.  Now we can turn to paragraph 14. 

 

        8               A.  Yes. 

 

        9 91.           Q.  You wrote that various managers emailed you to 

 

       10       keep you posted on the offer process with their teams.  Do 

 

       11       you recall which managers emailed you on this topic?  And I 

 

       12       will say we know Daryl Martin did because we see him at 

 

       13       Exhibit "A" -- 

 

       14               A.  Yes. 

 

       15 92.           Q.  -- to your affidavit.  Beyond him, do you 

 

       16       recall anyone else? 

 

       17               A.  I recall two of the managers that I had in the 

 

       18       United States were teams that were part of Project Silver, 

 

       19       you know, operated. 

 

       20 93.           Q.  And Daryl Martin was within Ontario, correct? 

 

       21               A.  Correct. 

 

       22 94.           Q.  So he was the only Canadian-based manager that 

 

       23       emailed you? 

 

       24               A.  There may have been others, but I can't 

 

       25       remember for sure. 
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        1               MS. DION:  Can we ask for an undertaking to check 

 

        2       whether other Canadian-based managers emailed Mr. Racz in 

 

        3       reference to this paragraph 14 in his affidavit?  And we 

 

        4       can go during that December 2016 to March 2017 period. 

 

        5               MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement.                      *A* 

 

        6               BY MS. DION: 

 

        7 95.           Q.  I guess I should ask, do any managers from the 

 

        8       U.S. have any bearing on the Canadian employees that 

 

        9       received Ford offers? 

 

       10               A.  Yes. 

 

       11               MS. DION:  So I would actually like to extend my 

 

       12       undertaking to include those United States managers, 

 

       13       please.  Same time period, same everything else. 

 

       14               MR. STERNBERG:  Same position.                         *A* 

 

       15               MS. DION:  Okay, and to expand on that undertaking, 

 

       16       if it's part of a larger email chain where they were 

 

       17       discussing, you know, keeping each other updated and posted 

 

       18       on the offer process with their teams' responses, for 

 

       19       example, I would ask for the same undertaking for the same 

 

       20       period of time. 

 

       21               MR. STERNBERG:  You're asking for the emails to 

 

       22       Zoltan and? 

 

       23               MS. DION:  And any responses Zoltan might have 

 

       24       provided. 

 

       25               MR. STERNBERG:  Same position.                         *A* 
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        1               BY MS. DION: 

 

        2 96.           Q.  So in that same paragraph, we see a reference 

 

        3       to reports from the managers on the ground at other sites 

 

        4       and then Exhibit "A" is stated as an example.  So would the 

 

        5       reports be the same thing as the emails or are they 

 

        6       separate? 

 

        7               A.  Yes, emails.  There were no other types of 

 

        8       reports. 

 

        9 97.           Q.  Out of your direct reports that received an 

 

       10       employment offer from Ford, do you know if any of them 

 

       11       declined the offer? 

 

       12               A.  None. 

 

       13 98.           Q.  Did they all receive an offer? 

 

       14               A.  No. 

 

       15 99.           Q.  Roughly how many of your direct reports 

 

       16       received employment offers from Ford? 

 

       17               A.  Give me one moment to think about who did not 

 

       18       receive and that will tell me. 

 

       19 100.          Q.  You can say those individuals if that helps. 

 

       20               A.  I can only remember one individual from among 

 

       21       my direct reports that did not receive an offer.  Other 

 

       22       than that, everyone else did. 

 

       23 101.          Q.  Who was that? 

 

       24               A.  Anish Aggarwal.  You need the spelling or? 

 

       25 102.          Q.  No, that one, I know. 
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        1               A.  Okay. 

 

        2 103.          Q.  And my apologies if I have asked this before. 

 

        3       Could you name who your direct reports were at December 

 

        4       2016? 

 

        5               A.  I can name a few, yes.  Do you want all of 

 

        6       them? 

 

        7 104.          Q.  Whatever you can name now and then the rest we 

 

        8       can get by undertaking. 

 

        9               A.  Okay.  So Cristian Lambiri, John Hotchson, 

 

       10       Philip Heusel, Anish Aggarwal, Nava Murugesapillai.  I can 

 

       11       provide you with the spelling. 

 

       12 105.          Q.  That one, I might need.  We could do it by way 

 

       13       of undertaking unless you know exactly how to spell it. 

 

       14               A.  I know. 

 

       15 106.          Q.  All right.  So for the record -- 

 

       16               A.  And so this individual in San Diego, 

 

       17       California -- 

 

       18 107.          Q.  Sorry, just one moment.  I'm going to read this 

 

       19       in for the record. 

 

       20               A.  N-A-V-A -- 

 

       21 108.          Q.  Yes, N-A-V-A-M-A-S-H-A-N. 

 

       22               A.  That's right. 

 

       23 109.          Q.  Last name M-U-R-U-G-E-S-A-P-I-L-L-A-I. 

 

       24               A.  That's correct.  So U.S. based -- Leonard 

 

       25       Lehrer, U.S. based.  The rest of the individuals I named 
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        1       were Canadian based.  Let me -- give me one moment to think 

 

        2       whether I have missed anyone.  That is it as far as I can 

 

        3       remember. 

 

        4 110.          Q.  Okay, so you've named six people? 

 

        5               A.  Yeah. 

 

        6               MS. DION:  So by way of undertaking, if we could 

 

        7       get the remainder of the list should there be other people? 

 

        8               MR. STERNBERG:  I think he just told you, as he 

 

        9       recalls, that's it. 

 

       10               MS. DION:  Well, he had initially said there seemed 

 

       11       to be about 12 and we have six.  So, just in case. 

 

       12               MR. STERNBERG:  Okay, under advisement.                *A* 

 

       13               BY MS. DION: 

 

       14 111.          Q.  Now, would your direct reports have changed at 

 

       15       all between the summer of 2016 to the time you left 

 

       16       Blackberry in 2017? 

 

       17               A.  Between 2016 -- 

 

       18 112.          Q.  The summer of 2016 and when you left 

 

       19       Blackberry? 

 

       20               A.  Have there been any changes in my direct 

 

       21       reports -- 

 

       22 113.          Q.  Would there -- 

 

       23               A.  None that I can recall, no. 

 

       24 114.          Q.  So if we turn to Exhibit "A" of your affidavit? 

 

       25               A.  Yes. 
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        1 115.          Q.  Sorry, I'm just reading my notes.  So within 

 

        2       the email sent from Daryl Martin, he references a Gary J -- 

 

        3               A.  Yes. 

 

        4 116.          Q.  -- about midway through.  Who is Gary J? 

 

        5               A.  Gary Jablonski.  Do you need the spelling?  I 

 

        6       can write it down. 

 

        7 117.          Q.  Sure.  And we could always get the spelling 

 

        8       after the fact.  All right, so for the record, that's 

 

        9       J-A-B-L-O-N-S-K-I.  Who is this Gary Jablonski? 

 

       10               A.  Gary Jablonski is a Ford employee who at the 

 

       11       time was in Waterloo. 

 

       12 118.          Q.  So, Blackberry? 

 

       13               A.  Yes, at the Blackberry office and is currently 

 

       14       my peer in Ford. 

 

       15 119.          Q.  Now let's switch to Exhibit "B" of your 

 

       16       affidavit. 

 

       17               A.  Yes. 

 

       18 120.          Q.  This is an email from Robin McCabe to you -- 

 

       19               A.  Yes. 

 

       20 121.          Q.  -- on January 25th. 

 

       21               A.  Yes. 

 

       22 122.          Q.  At the top there.  How did Robin know that -- 

 

       23       I'm not sure if it's a he or a she -- would still be 

 

       24       working with you at Ford since this is before you both 

 

       25       started working at Ford? 
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        1               A.  It must have been her inference that she would 

 

        2       be working within my group. 

 

        3 123.          Q.  And is she? 

 

        4               A.  She is. 

 

        5 124.          Q.  So it's a good inference? 

 

        6               A.  Yes. 

 

        7 125.          Q.  So you're not sure if anyone told her that she 

 

        8       would be working in your group? 

 

        9               A.  There had been no discussions at the time about 

 

       10       how the team or those that accepted offers will be 

 

       11       structured.  There was an expectation probably from the 

 

       12       team members that the group would be kept together, but no 

 

       13       one knew for sure.  So it may have been just speculation. 

 

       14 126.          Q.  And if we take your direct reports that 

 

       15       accepted the Ford offer, are you guys still all within the 

 

       16       same group? 

 

       17               A.  Yes. 

 

       18 127.          Q.  And we see that Leonard Lehrer -- 

 

       19               A.  Lehrer, yes. 

 

       20 128.          Q.  Lehrer.  Was copied on that email? 

 

       21               A.  Yes. 

 

       22 129.          Q.  Who is Leonard? 

 

       23               A.  Leonard was the supervisor of Robin McCabe.  So 

 

       24       he was my direct report. 

 

       25 130.          Q.  He was the one that you had mentioned? 
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        1               A.  I just -- 

 

        2 131.          Q.  Sorry, I wrote the name wrong. 

 

        3               A.  -- mentioned him.  So I told you that he had 

 

        4       reports in Canada, right. 

 

        5 132.          Q.  But he was U.S. based? 

 

        6               A.  That's right.  He's based in the U.S. 

 

        7 133.          Q.  So the Blackberry employees who would 

 

        8       eventually form part of the Silver Team, were those 

 

        9       employees chosen by Blackberry? 

 

       10               A.  Yes. 

 

       11               MR. STERNBERG:  Don't answer the question.  You got 

 

       12       an answer.  My position is it's not relevant.                  *O* 

 

       13               BY MS. DION: 

 

       14 134.          Q.  So, when the Silver team was formed, only 

 

       15       Blackberry would have knowledge of the members of that 

 

       16       team? 

 

       17               MR. STERNBERG:  Don't answer the question based on 

 

       18       relevance.                                                     *O* 

 

       19               MS. DION:  So maybe to respond to your objection, 

 

       20       I'll take you to Exhibit "F" of David Parker's initial 

 

       21       affidavit.  So that's -- 

 

       22               MR. STERNBERG:  Let's not take the time.  So you've 

 

       23       got the position.  We don't need to debate it now.  You 

 

       24       don't need to satisfy me.  You don't need to take me to 

 

       25       something for my benefit. 
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        1               MS. DION:  But I also have other questions based on 

 

        2       that document. 

 

        3               MR. STERNBERG:  Oh, that's fine, sorry.  I thought 

 

        4       you were taking -- 

 

        5               MS. DION:  It all ties in together. 

 

        6               MR. STERNBERG:  Fair enough. 

 

        7               MS. DION:  So the larger stack of documents. 

 

        8               MR. STERNBERG:  This one? 

 

        9               MS. DION:  Yes. 

 

       10               BY MS. DION: 

 

       11 135.          Q.  So if you go to the first Exhibit "F" that you 

 

       12       see? 

 

       13               A.  Exhibit F? 

 

       14 136.          Q.  Yes, please.  So this is an email that you sent 

 

       15       on January 16, 2017.  It seems to have been bcc'd to the 

 

       16       entire Silver Team.  And you state in this email that you 

 

       17       had been informed that everyone that is part of Silver will 

 

       18       get an offer? 

 

       19               A.  Yes. 

 

       20 137.          Q.  You see that there? 

 

       21               A.  Yes. 

 

       22 138.          Q.  Okay.  So Ford must have known by this date who 

 

       23       was part of the Silver team?  No? 

 

       24               A.  Yes. 

 

       25 139.          Q.  And this could only have been communicated by 
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        1       Blackberry? 

 

        2               A.  As far as I know, yes. 

 

        3 140.          Q.  Did you communicate this information to Ford? 

 

        4               A.  No. 

 

        5 141.          Q.  Do you know who did? 

 

        6               A.  No, I don't. 

 

        7 142.          Q.  So on the same exhibit, you set out the days on 

 

        8       which Blackberry employees at each location should be 

 

        9       receiving their offers? 

 

       10               A.  Yes. 

 

       11 143.          Q.  Who told you on which days these offers would 

 

       12       be made? 

 

       13               A.  From what I recall, it was something that was 

 

       14       discussed jointly -- separately with Ford leaders and 

 

       15       Blackberry. 

 

       16 144.          Q.  Who at Blackberry would have formed a part of 

 

       17       this discussion? 

 

       18               A.  From what I recall, the root of the discussion 

 

       19       is started from Rebecca Graham. 

 

       20 145.          Q.  Were you a part of this discussion? 

 

       21               A.  It -- from what I remember, it was a discussion 

 

       22       between me and Rebecca. 

 

       23 146.          Q.  Do you recall when this discussion took place? 

 

       24               A.  No, I don't. 

 

       25 147.          Q.  Who were the Ford leaders involved with this 
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        1       discussion? 

 

        2               A.  It was a separate discussion.  Likely, from 

 

        3       what I recall, Chuck Manastra. 

 

        4 148.          Q.  So at one point the discussion must have come 

 

        5       together for you to get the information either by email or 

 

        6       in person by telephone -- 

 

        7               A.  Well, from what I recall, Chuck Manastra who 

 

        8       represented Ford's human resources team informed me about 

 

        9       the plan and then Rebecca confirmed that in a different 

 

       10       discussion and that's what I used as the basis of my email 

 

       11       that you reference here. 

 

       12 149.          Q.  And by the plan, you mean on which days the 

 

       13       employee -- 

 

       14               A.  That's right. 

 

       15 150.          Q.  -- would receive their offers? 

 

       16               A.  What you see here, the schedule and sites. 

 

       17 151.          Q.  Do you remember when your discussion with 

 

       18       Rebecca Graham on this topic would have occurred? 

 

       19               A.  No, I don't.  I was discussing with her 

 

       20       regularly at that time, so hard to point a particular date. 

 

       21 152.          Q.  How far in advance of sending this email did 

 

       22       you know on which day the employees could expect their 

 

       23       offers from Ford? 

 

       24               A.  I can't remember exactly how far in advance I 

 

       25       knew. 
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        1 153.          Q.  Would it have been before you received your 

 

        2       offer? 

 

        3               A.  At the time I received my offer, there was in 

 

        4       principle a month announced as of January that employees 

 

        5       would receive offers, the Silver team employees would 

 

        6       receive offers.  But nothing concrete and no schedule was 

 

        7       announced. 

 

        8 154.          Q.  Did anyone at Blackberry ask you to send out 

 

        9       this January 16th email? 

 

       10               MR. STERNBERG:  Don't answer the question.  I just 

 

       11       think you're in an area that has absolutely no relevance to 

 

       12       the issues on certification motion and you're so far in the 

 

       13       weeds in doing a discovery right now, so it's a refusal.       *R* 

 

       14               BY MS. DION: 

 

       15 155.          Q.  If we turn to paragraph 33 of Rebecca Graham's 

 

       16       affidavit, so again it's that first affidavit in that large 

 

       17       set of documents. 

 

       18               A.  Yes. 

 

       19 156.          Q.  And so according to this paragraph 33 -- 

 

       20               A.  What page? 

 

       21 157.          Q.  Sorry, pages 12 and 13 at the top right.  It's 

 

       22       right at the bottom there. 

 

       23               A.  Give me a chance to read 32 as well.  Yes. 

 

       24 158.          Q.  So according to this paragraph, Ms. Graham 

 

       25       states that managers who received offers from Ford were 
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        1       taken to dinner.  Blackberry managers, sorry.  Were you 

 

        2       present at this dinner? 

 

        3               A.  I was. 

 

        4 159.          Q.  Was anyone else from Blackberry other than the 

 

        5       managers who received offers from Ford present at this 

 

        6       dinner? 

 

        7               A.  No. 

 

        8 160.          Q.  I'd like to now turn to Exhibit "FF" of Rebecca 

 

        9       Graham's affidavit.  So we see at the top there, there is 

 

       10       an email from a Heather Patterson and you were cc'd on it. 

 

       11       In this email she states that she will give her package to 

 

       12       you to pass along to you, Ms. Andree or -- 

 

       13               A.  To Lisa Andree. 

 

       14 161.          Q.  -- her team? 

 

       15               A.  Or her team. 

 

       16 162.          Q.  Was Heather one of the employees that you 

 

       17       managed? 

 

       18               A.  Not directly, no. 

 

       19 163.          Q.  Is there a reason why she would be providing 

 

       20       you with her package then? 

 

       21               A.  The Ford human resources representatives that 

 

       22       were on site to discuss offers and to collect those that 

 

       23       decided to accept had already left and therefore there was 

 

       24       no other way for people who couldn't or didn't decide by 

 

       25       that time to hand in their letters, so they sent them to me 
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        1       and I would aggregate them and send them over through 

 

        2       courier to Ford. 

 

        3               MS. DION:  I'd like a five-minute break if 

 

        4       possible. 

 

        5               MR. STERNBERG:  Okay. 

 

        6                             (SHORT RECESS) 

 

        7               BY MS. DION: 

 

        8 164.          Q.  So I am going to go Michael Dawson's affidavit. 

 

        9       It's tab 2, paragraph 7. 

 

       10               A.  Okay. 

 

       11 165.          Q.  So the last sentence of that paragraph, I'll 

 

       12       let you read it. 

 

       13               A.  Yes. 

 

       14 166.          Q.  I just wanted to confirm that you did in fact 

 

       15       lead an internal meeting with Ralph Pini on December 6, 

 

       16       2016, to onboard employees who would be moving to the 

 

       17       Silver program? 

 

       18               A.  Yes. 

 

       19 167.          Q.  Do you recall how many employees were present 

 

       20       at that meeting? 

 

       21               A.  I don't.  There were some local and other ones, 

 

       22       some on a teleconference bridge. 

 

       23 168.          Q.  Of the ones in Ottawa, do you remember if there 

 

       24       was maybe less than 10, more than 10? 

 

       25               A.  More than 10. 

  

4171084



 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                              30 

 

 

        1 169.          Q.  More than 20, less than 20?  A rough estimate 

 

        2       or a more or less than would be great. 

 

        3               A.  Likely more than 20.  Probably less than 50. 

 

        4 170.          Q.  Thank you.  I am going to pass to you guys a 

 

        5       copy of what I was told was Exhibit 1 to Michael Dawson's 

 

        6       cross-examination.  So there's a copy for each of you 

 

        7       there.  So we see here that first email, Aziz Makkiya sent 

 

        8       an email to Mr. Dawson -- 

 

        9               MR. STERNBERG:  Just one moment.  I think he's 

 

       10       still reading it, but I believe he's seen this document 

 

       11       before. 

 

       12               THE WITNESS:  Yes, I remember. 

 

       13               BY MS. DION: 

 

       14 171.          Q.  In that second main paragraph of Aziz's email 

 

       15       it stated, "Zoltan has mentioned that you might be 

 

       16       available to work on some of our projects in the connected 

 

       17       vehicle space."  Is that true? 

 

       18               A.  Yes. 

 

       19 172.          Q.  Do you recall when you mentioned that to Aziz? 

 

       20               A.  No, not the exact date, no. 

 

       21 173.          Q.  Do you recall whether it was after you had 

 

       22       received your employment from Ford on December 8th? 

 

       23               A.  I don't recall, no. 

 

       24 174.          Q.  So that's it with that document. 

 

       25               A.  Yes. 
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        1 175.          Q.  So We are going to turn to Rebecca Graham's 

 

        2       affidavit. 

 

        3               MS. DION:  You could keep it. 

 

        4               MR. STERNBERG:  I guess you don't need to mark it 

 

        5       again as you've referred to it as the way it was already -- 

 

        6               MS. DION:  Exhibit 1, yes. 

 

        7               MR. STERNBERG:  -- in Mr. Dawson's evidence.  No, 

 

        8       that's fine, yes. 

 

        9               THE WITNESS:  Okay. 

 

       10               MS. DION:  Sorry. 

 

       11               BY MS. DION: 

 

       12 176.          Q.  Okay, Rebecca Graham's affidavit, paragraph 

 

       13       4(a).  That's on page 4 at the top right after tab 1.  Here 

 

       14       we go. 

 

       15               A.  Yeah. 

 

       16 177.          Q.  So if you just want to read that. 

 

       17               A.  Yes. 

 

       18 178.          Q.  So you were a leader of Project Silver at 

 

       19       Blackberry, correct? 

 

       20               A.  Yes. 

 

       21 179.          Q.  Were you the only leader? 

 

       22               A.  I was the top leader. 

 

       23 180.          Q.  The top leader.  Who else was a leader of 

 

       24       Project Silver at Blackberry? 

 

       25               A.  A few other individuals that were leading 
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        1       specific projects that we were working on as part of 

 

        2       Project Silver.  So there were some projects as part of 

 

        3       Project Silver. 

 

        4 181.          Q.  So you were overseeing all of these 

 

        5       sub-projects? 

 

        6               A.  That's right. 

 

        7 182.          Q.  Just so I have an understanding, how many 

 

        8       sub-projects were there? 

 

        9               A.  Four. 

 

       10 183.          Q.  What were these sub-projects? 

 

       11               A.  You'd like the name of the projects or? 

 

       12 184.          Q.  However you referred to them, yes, if they have 

 

       13       a name or just, I guess, maybe one worked with the cars -- 

 

       14       I don't know, I don't... 

 

       15               A.  Okay.  Yeah, sure.  I can explain.  So we had a 

 

       16       Sync project, S-Y-N-C.  We had a TCU project. 

 

       17 185.          Q.  What did DCU stand for? 

 

       18               A.  TCU.  Telematics control unit.  We had an ECG 

 

       19       project which stands for enhanced central gateway.  And we 

 

       20       had an analytics project, data analytics project. 

 

       21 186.          Q.  And I would assume that each one of these 

 

       22       sub-projects had a leader? 

 

       23               A.  That's right. 

 

       24 187.          Q.  And what was the leader of the Sync project or 

 

       25       who, sorry? 
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        1               A.  An individual by the name of Vilok, V-I-L-O-K, 

 

        2       Kusumakar, K-U-S-U-M-A-K-A-R. 

 

        3 188.          Q.  And the leader of TCU? 

 

        4               A.  An individual by the name of Khaled Islam. 

 

        5       K-H-A-L-E-D I-S-L-A-M. 

 

        6 189.          Q.  The leader of ECG? 

 

        7               A.  Cristian Lambiri.  C-R-I-S-T-I-A-N 

 

        8       L-A-M-B-I-R-I. 

 

        9 190.          Q.  And data analytics? 

 

       10               A.  Daryl Martin which you know.  Whom you know. 

 

       11 191.          Q.  So in that paragraph 4(a) that you read, 

 

       12       Rebecca Graham mentions the agreement between Blackberry 

 

       13       and Ford by which Blackberry agreed to provide engineering 

 

       14       services to Ford and in that same paragraph she refers to 

 

       15       this agreement as Project Silver? 

 

       16               A.  Yes. 

 

       17 192.          Q.  Which we now learned had you as a top leader 

 

       18       and some four sub-projects? 

 

       19               A.  Yes. 

 

       20 193.          Q.  When did you first learn about this agreement? 

 

       21               A.  When did I learn that the agreement was struck 

 

       22       or that we started discussing it with Ford or -- what do 

 

       23       you refer by that? 

 

       24 194.          Q.  Good question.  How about when the agreement 

 

       25       was finalized? 
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        1               A.  I don't remember the exact date, but it must 

 

        2       have been, I believe, the second half of October, so 

 

        3       sometime in the October 20th or probably slightly before 

 

        4       that time frame. 

 

        5 195.          Q.  So about mid-October? 

 

        6               A.  Yes. 

 

        7 196.          Q.  When did the discussions begin? 

 

        8               MR. STERNBERG:  Don't answer the question.  It's 

 

        9       irrelevant on the issues on the certification motion.          *O* 

 

       10               MS. DION:  Okay.  Well, so I do have quite a few 

 

       11       questions I wanted to ask about this agreement.  I will 

 

       12       continue to ask.  You have our position that we think it 

 

       13       was part of a larger orchestrated scheme, so we do think 

 

       14       they're relevant and we can deal with them on a motion 

 

       15       later on, but I will state them for the record. 

 

       16               MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  You know our position, the 

 

       17       various, you know, the discussions, Ford and the particular 

 

       18       details of terms of the agreements, our position is, are 

 

       19       irrelevant to the issues on the certification motion and 

 

       20       that's the basis for the refusal.  In the interest of time, 

 

       21       please don't feel the need to put all the questions on the 

 

       22       record if -- I think we know -- 

 

       23               MS. DION:  I'll put different questions on the 

 

       24       record. 

 

       25               MR. STERNBERG:  We know what our positions are 
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        1       and... 

 

        2               MS. DION:  No, that's fair.  I'll try to avoid the 

 

        3       questions that you have already objected to, to save on 

 

        4       time and then we can deal with those later on. 

 

        5               BY MS. DION: 

 

        6 197.          Q.  So I know you objected to finding out when the 

 

        7       discussions started.  Maybe you could answer who initially 

 

        8       told you about this agreement about Ford wanting to get 

 

        9       engineering services from Blackberry? 

 

       10               MR. STERNBERG:  Same objection.                        *O* 

 

       11               MS. DION:  Same objection. 

 

       12               MR. STERNBERG:  Irrelevant. 

 

       13               BY MS. DION: 

 

       14 198.          Q.  Were you involved in the negotiation of this 

 

       15       agreement? 

 

       16               MR. STERNBERG:  Same refusal.  Same basis.             *R* 

 

       17               MS. DION:  I just want to state for the record that 

 

       18       the last time I asked this question, you did not have an 

 

       19       objection, so we -- 

 

       20               MR. STERNBERG:  I don't recall that and so I don't 

 

       21       know what you're referring to.  If you are right on that, 

 

       22       then that was inadvertent because our position is -- 

 

       23               MS. DION:  That it's not relevant. 

 

       24               MR. STERNBERG:  Those negotiations and who was 

 

       25       involved in those negotiations that you're asking about 
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        1       right now are irrelevant to the issues on the certification 

 

        2       motion and I want it to be clear that that's our position. 

 

        3               MS. DION:  Okay, I will move on. 

 

        4               BY MS. DION: 

 

        5 199.          Q.  When were you first informed that Ford planned 

 

        6       on making employment offers to Blackberry employees? 

 

        7               MR. STERNBERG:  Can you just clarify which 

 

        8       Blackberry?  Are you talking about him and people or -- 

 

        9               MS. DION:  My apologies. 

 

       10               MR. STERNBERG:  Which employees are you asking 

 

       11       about? 

 

       12               MS. DION:  All the ones that received their offers 

 

       13       in January, so not management. 

 

       14               MR. STERNBERG:  Well, managers received them in 

 

       15       January, so -- 

 

       16               MS. DION:  Okay. 

 

       17               MR. STERNBERG:  Do it by time period, that's fine, 

 

       18       but I think the evidence is managers or his managers got 

 

       19       them in January, too, but anyway if you just phrase your 

 

       20       question by time period, we don't have a difficulty. 

 

       21               MS. DION:  Sure. 

 

       22               BY MS. DION: 

 

       23 200.          Q.  When were you first informed that Ford planned 

 

       24       on making employment offers to the non-managerial employees 

 

       25       who received them in January 2017? 
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        1               A.  I don't recall the exact date, I'm sorry. 

 

        2 201.          Q.  Do you recall whether it was before you 

 

        3       received your employment on December 8? 

 

        4               A.  Probably, yes, from what I remember.  But I 

 

        5       don't recall the exact date. 

 

        6 202.          Q.  Do you recall whether it was after the 

 

        7       agreement was finalized between -- the agreement between 

 

        8       Ford and Blackberry that you said was finalized in about 

 

        9       mid-October -- which I assume was 2016?  I didn't ask. 

 

       10               A.  Correct. 

 

       11 203.          Q.  All right.  Do you remember if it was after 

 

       12       that date? 

 

       13               A.  Yes. 

 

       14 204.          Q.  So I'm going to ask the same question, but with 

 

       15       respect to the managers who received employment offers from 

 

       16       Ford in December, so that's including yourself.  I guess 

 

       17       you were VP, so we'll go managers.  When were you first 

 

       18       informed that they would be receiving employment offers 

 

       19       from Ford? 

 

       20               MR. STERNBERG:  What's the relevance of this? 

 

       21       Anyway, I'll just refuse it, but -- unless you want to tell 

 

       22       me what the relevance is for the certification motion of 

 

       23       when he was knew, when he was first informed that other 

 

       24       people were going to get offers in December.                   *R* 

 

       25               MS. DION:  It goes to the same -- 
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        1               MR. STERNBERG:  Does it go to anything? 

 

        2               MS. DION:  Yes, the orchestrated -- we believe that 

 

        3       managers and employees were treated differently and that's 

 

        4       why we're trying to establish, you know, knowledge of who 

 

        5       higher up in the scheme decided when the managers would 

 

        6       receive their offers, when they knew about it, and then 

 

        7       below them with the employees to understand the whole 

 

        8       scheme of how these offers were made.  It goes to the 

 

        9       whole -- 

 

       10               MR. STERNBERG:  But just so I'm clear, are you now 

 

       11       proposing to exclude from the proposed class any managers? 

 

       12       Drawing a distinction between managers? 

 

       13               MS. DION:  In the revised affidavit for David 

 

       14       Parker we did limit it to January and according to the 

 

       15       affidavits that you guys presented, there seem to have been 

 

       16       manager offers in December and employee offers in January. 

 

       17               MR. STERNBERG:  But part of the intention of the 

 

       18       change in those class is to exclude any managers who 

 

       19       received offers? 

 

       20               MS. DION:  Yes. 

 

       21               MR. STERNBERG:  Thanks for that clarification.  I 

 

       22       don't agree that particular time in question you just asked 

 

       23       is necessarily relevant, but I won't stop him from 

 

       24       answering that one.  So the timing question you were just 

 

       25       asked, why don't you repeat it? 
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        1               MS. DION:  Of course. 

 

        2               MR. STERNBERG:  I'll allow him to answer that, but 

 

        3       I don't -- I maintain -- I don't agree with your 

 

        4       characterization of the relevance that you gave. 

 

        5               MS. DION:  Of course. 

 

        6               BY MS. DION: 

 

        7 205.          Q.  So I'll repeat the question, excluding 

 

        8       yourself, so just with respect to the managers. 

 

        9               MR. STERNBERG:  In December, you're asking about. 

 

       10               BY MS. DION: 

 

       11 206.          Q.  Who received employment offers in December 2016 

 

       12       from Ford, when were you first informed that these 

 

       13       individuals would be receiving employment offers from Ford? 

 

       14               A.  I don't remember the exact date, but based on 

 

       15       what I recall, likely in the month prior to the December 

 

       16       9th offer letter. 

 

       17 207.          Q.  So November? 

 

       18               A.  Sometime in November, yes. 

 

       19 208.          Q.  Do you remember who would have informed you 

 

       20       about which managers would be getting offers in December 

 

       21       2016? 

 

       22               A.  Yes. 

 

       23 209.          Q.  Who was that? 

 

       24               A.  Charles Gray. 

 

       25 210.          Q.  Was he the same person who would have informed 
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        1       you that employees in January 2017 would be getting offers 

 

        2       from Ford? 

 

        3               MR. STERNBERG:  I still maintain it's not relevant, 

 

        4       but if you know the answer, you can answer that question. 

 

        5               THE WITNESS:  Yes. 

 

        6               BY MS. DION: 

 

        7 211.          Q.  So it was Charles Gray? 

 

        8               A.  Yes. 

 

        9 212.          Q.  Were you informed in writing by Charles Gray? 

 

       10               A.  No. 

 

       11 213.          Q.  Prior to receiving your December 8 employment 

 

       12       offer, did you discuss any terms and conditions of 

 

       13       employment with Ford? 

 

       14               A.  No. 

 

       15               MS. DION:  I'll just take two minutes to review my 

 

       16       notes. 

 

       17               MR. STERNBERG:  Sure. 

 

       18                            (SHORT RECESS) 

 

       19               BY MS. DION: 

 

       20 214.          Q.  Prior to the Ford offers going out to the 

 

       21       employees who received them in January 2017, did you have 

 

       22       any discussions with anyone at Blackberry about how to 

 

       23       respond to employee concerns or questions that they would 

 

       24       have about the upcoming Ford offers and/or their employment 

 

       25       at Blackberry? 
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        1               A.  Not that I can recall, no. 

 

        2 215.          Q.  Do you recall having discussions with anyone at 

 

        3       Ford about those potential questions or concerns? 

 

        4               A.  If I remember, I probably had -- I think I had 

 

        5       a discussion with Chuck Manastra, an informal discussion 

 

        6       about the state of business in the Mobility Solutions group 

 

        7       where I worked and -- and I answered his question. 

 

        8 216.          Q.  So he was wondering about the state of business 

 

        9       in your group? 

 

       10               A.  No.  From what I remember, he asked -- he asked 

 

       11       me about what is the procedure or what's the outlook for 

 

       12       those that turned down the Ford offer. 

 

       13 217.          Q.  So Ford was wondering what the procedure was at 

 

       14       Blackberry if Blackberry employees turned down the Ford 

 

       15       offer? 

 

       16               A.  Yes. 

 

       17 218.          Q.  Did he tell you why that mattered to him? 

 

       18               A.  No. 

 

       19 219.          Q.  What did you respond to him? 

 

       20               A.  That they will be kept in the Mobility 

 

       21       Solutions unit, given that there was a need for continued 

 

       22       project resources and/or assigned to other business units 

 

       23       within Blackberry that needed skills. 

 

       24 220.          Q.  Was that the only question that you recall 

 

       25       Chuck asking you, was what the procedure was at Blackberry? 
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        1               A.  Yeah. 

 

        2 221.          Q.  So, Subject to any questions arising out of any 

 

        3       answers to undertakings or documents provided by way of 

 

        4       undertaking, I have no further questions for you. 

 

        5               MR. STERNBERG:  Just give me a couple of moments. 

 

        6       I'll see if I have any questions for you. 

 

        7                             (SHORT RECESS) 

 

        8               RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STERNBERG: 

 

        9 222.          Q.  Just a few questions for you, Mr. Racz.  You 

 

       10       were asked some questions by Ms. Dion about paragraph 18 of 

 

       11       your affidavit? 

 

       12               A.  Yes. 

 

       13 223.          Q.  In response to one of her questions, you 

 

       14       indicated that a concern raised by some employees was about 

 

       15       their standing in respect of employment insurance if they 

 

       16       went to Ford and then were laid off by Ford and you said a 

 

       17       worst-case scenario.  Do you recall that question exchange? 

 

       18               A.  I do.  I do. 

 

       19 224.          Q.  Can you help us with how many employees you 

 

       20       recall raising that particular type of concern with you or 

 

       21       asking you that question? 

 

       22               A.  From what I remember, a couple.  So I believe 

 

       23       one or two. 

 

       24 225.          Q.  And then also in that same series of questions 

 

       25       you further indicated that one or two employees raised a 
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        1       concern with you about the tone of the email requesting the 

 

        2       resignation letter or the need for the document and can you 

 

        3       please just clarify, what do you mean by, when you say the 

 

        4       "need" for the document?  What do you recall those one or 

 

        5       two employees specifically saying to you about that or 

 

        6       questioning about that? 

 

        7               A.  There were two things from what I remember. 

 

        8       One was the fact that I believe one or two of these 

 

        9       employees did not expect to have to write a resignation 

 

       10       letter and the other one was that one of the annexes to the 

 

       11       resignation letter was a document that employees were asked 

 

       12       to sign to reinforce confidentiality and the proprietary 

 

       13       nature of the knowledge they have accumulated at Blackberry 

 

       14       in their employment and the wording in that particular 

 

       15       document was not received well. 

 

       16 226.          Q.  For the one or two that indicated to you that 

 

       17       they didn't expect to have to provide a resignation letter, 

 

       18       did they tell you why they weren't expecting to have to 

 

       19       provide a resignation letter? 

 

       20               A.  No. 

 

       21 227.          Q.  Did they say anything else to you about why 

 

       22       they were questioning the need for the document? 

 

       23               A.  No. 

 

       24 228.          Q.  Did you give them a response when they 

 

       25       questioned, those one or two, about why there was a need 
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        1       for the document?  What did you say to them? 

 

        2               A.  I responded that from what I knew, this was 

 

        3       standard procedure in human resources and it had to do with 

 

        4       the termination of the -- commencing termination actions of 

 

        5       their employment and benefits and that's it. 

 

        6 229.          Q.  If you can help us, what do you mean by 

 

        7       termination of benefits and so on?  What are you referring 

 

        8       to?  You said it would trigger or it relates to the 

 

        9       termination of benefits.  Can you explain what you mean by 

 

       10       that? 

 

       11               A.  It had to do with the fact that if an employee 

 

       12       would notify Blackberry that they no longer work -- they 

 

       13       will no longer work on March 1st, then steps would be taken 

 

       14       prior to that to ensure that all of the company credentials 

 

       15       will be managed accordingly versus someone not showing up 

 

       16       for work on March 1st, in which case it would trigger a 

 

       17       different set of actions after the fact. 

 

       18 230.          Q.  Ms. Dion was asking you about sub-projects 

 

       19       within Project Silver.  You referred to the four 

 

       20       sub-projects? 

 

       21               A.  Yeah. 

 

       22 231.          Q.  Sync, TCU, ECG and the analytics project? 

 

       23               A.  Yes. 

 

       24 232.          Q.  She asked you about the leaders of those.  My 

 

       25       follow-up question is, were there different employees 
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        1       within Project Silver that worked on those various 

 

        2       different sub-projects? 

 

        3               A.  Rephrase the question?  I don't understand it. 

 

        4 233.          Q.  So there were four sub-projects.  Was it 

 

        5       different sort of employees that were assigned to the 

 

        6       different sub-projects? 

 

        7               A.  Correct. 

 

        8 234.          Q.  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

 

        9 

 

       10               --THE CROSS-EXAMINATION ADJOURNED AT THE HOUR OF 

 

       11               7:49 IN THE AFTERNOON. 

 

       12 

 

       13               WE HEREBY CERTIFY THAT the foregoing was 

 

       14               transcribed to the best of our skill and ability. 

 

       15 

 

       16               ............................................ 

 

       17                              G R S / R. Eliot, A.C.T. 

 

       18 

 

       19 

 

       20 

 

       21 

 

       22 

 

       23 

 

       24 

 

       25 
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  COLIN HO, AFFIRMED: 1 

  CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DION: 2 

1.  Q.  So good afternoon, Mr. Ho.  If you could 3 

please state your full name for the record. 4 

  A.  Colin Ho. 5 

2.  Q.  You have been sworn in today? 6 

  A.  Yes. 7 

3.  Q.  Now you signed your affidavit on October 3, 8 

2017.  Is that correct? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

4.  Q.  It should be the last page if you want to 11 

confirm and at that time you understood that you were 12 

swearing that everything in that document was to your 13 

knowledge true? 14 

  A.  Yes. 15 

5.  Q.  Did you review your affidavit in preparation 16 

for today? 17 

  A.  I did. 18 

6.  Q.  Is the information contained in your affidavit 19 

still true? 20 

  A.  Yes. 21 

7.  Q.  What other material did you review prior to 22 

signing your affidavit in order to complete your 23 

affidavit? 24 

  A.  I did not have any material, just my memory. 25 
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8.  Q.  Okay.  Now when you worked for BlackBerry 1 

prior to going over to Ford who did you report to? 2 

  A.  I reported to Vilok Kusumaker.  I have trouble 3 

spelling it sometimes.  Sorry. 4 

9.  Q.  You were Senior Manager, Input Systems.  5 

Correct? 6 

  A.  Yes. 7 

10.  Q.  So you were part of the management team at 8 

BlackBerry? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

11.  Q.  I am going to refer to paragraph 2 of your 11 

affidavit.  So in this paragraph you state that you “had a 12 

team of roughly 20-25 software developers and testers in 13 

Ottawa and Waterloo” that reported to you.  Could you 14 

confirm the exact number of employees that reported to you 15 

in Ottawa? 16 

  A.  I don’t think I can recall the exact number. 17 

12.  Q.  Then a rough estimate? 18 

  A.  I believe it was around 15. 19 

13.  Q.  And in Waterloo? 20 

  A.  Six or seven. 21 

14.  Q.  But certainly more in Ottawa? 22 

  A.  Yes. 23 

15.  Q.  Did all of the 15 or so employees that 24 

reported to you in Ottawa receive offers from Ford? 25 
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  A.  I don’t recall.  Most of them did. 1 

16.  Q.  But there could have been some that didn’t? 2 

  A.  I’m trying to remember if in Ottawa whether or 3 

not all of them did.  Yeah, most of them did. 4 

17.  Q.  What about in Waterloo? 5 

  A.  One person I know did not receive an offer. 6 

18.  Q.  The other ones did? 7 

  A.  As I recall, yes. 8 

19.  Q.  Of the Ottawa employees that received offers 9 

from Ford, do you know if they all accepted the offer? 10 

  A.  Sorry, can you ask that again? 11 

20.  Q.  Of all the Ottawa employees that would have 12 

received an offer from Ford, do you know if they all 13 

accepted the offer? 14 

  A.  Of the employees that reported to me? 15 

21.  Q.  Ottawa, yes. 16 

  A.  To the best of my recollection they did. 17 

22.  Q.  What about the Waterloo employees that 18 

reported to you that received offers? 19 

  A.  To the best of my recollection they did.  20 

Again, those were the ones reporting to me. 21 

23.  Q.  Of course. 22 

  A.  Yeah. 23 

24.  Q.  Now I’m going to take you to paragraph 4 of 24 

your affidavit.  So you received your offer from Ford on 25 
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or about December 8, 2016; correct? 1 

  A.  Yes. 2 

25.  Q.  Was this offer provided to you in person? 3 

  A.  It was. 4 

26.  Q.  You did end up accepting employment with Ford? 5 

  A.  I did. 6 

27.  Q.  On which day did you confirm with Ford that 7 

you accepted your employment offer? 8 

  A.  I don’t recall the exact date but it was about 9 

a week after. 10 

28.  Q.  So certainly before the holidays? 11 

  A.  Yes. 12 

29.  Q.  Did you confirm your acceptance in writing? 13 

  A.  Yes. 14 

30.  Q.  Would it have been by email? 15 

  A.  I believe I signed a document, a letter, and 16 

sent an electronic copy by email but also sent a hard copy 17 

or returned a hard copy. 18 

31.  Q.  By regular mail? 19 

  A.  If I recall correctly, yes. 20 

  MS. DION:  Could we get an undertaking for a copy 21 

of that email and any chain of emails of which would have 22 

formed part when he was accepting the employment offer 23 

with Ford? 24 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Before I give you a position do 25 
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you want to ask the witness whether he believes he was 1 

using a personal email address or a BlackBerry email 2 

address?  Why don’t you ask him that because it may affect 3 

whether there is any ability for us to even look. 4 

  MS. DION:  Of course. 5 

32.  Q.  Were you using a personal email account or a 6 

BlackBerry email account? 7 

  A.  To my recollection it was my personal email 8 

account. 9 

33.  Q.  Could I ask, Mr. Ho, then you to look for 10 

this? 11 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Well, it’s obviously fair for you 12 

to ask him given it was his personal email address.  So 13 

counsel here in respect of his affidavit will take the 14 

request under advisement and I will speak to Mr. Ho and we 15 

will let you know whether he is able to and prepared to do 16 

that.  *A* 17 

  MS. DION:   18 

34.  Q.  Did you advise BlackBerry’s Human Resources 19 

department that you had accepted employment with Ford? 20 

  A.  Can you clarify at what point, like at what 21 

time you are referring to? 22 

35.  Q.  That was going to be my next question. 23 

  A.  Okay. 24 

36.  Q.  I guess after receiving the Ford employment 25 
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offer on or about December 8, 2016 and then prior to 1 

commencing work with Ford I believe on March 1
st
, did you 2 

advise BlackBerry’s HR department that you had accepted 3 

employment with Ford? 4 

  A.  Sorry, I know I just asked you to clarify 5 

that.  Can you clarify it again?  So between… 6 

37.  Q.  After receiving the offer on December 8
th
. 7 

  A.  Yes. 8 

38.  Q.  And then prior to starting with Ford which I 9 

believe you started at the beginning of March? 10 

  A.  Yes. 11 

39.  Q.  Did you advise BlackBerry’s HR department that 12 

you had accepted employment with Ford?  So it was about a 13 

three-month span. 14 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Three weeks.  Oh, no, three 15 

months.  Sorry.  My apologies.  I was trying to assist and 16 

I did the opposite.  Sorry. 17 

  THE WITNESS:  I do not recall whether or not I 18 

notified them specifically that I had accepted employment 19 

at Ford in writing. 20 

  MS. DION:   21 

40.  Q.  Would you have done so in person or over the 22 

phone? 23 

  A.  Sorry, I’m going to ask to clarify.  At the 24 

time, I was reporting to somebody.  My manager was still 25 
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at BlackBerry and so verbally I advised my manager, Vilok, 1 

that I had accepted the offer. 2 

41.  Q.  Was Vilok the only person I guess above you in 3 

BlackBerry’s organizational structure, including HR, that 4 

you advised that you had accepted employment with Ford? 5 

  A.  It also came up in conversation with Zoltan 6 

and, just to clarify, I do not recall discussing it 7 

specifically with HR. 8 

42.  Q.  When you told Vilok verbally do you remember 9 

when that was? 10 

  A.  The exact date, no.  It would have been 11 

shortly after I accepted so it would have been around 12 

mid-December. 13 

43.  Q.  When it came up for the first time in a 14 

conversation with Zoltan do you remember roughly when that 15 

conversation took place? 16 

  A.  It would have been very informal and it would 17 

have been around the same time. 18 

44.  Q.  Around mid-December then? 19 

  A.  Yes. 20 

45.  Q.  Did you advise your team, the roughly 20 to 25 21 

employees in Ottawa and Waterloo, that you had accepted 22 

employment with Ford? 23 

  A.  At that time in December?  No. 24 

46.  Q.  How about prior to beginning work with Ford? 25 
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  A.  Yes. 1 

47.  Q.  Do you remember when and I understand that it 2 

might have been on different days for different employees 3 

but if you can recall the first day you advised at least 4 

one of your employees and whether you advised them all at 5 

once or in a group setting? 6 

  A.  It would have been after they received their 7 

offers. 8 

48.  Q.  For all of them? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

49.  Q.  Did you end up advising all of the employees 11 

that reported to you at some point that you had accepted 12 

employment with Ford prior to you starting working with 13 

Ford? 14 

  A.  Yes. 15 

50.  Q.  Did you do this in person? 16 

  A.  To my recollection I shared the information at 17 

a team meeting.  So some of them would have been in person 18 

in the room.  Others would have been on the phone since 19 

some were in Waterloo. 20 

51.  Q.  Do you recall all of the employees being 21 

present for that team meeting either by telephone or in 22 

person? 23 

  A.  I don’t recall if they were all present. 24 

52.  Q.  Do you recall whether a majority of employees 25 
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were present? 1 

  A.  I can’t recall that either. 2 

53.  Q.  Did you communicate anything regarding your 3 

acceptance of the Ford offer to the employees that 4 

reported to you in writing? 5 

  A.  No. 6 

54.  Q.  Would you have any speaking notes about this 7 

team meeting or notes that you took at the team meeting? 8 

  A.  On my person now? 9 

55.  Q.  No, just generally.  Did you take notes during 10 

the meeting or did you prepare notes in advance of the 11 

meeting? 12 

  A.  Typically not.  Not for these types of team 13 

meetings. 14 

56.  Q.  And not for this one? 15 

  A.  I don’t recall.  I don’t believe so. 16 

57.  Q.  Would you have sent out an email invitation to 17 

invite your team to attend? 18 

  A.  I had – these were recurring team meetings so 19 

every couple of weeks we would meet so it wasn’t a special 20 

meeting. 21 

58.  Q.  Is there a way to know who accepted – I don’t 22 

know if you send out recurring invitations to this meeting 23 

or if everyone just -- 24 

  A.  It is done with, yeah, like a recurring 25 
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Outlook meeting invitation. 1 

59.  Q.  So you can accept it or reject it or say 2 

you’re tentative for example? 3 

  A.  Yes. 4 

60.  Q.  Would it be possible to know which of the 5 

employees attended through acceptance or rejections of the 6 

invitation? 7 

  A.  I don’t think it would be possible to know 8 

definitively.  With the recurring meetings, people would 9 

often accept the whole series and just not show up to 10 

specific meetings and I never tracked attendance that 11 

closely. 12 

61.  Q.  Okay.  So I’d like to turn to paragraph 7 of 13 

your affidavit, please.  So prior to accepting employment 14 

with Ford you discussed some of the terms of the offer 15 

with them; correct? 16 

  A.  I did. 17 

62.  Q.  You also made a counter-offer to Ford? 18 

  A.  I did. 19 

63.  Q.  So we see an example of that counter-offer in 20 

Exhibit “F” of Rebecca Graham’s affidavit.  So her 21 

affidavit is the first one in the whole set of documents, 22 

right at the beginning. 23 

  A.  Okay. 24 

64.  Q.  Yes, so the first tab “F”. 25 
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  A.  Okay. 1 

65.  Q.  Do you remember sending this email? 2 

  A.  Yes. 3 

66.  Q.  Do you know if you ever received a response in 4 

writing to that email? 5 

  A.  In writing, I don’t recall. 6 

  MS. DION:  Could I please get an undertaking for 7 

you to verify whether Mr. Ho received a response to this 8 

email? 9 

  MR. STERNBERG:  I’ll take that under advisement. *A*   10 

  MS. DION:  And then to add on that, if there is an 11 

email chain where Mr. Ho and Ford are discussing the terms 12 

of the offer, the emails that form part of that chain as 13 

well, please. 14 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Same position.  Under advisement. *A* 15 

  MS. DION:  Now as part of this email we see that 16 

there was an attachment called “Ford offer analysis”.  I’d 17 

like to request an undertaking for a copy of that 18 

attachment, please. 19 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Assist me with how you say it’s 20 

relevant to issues on the certification motion. 21 

  MS. DION:  We think that all of the managers 22 

having been provided with offers in December goes to the 23 

cross-definition first of all and then that the managers 24 

in our opinion were involved with the overall transaction 25 
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that happened behind the scenes as set out in the 1 

Statement of Claim and referenced in the notice of motion. 2 

  MR. STERNBERG:  I’m not sure I’m following how 3 

that would make the offer analysis attachment but in any 4 

event rather than taking more time now I’ve got the 5 

request and I’ll take it under advisement. *A* 6 

  MS. DION:  Just to add on to that this was a 7 

document provided through Mr. Ho’s affidavit so we want a 8 

complete set of this document which includes that 9 

attachment. 10 

  MR. LAX:  Just to be clear, it wasn’t provided 11 

through Mr. Ho’s affidavit. 12 

  MS. DION:  Oh, sorry.  It was provided through 13 

your evidence, Rebecca Graham’s, yes. 14 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement. *A* 15 

  MS. DION:   16 

67.  Q.  The employment offer that you eventually 17 

accepted with Ford, was that on different terms than the 18 

original offer that was sent to you December 8
th
? 19 

  A.  Can you clarify?  I don’t understand.  What do 20 

you mean by different terms? 21 

68.  Q.  Of course.  You received an offer on 22 

December 8
th
 for employment with Ford and then we see that 23 

you tried to negotiate changes or different terms to your 24 

employment contract or the offer with Ford. 25 
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  A.  Yes. 1 

69.  Q.  Then eventually you signed on with Ford. 2 

  A.  Yes. 3 

70.  Q.  So I’m wondering if the offer you got on 4 

December 8
th
 and the eventual offer that you are now bound 5 

by are the same. 6 

  A.  No. 7 

71.  Q.  So you were successful in negotiating 8 

different terms in that offer with Ford? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

  MS. DION:  So by way of undertaking I would like 11 

to request a copy of the original offer made to Mr. Ho on 12 

December 8
th
 and a copy of the employment contract he 13 

eventually accepted with Ford. 14 

  MR. STERNBERG:  I’ll take that under advisement. *A* 15 

  MS. DION:   16 

72.  Q.  We’re going to turn back to your affidavit, 17 

paragraph 11, please.  So according to this paragraph you 18 

received a request for a resignation letter from 19 

BlackBerry HR on February 2, 2017.  Correct? 20 

  A.  Yes. 21 

73.  Q.  Now if you could take the second document, the 22 

stack of documents, yes, that one, the larger one of the 23 

two, and go to Exhibit “K”, the first Exhibit “K” there.  24 

Flip the page.  Yes, that page right there, page 88 of 25 
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that set of documents.  Is this the email you’re referring 1 

to in paragraph 11 of your affidavit, sorry, or the 2 

request that you are referring to?  You don’t state an 3 

email. 4 

  A.  Yes. 5 

74.  Q.  If we turn two pages later, page 90 at the top 6 

right, we see a template resignation letter.  Did you also 7 

receive the same template resignation letter on 8 

February 2, 2017? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

75.  Q.  Was this the first time, on February 2, 2017, 11 

that somebody from BlackBerry informed you that you needed 12 

to officially resign from your employment with BlackBerry? 13 

  A.  Explicitly?  Yes. 14 

76.  Q.  Did you end up providing a resignation letter 15 

to BlackBerry? 16 

  A.  Yes. 17 

77.  Q.  Was this done in writing? 18 

  A.  Yes. 19 

78.  Q.  By email? 20 

  A.  No. 21 

79.  Q.  Would you have retained a copy of the 22 

resignation letter?  I guess it doesn’t matter.  23 

BlackBerry would have a copy of it.   24 

  MS. DION:  May I please request by undertaking a 25 
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copy of Mr. Ho’s resignation letter to BlackBerry? 1 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement. *A* 2 

  MS. DION:   3 

80.  Q.  Do you recall on which day you provided 4 

BlackBerry with your resignation letter? 5 

  A.  Not exactly the date but about two weeks prior 6 

to my final day of employment. 7 

81.  Q.  So about mid-February? 8 

  A.  Yes. 9 

82.  Q.  Now I’ll take you back to your affidavit, the 10 

next paragraph, paragraph 12.  So in this paragraph you 11 

state having spoken to “some employees” on your team about 12 

the request for a resignation letter from BlackBerry or a 13 

resignation.  Do you recall how many employees you spoke 14 

to about this? 15 

  A.  Just a small number.  Sorry, just – less than 16 

five. 17 

83.  Q.  Were they from both Ottawa and Waterloo? 18 

  A.  To my recollection just Ottawa. 19 

84.  Q.  Could you provide us with the names of those 20 

individuals that you recall speaking with? 21 

  A.  I don’t recall the specific names. 22 

85.  Q.  Do you recall the names of any one of those 23 

five people? 24 

  A.  No, I don’t.  Sorry. 25 
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86.  Q.  All right.  I’m, going to take you back to 1 

paragraph 6 of your affidavit. 2 

  A.  Yeah. 3 

87.  Q.  So in this paragraph you wrote that as far as 4 

you were aware, “the likelihood of any particular employee 5 

being redeployed if they turned down the Ford offer would 6 

be affected by (their) particular role and skillset” and 7 

“by how many people turned down the…offers”. 8 

  I am going to be flipping back and forth between 9 

this one and paragraph 10.  So we see at paragraph 10 of 10 

your affidavit that you relayed very similar information 11 

to the employees on your team, namely the job function and 12 

how many people turned down the Ford offers would probably 13 

affect their ability to remain with BlackBerry.  So can 14 

you confirm the time period you are referring to when you 15 

wrote, “During the time when people were considering their 16 

offers”?  That’s at paragraph 10. 17 

  A.  This would have been mostly after the date 18 

that they received their offers but there were many 19 

discussions prior to that as well. 20 

88.  Q.  About redeployment options if they turned down 21 

the Ford offer? 22 

  A.  Yes.  There was speculation – since the 23 

employees were aware that the offers were coming in 24 

January, there was discussion in December about – 25 
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speculating what the content of the offer would be and 1 

what would happen if they decided not to take it. 2 

89.  Q.  How many employees would you say spoke to you 3 

about this during we’ll start with the pre-offer period? 4 

  A.  I don’t recall exactly.  Maybe ten or so. 5 

90.  Q.  Both from Ottawa and Waterloo regions? 6 

  A.  Yes. 7 

91.  Q.  Do you recall roughly how many employees would 8 

have been talking to you from Ottawa on that subject? 9 

  A.  I don’t recall exactly.  I have one-on-ones, 10 

regular one-on-ones with my direct reports and so it would 11 

have come up in those conversations and those are held 12 

generally bi-weekly.  So out of the group of twenty I only 13 

had five or six direct reports. 14 

92.  Q.  Out of your group of 20 in Ottawa? 15 

  A.  Well, the 20 -- 16 

93.  Q.  Or 20 overall? 17 

  A.  Yeah.  I don’t recall the exact number of 18 

reports that I had at the time but, yeah, it was 19 

approximately 20, 25 but that was overall, yes. 20 

94.  Q.  Then approximately 10 of those spoke to you 21 

prior to receiving the offers? 22 

  A.  Yes. 23 

95.  Q.  On this redeployment? 24 

  A.  Yes. 25 
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96.  Q.  Okay.  How about post-offer?  Do you remember 1 

roughly how many employees spoke to you about redeployment 2 

opportunities? 3 

  A.  It’s hard for me to say the exact number. 4 

97.  Q.  Do you remember if it was more or less than 5 

pre-offer? 6 

  A.  No, I don’t recall and I will clarify.  A 7 

clarification is not maybe requested but not all the 8 

people that I spoke with were my direct reports.  I knew 9 

lots of people in the building so there was lots of 10 

informal conversation going on just between co-workers. 11 

98.  Q.  Do you recall the names of anyone that spoke 12 

to you about this redeployment issue either pre- or 13 

post-offer? 14 

  A.  I do recall some.  Do you want them? 15 

99.  Q.  Yes, that was going to be my next question. 16 

  A.  So Marico Komai was one of my team members, 17 

Mike Beaudette is another team member, Vic Veinotte is not 18 

a – did not report to me but was a – is a friend.  19 

Mark Chatterley is a peer.  Mark Cullum is a good friend 20 

and also on my team. 21 

100.  Q.  Mark Cullen? 22 

  A.  Cullum. 23 

101.  Q.  Cullum.  Anyone else? 24 

  A.  Not that I recall. 25 
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102.  Q.  So you have named five people. 1 

  MS. DION:  May I please get an undertaking for the 2 

contact information for these five people? 3 

  MR. STERNBERG:  As far as we are aware they work 4 

at Ford. 5 

  MS. DION:  Pardon me? 6 

  MR. STERNBERG:  As far as we’re aware they work at 7 

Ford. 8 

  MS. DION:  So you do not have their contact 9 

information? 10 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Well, what other contact info are 11 

you looking for? 12 

  MS. DION:  Email address, telephone number. 13 

  MR. STERNBERG:  I’ll take it under advisement. *A* 14 

  MS. DION:  My apologies.  I missed what you just 15 

said.  Under advisement? 16 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement, yes. 17 

  MS. DION:  And if they provided a resignation 18 

letter I believe their contact information might be found 19 

within that letter.  At the end there was a request for 20 

their contact information. 21 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  Under advisement. *A* 22 

  MS. DION:   23 

103.  Q.  So, Mr. Ho, you would agree with me that you 24 

never provided a guarantee to any of these employees that 25 
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spoke to you about possible redeployment that they would 1 

certainly have a job if they declined the Ford offer; 2 

correct? 3 

  A.  A guarantee? 4 

104.  Q.  Yes. 5 

  A.  No. 6 

105.  Q.  Prior to employees receiving their offers from 7 

Ford in January 2017 had you spoken to anyone at 8 

BlackBerry about how to respond to employee questions 9 

regarding the possibility of redeployment if they turned 10 

down the Ford offer? 11 

  A.  Yes. 12 

106.  Q.  Who did you speak with? 13 

  A.  To my recollection it came up in a leads 14 

meeting.  So this would be a meeting that my supervisor 15 

Vilok would have held with his team leads. 16 

107.  Q.  So you were one of those team leads? 17 

  A.  Yes. 18 

108.  Q.  How many other team leads would have been a 19 

part of that meeting? 20 

  A.  I don’t recall the exact number.  About ten. 21 

109.  Q.  Was it just during the one meeting that you 22 

discussed how to respond to employees or did it come up in 23 

more than one meeting? 24 

  A.  I don’t recall exactly. 25 
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110.  Q.  Do you recall when at least this one meeting 1 

that you are recalling would have occurred? 2 

  A.  Not exactly. 3 

111.  Q.  Do you recall if it would have been before 4 

receiving your Ford offer? 5 

  A.  I do not believe so. 6 

112.  Q.  Do you remember the names of any of the team 7 

leads that would have been a part of this meeting? 8 

  A.  I should but I don’t. 9 

113.  Q.  What we see at paragraph 10 of your affidavit, 10 

is that essentially how you guys agreed that you would 11 

respond to employee questions about potential 12 

redeployment? 13 

  A.  Essentially, yes. 14 

114.  Q.  So now paragraph 9 of your affidavit you state 15 

how some employees had “some questions or concerns with 16 

certain terms of their Ford offer”.  Do you recall how 17 

many employees expressed a question or a concern that they 18 

had with their offer to you? 19 

  A.  I don’t recall the exact number, no. 20 

115.  Q.  Would you be able to guess whether it was less 21 

than ten, more than ten? 22 

  A.  I would say less than ten. 23 

116.  Q.  Less than ten?  Less than five? 24 

  A.  Probably more than five, between five and ten. 25 
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117.  Q.  Do you recall the names of anyone that would 1 

have asked you or expressed a question or concern that 2 

they had with the offer? 3 

  A.  The people that I mentioned prior. 4 

118.  Q.  I’ll go through them.  So Marico Komai? 5 

  A.  Komai.  Yes. 6 

119.  Q.  Komai, and Mike Beaudette? 7 

  A.  Yes. 8 

120.  Q.  Vic Veinotte? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

121.  Q.  Mark Chatterley? 11 

  A.  No. 12 

122.  Q.  Mark Cullum? 13 

  A.  Yes. 14 

123.  Q.  Anyone else other than those four? 15 

  A.  Not that I recall. 16 

124.  Q.  I’ll refer now to paragraph 4 of 17 

Rebecca Graham’s affidavit so you might want to just fold 18 

your affidavit or recall where it is.  Rebecca Graham’s 19 

affidavit is the first one in the stack.  So it’s after 20 

tab 1 and it’ll be page 4, the top right.  So we see in 21 

paragraph 4(a) that she mentions, “the agreement between 22 

BlackBerry and Ford by which BlackBerry agreed to provide 23 

engineering services to Ford” and then if you flip back to 24 

your affidavit in paragraph 3 you refer to “an engineering 25 
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services project for Ford, known as ‘Project Silver’” and 1 

that you and your team began work on this project in about 2 

late 2016. 3 

  So prior to beginning work on Project Silver I 4 

assume and please correct me if I’m wrong that BlackBerry 5 

and Ford would have agreed on at least some aspects of the 6 

scope of the engineering services work that would be 7 

completed as part of Project Silver? 8 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Don’t answer the question. *O* 9 

  MS. DION:  Why not? 10 

  MR. STERNBERG:  On the basis of relevance.  I 11 

don’t see how it’s relevant to the issues on the motion. 12 

  MS. DION:  One of the issues we bring up is how 13 

there was a structured transaction to circumvent paying 14 

the plaintiff’s statutory entitlements that stem from this 15 

agreement that started with Project Silver. 16 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  I appreciate the 17 

clarification.  The position is the same. 18 

  MS. DION:   19 

125.  Q.  So when did you first learn about this 20 

engineering services project with Ford? 21 

  A.  To the best of my recollection it was around 22 

the end of August. 23 

126.  Q.  2016? 24 

  A.  Yes.  Sorry, is that – wait. 25 
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127.  Q.  You received your offer in December 2016. 1 

  A.  Yes.  Yes. 2 

128.  Q.  Who told you about this project? 3 

  A.  It was my supervisor, Vilok. 4 

129.  Q.  Did he tell you in writing or in person or 5 

over the phone I guess is another option? 6 

  A.  Yeah.  I was invited to a meeting. 7 

130.  Q.  This had been an in-person meeting? 8 

  A.  I think some of us were – it was multi-site 9 

so… 10 

131.  Q.  What sites were included as part of this 11 

meeting? 12 

  A.  I don’t recall. 13 

132.  Q.  Do you know any of the sites that were 14 

included or invited? 15 

  A.  All I recall is that I was invited to a 16 

meeting about Silver and I didn’t know about it, what it 17 

was. 18 

133.  Q.  Do you recall anyone who was present in person 19 

at this meeting? 20 

  A.  No. 21 

134.  Q.  Do you recall roughly how many people were 22 

present in person at this meeting? 23 

  A.  No. 24 

135.  Q.  Do you recall if there was anyone I guess 25 
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lower on the organizational chart than a manager that was 1 

present at the meeting? 2 

  A.  At that time I don’t think so. 3 

136.  Q.  Do you recall anyone from BlackBerry HR that 4 

was present at this meeting? 5 

  A.  I’m quite sure there was no one from HR. 6 

137.  Q.  Is it true that this was a project developed 7 

at the senior management level within BlackBerry? 8 

  A.  I don’t know the origins of the project. 9 

138.  Q.  It’s not something you got into during the 10 

meeting? 11 

  A.  No. 12 

139.  Q.  At the time of this meeting was the scope of 13 

the project already determined? 14 

  A.  At the time there was a rough idea of what we 15 

were going to work on but I would not say that the scope 16 

was finalized. 17 

140.  Q.  Did you contribute to working out the scope of 18 

the project? 19 

  A.  No. 20 

141.  Q.  Do you know who would have been involved with 21 

working out that scope? 22 

  A.  I expect that it would have been people at 23 

Zoltan’s level and above. 24 

142.  Q.  How many levels above you would Zoltan be? 25 
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  A.  Two. 1 

143.  Q.  At that time? 2 

  A.  Yes. 3 

144.  Q.  Two levels above?  But you’re not sure, this 4 

is just speculation? 5 

  A.  My understanding is that Zoltan was – in 6 

conversations with Zoltan my understanding is that he was 7 

involved in some of the earlier discussions. 8 

145.  Q.  Do you know of anyone else that would have 9 

been involved in the earlier discussions? 10 

  A.  Not specifically, no. 11 

146.  Q.  Do you know when the scope of the project was 12 

finalized? 13 

  A.  No. 14 

147.  Q.  When were you first informed that Ford planned 15 

on making employment offers to the employees who got their 16 

offers in January? 17 

  A.  I don’t recall exactly.  I mean – yeah, I 18 

don’t recall exactly. 19 

148.  Q.  Do you recall if it was after you had already 20 

received your offer from Ford? 21 

  A.  Sorry, can you ask the original question 22 

again? 23 

149.  Q.  Do you recall when you were first informed 24 

that Ford planned on making employment offers to the 25 
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employees who got their offers in January 2017 and then 1 

I -- 2 

  A.  It would have been before I received my offer. 3 

150.  Q.  So sometime before the end of August when you 4 

had this meeting and learned about Silver and December 8
th
 5 

when you got your offer? 6 

  A.  After the time in August.  You said before. 7 

151.  Q.  So after, sorry, after the end of August 2016. 8 

  A.  Yes.  After. 9 

152.  Q.  But before December 8, 2016? 10 

  A.  Yes. 11 

153.  Q.  You’re not sure exactly when? 12 

  A.  I don’t recall exactly when. 13 

154.  Q.  Do you recall who would have informed you that 14 

Ford had this intention? 15 

  A.  I believe it would have been Vilok. 16 

155.  Q.  You don’t sound sure about that. 17 

  A.  It would have been a small group that – it 18 

would have been in the leadership, in my leadership group.  19 

So it would have been – yeah, I’m not sure but I would 20 

have expected it would have come up in discussions with 21 

Vilok. 22 

156.  Q.  Do you recall whether other people were 23 

present when you were informed such that other people were 24 

informed at the same time? 25 
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  A.  Again I believe it would have come up in a 1 

leadership discussion in one of Vilok’s team meetings. 2 

157.  Q.  Do you recall roughly how many people would 3 

have been present during this meeting? 4 

  A.  Well, similar to my last answer about his team 5 

meetings, it would have been his group of reports.  So my 6 

peers reporting to Vilok.  I don’t know the exact number. 7 

158.  Q.  I think the last time you said roughly around 8 

ten for one of the team -- 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

159.  Q.  Does that sound accurate?  Would anything have 11 

been provided to you or the other team members in writing 12 

about this intention of Ford making employment offers? 13 

  A.  Not that I recall. 14 

160.  Q.  Were you aware prior to receiving your 15 

December 8
th
 offer from Ford that Ford had the intention of 16 

making you an offer? 17 

  A.  I don’t recall. 18 

161.  Q.  Okay.  So we know, you told us earlier today, 19 

that you had spoken to Vilok about how to respond to 20 

employee questions about possible redeployment.  Did you 21 

speak to Vilok about any other potential employee 22 

questions and how to answer them prior to the employees 23 

receiving their Ford offers? 24 

  A.  Sorry, can you ask that again? 25 
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  A.  Yes.  So I know you had received 1 

redeployment-type questions from employees when they first 2 

became aware that they would be getting Ford offers so in 3 

December and that you had spoken to Vilok, you and other 4 

team members, during a meeting about how to respond to 5 

these employees about those types of questions and we see 6 

that in your affidavit.  Did you discuss other types of 7 

questions from employees either that you had received or 8 

that you thought you might receive and how to respond to 9 

those questions or was it just about redeployment? 10 

  A.  There were other questions and subjects 11 

besides redeployment. 12 

162.  Q.  Maybe I can give you specific examples and you 13 

can say yes or no. 14 

  A.  Okay.  That would help. 15 

163.  Q.  So whether their service would be recognized 16 

at Ford.  Is that something that came up during that 17 

meeting?  Their BlackBerry service, sorry. 18 

  A.  Right.  I don’t recall it necessarily coming 19 

up in that meeting.  There were discussions about that. 20 

164.  Q.  About how to respond to those types of 21 

questions? 22 

  A.  I don’t recall there being any specific 23 

guidance on how to respond to that. 24 

165.  Q.  From Vilok or anyone else at BlackBerry? 25 
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  A.  No. 1 

166.  Q.  What about the issue of severance payouts to 2 

employees who did accept Ford offers or even generally? 3 

  A.  I don’t – again I don’t recall there being any 4 

specific guidance. 5 

167.  Q.  Was it discussed? 6 

  A.  Informally?  Yes. 7 

168.  Q.  Prior to the employees receiving their offers 8 

in January? 9 

  A.  Yes.  People discussed it. 10 

169.  Q.  Was it because at least one of the employees 11 

had raised it as an issue or a question or kind of on your 12 

own initiative? 13 

  A.  It was a concern of – when I say employees I 14 

don’t always mean my employees. 15 

170.  Q.  Yes. 16 

  A.  But it was a concern among the people 17 

involved. 18 

171.  Q.  Those people being the ones who received 19 

employment offers in January? 20 

  A.  Those that were working on Project Silver. 21 

172.  Q.  So at least someone who was working on 22 

Project Silver raised the issue of potential severance 23 

prior to receiving their Ford offer and so it was 24 

discussed informally with you and Vilok and others? 25 
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  A.  There were informal discussions among the – I 1 

recall informal discussions among participants in 2 

Project Silver about whether or not we would receive 3 

severance. 4 

173.  Q.  Nothing was ever reduced to writing about 5 

these discussions on these specific issues? 6 

  A.  Not to my recollection. 7 

174.  Q.  Did you ever seek guidance from either 8 

BlackBerry HR or Vilok or any other managers that would be 9 

I guess higher than you in the organizational structure in 10 

BlackBerry about how to respond to employee questions that 11 

were related in some way to that Ford offer? 12 

  A.  I don’t recall seeking out information. 13 

175.  Q.  Do you recall it being given to you 14 

nonetheless? 15 

  A.  As I mentioned there were – it was discussed 16 

at some of Vilok’s team meetings. 17 

176.  Q.  We know redeployment was. 18 

  A.  Okay. 19 

177.  Q.  And you had this understanding on how to 20 

respond. 21 

  A.  Yeah, okay. 22 

178.  Q.  But other than that? 23 

  A.  I don’t recall us discussing severance. 24 

179.  Q.  Or recognized service, years of service at 25 
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BlackBerry? 1 

  A.  No. 2 

  MS. DION:  Okay, I’m going to ask just for a few 3 

minutes to confer with Andrew. 4 

               (SHORT RECESS) 5 

  MS. DION:   6 

180.  Q.  So I just want to take you back to those two 7 

meetings that you had with Vilok.  So the first one I’ll 8 

get to is the one where you discussed the redeployment 9 

question and how to respond to employees.  So with respect 10 

to this meeting would there have been an invitation, an 11 

Outlook invitation to attend the meeting? 12 

  A.  Vilok’s team meetings were the same as mine.  13 

They’re just recurring. 14 

181.  Q.  Recurring team meetings? 15 

  A.  Yeah.  Recurring weekly or bi-weekly meetings. 16 

  MS. DION:  Could I get an undertaking for the 17 

invitations and who would have accepted and rejected or 18 

whatever you can find about these team meetings between 19 

August 2016 and February 2017? 20 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement. *A* 21 

  MS. DION:   22 

182.  Q.  Prior to attending these recurring team 23 

meetings with Vilok would you get an agenda about what the 24 

meeting would be about? 25 
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  A.  Typically no. 1 

183.  Q.  Would you have gotten one for purposes of the 2 

meeting where you discussed that redeployment issue? 3 

  A.  Vilok is not the kind of person that sends out 4 

an agenda ahead of time. 5 

184.  Q.  Just to make sure I get all of these questions 6 

then do you have the same answer with respect to the team 7 

meeting with Vilok where you learned that Ford was 8 

planning to make employment offers to the employees in 9 

January? 10 

  A.  Yes. 11 

185.  Q.  Did you typically take notes during these team 12 

meetings? 13 

  A.  No.  Do you mean like is there somebody that 14 

formally takes notes? 15 

186.  Q.  No. 16 

  A.  Or do I personally take notes? 17 

187.  Q.  Do you personally take notes? 18 

  A.  No.  I would sometimes take notes, yes. 19 

  MS. DION:  Can I get an undertaking to check if 20 

Mr. Ho has some notes, again same time period August 2016 21 

to February 2017, during these team meetings with Vilok? 22 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement. *A* 23 

  MS. DION:   24 

188.  Q.  Now you had started talking about formal note 25 
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taking, perhaps minutes.  Would anyone do that? 1 

  A.  No. 2 

189.  Q.  Would Vilok or anyone else typically send 3 

follow-up emails after these team meetings, kind of recap 4 

what you talked about? 5 

  A.  Not usually and I don’t think he did in this 6 

case. 7 

190.  Q.  During that time period? 8 

  A.  Yeah. 9 

191.  Q.  Okay.  You had also mentioned that you had 10 

bi-weekly meetings with your own team. 11 

  A.  Yes. 12 

192.  Q.  Would you typically send out an agenda about 13 

what would be discussed? 14 

  A.  No. 15 

193.  Q.  Would there be a formal note taker during 16 

these meetings? 17 

  A.  No. 18 

194.  Q.  Would you or anyone else typically take notes 19 

during these meetings? 20 

  A.  I would not.  I’m not sure if anybody else 21 

would. 22 

195.  Q.  Do you typically send follow-up emails after 23 

your team meetings? 24 

  A.  No. 25 
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  MS. DION:  I believe I already asked for an 1 

undertaking for the invitation Mr. Ho might have sent out 2 

for his team meetings, at least one of them.  But just to 3 

make sure I include everything I’m going to ask for the 4 

same type of undertaking for that August 2016 to February 5 

2017 time period for any invitations and who accepted or 6 

rejected them for his bi-weekly meetings with his team. 7 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Under advisement. *A* 8 

  MS. DION:  So subject to any questions arising out 9 

of any answers to undertakings or documents provided by 10 

way of undertaking I have no further questions for you. 11 

  RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. STERNBERG: 12 

196.  Q.  I just have a couple of questions for you, 13 

Mr. Ho.  You were being asked some questions about 14 

discussions amongst participants on Project Silver on the 15 

topic of whether or not employees would receive severance 16 

if they accepted an offer from Ford.  What was your 17 

understanding as to whether you would receive severance if 18 

you accepted your Ford offer? 19 

  A.  I had accepted my offer and was not expecting 20 

any severance. 21 

197.  Q.  Did you convey your understanding on that 22 

point about whether an employee would receive severance if 23 

they accepted a Ford offer, did you convey your 24 

understanding on that point to any other employees as far 25 
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as you recall in discussions? 1 

  A.  Yes. 2 

198.  Q.  Can you assist us with about how many 3 

employees you conveyed that point to? 4 

  A.  About ten. 5 

199.  Q.  Do you recall the names of any particular 6 

employees at this point that you conveyed that point to? 7 

  A.  Probably Mark Cullum and Vic Veinotte. 8 

200.  Q.  As you sit here right now do you recall any 9 

other specific names of those about ten employees that you 10 

spoke to about that point? 11 

  A.  I don’t. 12 

  MR. STERNBERG:  Thank you.  Those are my 13 

questions.  You’re finished. 14 

 15 

  --THE CROSS-EXAMINATION ADJOURNED AT THE HOUR OF  16 

  6:07 IN THE AFTERNOON. 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

  WE HEREBY CERTIFY THAT the foregoing was  21 

  transcribed to the best of our skill and ability. 22 

  ................................................ 23 

                  G R S / B L 24 

 25 
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  MICHAEL MULLIN, SWORN: 1 

  CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DION: 2 

1.  Q.  Good morning, Mr. Mullin.  Can you please 3 

state your full name for the record? 4 

  A.  Michael Alexander Solomon Mullin. 5 

2.  Q.  You have been sworn in today? 6 

  A.  Yes, I have. 7 

3.  Q.  You signed your affidavit on September 29, 8 

2017 and at that time you understood that you were 9 

swearing that everything in that document to your 10 

knowledge was true? 11 

  A.  What date did you say?  I swore it on the 29
th
 12 

of September, yeah, and everything is true, yeah. 13 

4.  Q.  Is it still true today? 14 

  A.  I believe so, yes. 15 

5.  Q.  You reviewed it before coming here today? 16 

  A.  Yes, I did. 17 

6.  Q.  What other material did you review prior to 18 

signing your affidavit on September 29
th
? 19 

  A.  I looked at some of the emails that were sent 20 

by me and sent to me. 21 

7.  Q.  Did you review our motion material at all? 22 

  A.  No. 23 

8.  Q.  Any other affidavits that are contained in -- 24 

  A.  No. 25 
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9.  Q.  Now you received your employment offer from 1 

Ford about mid-January.  Is that correct? 2 

  A.  It was sometime in mid-January, yes. 3 

10.  Q.  Now you wrote in paragraph 4 of your affidavit 4 

that you were not particularly interested in this offer 5 

seeing as working at BlackBerry had been your goal since 6 

college so you eventually declined the offer from Ford.  7 

Correct? 8 

  A.  Yes. 9 

11.  Q.  When did you decline the offer? 10 

  A.  We had to either accept or decline within a 11 

week of them giving us the offer.  So it was relatively 12 

close to the end of that week. 13 

12.  Q.  Did you advise Ford in writing that you were 14 

declining your offer? 15 

  A.  No.  Sorry, not that I remember. 16 

13.  Q.  So you did so in person? 17 

  A.  My director came to my desk and asked me why I 18 

did not respond to the offer. 19 

14.  Q.  Who is your director? 20 

  A.  His name is Khalid.  I’m sorry, I forget his 21 

last name. 22 

15.  Q.  Khalid, K-H-A-L-I-D? 23 

  A.  I don’t know.  I’m sorry. 24 

16.  Q.  When did Khalid come to see you? 25 
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  A.  When everyone else was accepting the offer. 1 

17.  Q.  After that meeting with Khalid did you then go 2 

speak to someone at Ford about declining the offer? 3 

  A.  No. 4 

18.  Q.  Did you ever advise Ford that you were 5 

declining their offer? 6 

  A.  Not that I remember. 7 

19.  Q.  Did you advise Khalid that you were declining 8 

the Ford offer? 9 

  A.  Yes. 10 

20.  Q.  Did you advise anybody else at BlackBerry? 11 

  A.  My direct manager also asked me what the 12 

circumstances of me not accepting it was or if I was going 13 

to accept it and so I told him no, I wasn’t going to 14 

accept it and his name was Jared Chambers, is 15 

Jared Chambers. 16 

21.  Q.  Did you tell anyone other than Jared Chambers 17 

or Khalid that you were declining the Ford offer? 18 

  A.  I’m not sure other than my mom. 19 

22.  Q.  Sorry, I should have specified BlackBerry but 20 

thank you.  Did you advise both Khalid and Jared Chambers 21 

in person? 22 

  A.  They came by to my desk so yes. 23 

23.  Q.  Do you know whether Ford got the message that 24 

you were declining their offer? 25 
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  A.  Well, I didn’t accept the offer so… 1 

24.  Q.  So you’re not sure? 2 

  A.  I’m not sure if they knew I declined but by 3 

inference they should have realized that. 4 

25.  Q.  So according to Exhibit “B” of your affidavit 5 

on January 27
th
 -- 6 

  A.  Which one is the one that I should be looking 7 

at? 8 

26.  Q.  The next one, Exhibit “B”. 9 

  MR. LAX:  Just flip behind the “B” tab. 10 

  THE WITNESS:  Oh, okay.  I see. 11 

  MS. DION:   12 

27.  Q.  So according to this exhibit on January 27, 13 

2017 you advised Jean Dolbec, a manager at BlackBerry, by 14 

email that you would not be pursuing the Ford offer but 15 

would be remaining with BlackBerry.  After sending this 16 

email did you meet with him to discuss employment 17 

opportunities within his team? 18 

  A.  I discussed with him about employment 19 

opportunities on his team, yes. 20 

28.  Q.  In person? 21 

  A.  Yes, yes.  Yeah. 22 

29.  Q.  Do you recall what day that was? 23 

  A.  No, I don’t.  I’m sorry. 24 

30.  Q.  Did you only meet with him once? 25 
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  A.  I think I met with him a few times. 1 

31.  Q.  In the end you were able to secure a software 2 

position on his team? 3 

  A.  Yes, I was. 4 

32.  Q.  Do you know when he was able to confirm that 5 

with you? 6 

  A.  I don’t remember exactly when. 7 

33.  Q.  Was it after you sent this email? 8 

  A.  That he could confirm? 9 

34.  Q.  Yes. 10 

  A.  Yes, it was after this email. 11 

35.  Q.  I want to discuss the period after you 12 

received the Ford offer but before you accepted it – or 13 

declined it, my apologies. 14 

  A.  Sure. 15 

36.  Q.  So you met with Mr. Dolbec to discuss the 16 

possibility of being placed on his team.  But did you 17 

speak to him about anything else?  Any other questions, 18 

concerns? 19 

  A.  We talked about the nature of his team.  We 20 

talked about kind of his interesting technologies that he 21 

was hoping that his team would be able to move into. 22 

37.  Q.  Was it all BlackBerry work-related 23 

discussions? 24 

  A.  Yes. 25 
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38.  Q.  Now you also spoke with Anish Agrawal.  Is 1 

that correct? 2 

  A.  Yes. 3 

39.  Q.  Were these discussions with him also about 4 

whether you could be placed on one of his teams if you 5 

declined the Ford offer? 6 

  A.  Yes. 7 

40.  Q.  Did you speak to him about anything else? 8 

  A.  No, it was him trying to tell me what 9 

opportunities were on his team. 10 

41.  Q.  Did you speak with anyone in BlackBerry’s HR 11 

department before declining the Ford offer? 12 

  A.  I don’t remember doing so.  I did email Amber. 13 

42.  Q.  Amber Jessup? 14 

  A.  Yes.  I think it’s in here actually, isn’t it? 15 

  MR. LAX:  I don’t believe so. 16 

  THE WITNESS:  Okay. 17 

  MS. DION:  If it’s not in the materials can we ask 18 

for a copy of that email, please? 19 

  MR. LAX:  We can take that under advisement. *A* 20 

  MS. DION:  And then any responses thereto. 21 

  MR. LAX:  The same. *A* 22 

  MS. DION:   23 

43.  Q.  You also had some discussions with Ford.  Is 24 

that correct? 25 
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  A.  Yes.  Yeah. 1 

44.  Q.  We see one of those discussions in Exhibit “A” 2 

of your affidavit.  Now this wasn’t the only email 3 

exchange you had with Ford, was it? 4 

  A.  I can’t remember any other exchanges I had 5 

with Ford.  Certainly not one-on-one email discussions 6 

with them.  There was like a – they took us into a room 7 

during – when they presented us with the offer to kind of 8 

go over certain things about the offer. 9 

45.  Q.  So the reason I ask, Mr. Mullin, is that in 10 

paragraph 7 of your affidavit you describe this exhibit as 11 

a further email exchange with Ford which leads me to 12 

believe there had been an earlier email exchange. 13 

  A.  I don’t remember an email exchange.  I 14 

remember talking with them in that room about it. 15 

46.  Q.  Now in paragraph 6 of your affidavit you 16 

explain how your understanding was that if you declined 17 

the Ford offer your “employment with BlackBerry would 18 

continue” and BlackBerry would take steps to place you on 19 

another suitable team or project.  Was this the 20 

understanding that you had as a result of your discussion 21 

with Mr. Dolbec? 22 

  A.  Not exactly, no.  I had a pretty good feeling 23 

that I’d be able to join Mr. Jean Dolbec’s team.  There 24 

was a lot of openings on Anish’s team as well.  They were 25 
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– Anish was – he seemed like he was trying to convince me 1 

to join his team.  But I kind of had my heart set on 2 

Jean’s team. 3 

47.  Q.  So this was based on your discussions with 4 

both Mr. Dolbec and Mr. Agrawal? 5 

  A.  Mostly, yes.  Yeah. 6 

48.  Q.  In the same paragraph you state how you knew 7 

“there were other roles that were and would be available 8 

on other teams”.  What exact roles did you know were 9 

available on other teams at the time? 10 

  A.  I’m sorry, I can’t remember exactly what the 11 

roles were.  They were technical in nature on Anish’s 12 

team. 13 

49.  Q.  Were they all on Anish’s team? 14 

  A.  I can’t remember any others, other than the 15 

ones on Anish’s team and on Jean’s team. 16 

50.  Q.  Okay, so you knew there were available 17 

positions on both Mr. Dolbec and Mr. Agrawal’s team? 18 

  A.  Yes. 19 

51.  Q.  How many positions were available on each 20 

team? 21 

  A.  I don’t know, I’m sorry. 22 

52.  Q.  Was it Anish and Jean who specifically told 23 

you that roles were available on their own team? 24 

  A.  No.  Amber sends out regular emails kind of 25 
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detailing interesting things about the company at the time 1 

and at the end of the emails there would be links to 2 

available job openings and specifically for me, like I was 3 

aware of those emails at the time but I had a conversation 4 

with a man named Carmender Brar who told me about the 5 

specific opening on Jean’s team. 6 

53.  Q.  One specific opening? 7 

  A.  I don’t remember if he said there was just one 8 

or not but he told me that there were openings, at least 9 

one. 10 

54.  Q.  These emails that Amber would send out, were 11 

they sent out just to you? 12 

  A.  No. 13 

55.  Q.  Who were they sent out to? 14 

  A.  A lot of people.  A big distribution list. 15 

  MS. DION:  I would like to request a copy of these 16 

emails that Amber would send out from the December 2016 to 17 

end of February 2017 time period. 18 

  MR. LAX:  We’ll take that under advisement and see 19 

if we can find them.  For clarity you are referring to the 20 

emails that she sent to this one distribution list which 21 

we haven’t named that contained the job openings at the 22 

bottom?  *A* 23 

  MS. DION:  Yes, please. 24 

56.  Q.  Now you also wrote in that same paragraph that 25 
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you knew roles would become available.  Do you have any 1 

specific information about what roles you knew would 2 

become available? 3 

  A.  Could you restate the question? 4 

57.  Q.  Of course.  In paragraph 6 of your affidavit 5 

the second-last sentence you wrote, “I also knew that 6 

there were other roles that were and would be available on 7 

other teams”.  I’m interested in the “would be available” 8 

roles. 9 

  A.  These are the roles that Anish talked to me 10 

about when I went into his – in his office for a meeting 11 

and he went through a fairly long list of things that he’d 12 

need to cover for because so many people were leaving to 13 

Ford.  So he was going to have a lot of openings on his 14 

team to make up for the losses that were going to be felt 15 

by BlackBerry and so he – I’m sorry, I can’t exactly 16 

remember all of the details of that. 17 

  But he basically kind of broke up how he saw his 18 

organization being as we went forward with BlackBerry and 19 

there was kind of I need people here, I need people here, 20 

I need people here, I need people here. 21 

58.  Q.  So it sounds like he was going to lose some 22 

people off his team and would need to fill those roles 23 

with new people? 24 

  A.  That was certainly part of it.  I don’t know 25 
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what new responsibilities he would have going forward as 1 

well and that wasn’t made clear to me what he would have 2 

to make up for as BlackBerry was losing people, as he 3 

would also have to have new responsibilities as we went 4 

forward.  It was more like he had an organization of what 5 

he knew for the future and he was detailing it out to me. 6 

59.  Q.  Did you know of any roles on any other 7 

person’s team that would become available? 8 

  A.  No.  No, I don’t. 9 

60.  Q.  I’d like to take you back to Exhibit “A” of 10 

your affidavit.  We see that you sent an email on 11 

January 25
th
 and you received a response on January 25

th
. 12 

  MR. LAX:  I believe it was January 24
th
 that he 13 

sent the email. 14 

  MS. DION:  Yes, and then he received a response on 15 

January 25
th
.  16 

61.  Q.  Did you respond to that January 25
th
 email? 17 

  A.  No, not that I remember, no. 18 

  MS. DION:  I’d like to ask for a two-minute break. 19 

  MR. LAX:  Sure. 20 

               (SHORT RECESS) 21 

  MS. DION:   22 

62.  Q.  I just have a few more questions for you 23 

today. 24 

  A.  Sure. 25 
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63.  Q.  I want to get back into the discussion you had 1 

with Anish. 2 

  A.  Okay. 3 

64.  Q.  Just to confirm, did you only meet with him 4 

once or several times? 5 

  A.  I only remember meeting him once. 6 

65.  Q.  During that meeting was it only the two of you 7 

present? 8 

  A.  Yes. 9 

66.  Q.  Did you have any conversations with him via 10 

email or anything that wasn’t in person? 11 

  A.  Not that I can remember. 12 

  MS. DION:  Those are all my questions for you 13 

today.  Thank you. 14 

  MR. LAX:  Thank you.  I don’t have anything that I 15 

need to ask him in re-exam. 16 

 17 

  --THE CROSS-EXAMINATION ADJOURNED AT THE HOUR OF  18 

  10:25 IN THE FORENOON. 19 

 20 

 21 

  WE HEREBY CERTIFY THAT the foregoing was  22 

  transcribed to the best of our skill and ability. 23 

  ................................................ 24 

                  G R S / B L 25 
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Court File No. 17-71659

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

DAVID PARKER

Plaintiff

BLACKBERRY LIMITED

Defendant

AF'FIDAVIT OF LEIGH NORTON

I, LEIGH NORTON, of the City of Ottawa, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE OATH

AND SAY:

1. I am employed as a law clerk by Nelligan O'Brien Payne LLP, the lawyers for the

Plaintiff in this action and, as such, have knowledge of the matters stated in this

affidavit.

Attached hereto as Exhibit "A" to this my Affidavit a copy of the chart of answers

to Undertakings (including Advisements agreed to be answered) and attachments,

given during the cross-examinations of BlackBerr)"s Affiants, which chart was

received by plaintiff counsel on or about March 12,2018.

and

.,
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J Attached hereto as Exhibit'oB" to this my Affidavit is a copy of the chart and

attached documents for Questions ordered to be answered from the cross-

examinations of the BlackBerry Affiants, received by Plaintiff counsel on or

about July 19, 2018.

Defendant counsel sent an email to Plaintiff counsel on August 21,2018

providing a link to what the defendant believed was the PowerPoint presentation

by Ford from the Town Hall meeting on December 9,2016 in response to an

earlier unanswered undertaking. Attached hereto as Exhibit "C" to this my

Affidavit is a copy of the email and the PowerPoint presentation.

Attached hereto and marked and Exhibit 6rD" to this my Affidavit is a chart of

answers to written cross-examination questions for Rebecca Graham based on

Answers provided by the Defendant following the refusals motion. This chart

was received by plaintiff counsel on or about September 4,2018.

Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit "E" to this my Affidavit is a chart of

answers to written questions on BlackBerry's affiants (Rebecca Graham,

Adrienne Lee, Lee Watson and Andrew Mackie) for affidavits sworn after the

cross-examination had taken place early in 2018. This chart was received by

plaintiff counsel on or about September 4,2018.

Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit "F" to this my Affidavit is a chart of

undertakings answers and attached documents for BlackBerry's Affiant, Colin Ho

received by plaintiff counsel on or about October 2,2018.

4.

5

6.

7
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8. I make this Affidavit in support of the Plaintiff s Motion for Certification and for

no other or improper purpose.

Sworn before me at
the City of Ottawa,
ln of Ontario

Taking LEIGH NORTON
Affidavits

J
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THIS IS EXHIBIT $4" TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF LEIGH NORTON

SWORN BEFORE ME THIS 31ST DAY OF JANUARY, 2019.

Commissioner for Taking Affidavits, etc.
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Date: February LA,2At7

BlackBerry, Human Resources

7200 University Avenue East

Waterloo, ON NzA 047

Dear BlackBerry

As previously communicated to my senior leadership, this is a formal confirmation
that I have accepted an offer af employment with Ford of Canada and will
transferto my new employer effective March LZAL7.
My last working day at BlackBerry will be Feb. 28th 7017.

Employee Name: ZottanlR a

signature:

{For contacts necessary after employment termination date, including tax
information forwarding, I am providing the below personal information.)
PersonalEmail: 
Home Address: 

Home Phone:  

I5591163

lnorton
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A

Date: February L4,2OL7

ç

FEB z 71017

BlackBerry Human Resources

22OO University Avenue East

Waterloq ON N2A 0A7

Dear BlackBerry

Please be informed that I have accepted an offer of employment with Ford and
will transfer to my new employer effective March t,2OL7.

w¡th this letter, I am submitting my resignation from my employment with
BlackBerry effective March L,2ot7. My last BlackBerry working day will be
February 28,2AL7.

Employee Name (print): COLIN HO(2w,Signature:

(For contacts necessary after employment termination date, including tax
information forwarding, I am providing the below personal information.)
PersonalEmail: 
Home Address:  

 

Home Phone: 

5631167
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bot=
ent:
u$ect:

' Ambër Jessup
Thur 2l2l2O1 7 4: 1 8:56 PM
Re:ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

ruill. Thanks for the quick response.

:nt from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From : rebgraham@blackberry.com
Sent: February2,2017 4:I7 PM
fo: ajessup@blackberry.com
Subject: RE: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

iscalate to ER please before you respond further

From: Amber Jessup
cnt: February-O2-L7 3:59 PM

¡: Rebecca Graham
ubject: Fw: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

li Rebecca

wanted to forward your the below exchange. As you may recall David was someone who was quite vocal during the
:own hall in Ottawa in December. Sounds like he is demanding severance.

,rl/ill keep you posted

ient from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From : aiessup@ blackberry.com
Senü February2,2017 3:55 PM

Io: dparker@blackberry.com
Cc: david. parker@hotmail.ca

Subject: Re: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

{ello David,

am not entirely clear on what your below statement and request to fufill your employment contract means. Blackberrl
ras not given you notice to end your employment. You have received an alternate offer of employment from Ford. lf
¡ou have accepted this request then you are in effect resigning from BlackBerry and therefore this is not termination
ryithout cause.

ient from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From : d parker@ blackberrv.com
Sent: February 2,20L7 3:07 PM

fo: ajessup@blackberry.com
Cc: david.oarker@hotmail.ca
Subject: Re: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

\mber Jessup, Blackerry HR

lhrough statements and actions from Blackberry Human Resources, our business unit leader, Ralph Píni, and Blackberry CEO, John

5651169

lnorton
Textbox

lnorton
Textbox



.his constitutes notice of employment termination, without cause, I look forward to Blackberry fulfilling the company's obligations
lf my employment contract which correspond to the aforementioned conditions.

fhank you

)avid Parker

will provide a signed copy of the above on Monday

ient from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From : ajessuo@ blackberry.com
Sent: February 2,2OL7 2:15 PM
fo: doarker@blackberrv.com
Subjecü Re: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

{¡

am working remotely and will return on monday

ient from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From : doa rker@blackberrv.com
Sent: February 2,2OI7 2:08 PM
fo: ajessuo@blackberry.com
Subject: Re: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

{iAmber,

\re you out forthe rest ofthe day?

ient from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobíle device - via the Rogers Network
From : ajessup@ blackberry.com
Sent: February2,2Ot7 11:51 AM
fo:
Subject: ACTION REQUIRED: Transition to Ford

3ood Morning

lR has been informed that you have accepted a position with Ford. As part of your transition from being a BlackBerry employee,
:here are several items that need to be taken care of prior to your last day. Flease read carefully and reach out to me if you have
rny questions.
fhis email will cover the process for:

L. Written confirmation of resignation

2. Post-employmentobligations

3. Your Equipment: lT and device collection process

4. Primary BlackBerry device and phone number

5. Expenses

5661170



.r..¡¡sr. !vo...r rrrq!.vr. vr l rÉ¡.qùrert

\s you harie actepted new emptoyment, you are required to submit formal notice of your resignation. Attached is a template
'esignation letter that you are required to complete, sign and submit. Please complete the letter and return (in person or by
:mail) by February l0th.
lefore your last day you will receive a Resignation Acceptance Letter from HR. This document confirms your last day with
SlackBerry as well as some final details concerning your benefits, vacation pay and other pertinent information.

tost-emplovment oblieations
)lease review the attached document titled Post-employment obligations. To confirm your understanding, please print the
locument, sign, and return with your resignation letter.

four Equipment: lT and device collection Drocess
/ou will be receiving further communications regarding the collection of lT equipment in the weeks leading up to your last day. you
llso may receive a communication from Software Operations and/or Beta regarding the collection of devices issued by these teams
:nd steps for returning these items.

trimary BlackBerrv device and ohone number
SlackBerry is providing you with the opportunity to keep your current active primary phone number as well as your secure,
-eleased, production BlackBerry device where possible. ln order for you to be able to keep your phone number and device, you are
-equired to provide the following information by responding to this email by February 10th.

L. Confirm if you would like to keep your current active primary phone number*.

2- lf yes, please confirm the phone number.

3. Please send me the model and lMEl of the device you would like to leave with.

NOTE: The device must be a secure, released, non-beta device. We will confirm if it is secure. lf your current device is a pre.
release device (i.e. Mercury), a beta device, or a competitor device issued by BlackBerry, vou cannot take it with you and it
must be returned pr¡or to your last day. Please let me know if your device is in any of the above categories.

f we have determined your device is secure, on your last day, we will security wipe your device and then you can take it with you.
)lease ensure that you know your BlackBerry lD for the security wipe process. DO NOT wipe your device yourself, we willjust have
:o wipe it again.
f your device is not secure, you are not permitted to keep it and it must be handed in on your last day.

*lmportant Note Ahout AssumÎng Financîal Responsibilíty of Corporate Phone Numberc - lf you would like to keep your current
:orporate mobile phone number, you will be able to assume ownership of your number with the same carrier it is currently active
trith. lT Carrier Solutions will be providing you with the required steps to be able to complete this process following your
:onfirmation that you wish to keep your mobile number. lf you do not complete the process by the date specified, then the
rumber will be forfeited with no exceptions. lt is up to you to ensure the process is completed in a timely manner. You will be
'equired to contact the current carrier to confirm you are accepting financial responsibility for the phone number going forward.
3lackBerry is providing you the option of keeping your current mobile number to aid you in your transition. By releasing the
rumber to you, BlackBerry will no longer be responsible for this number or the account associated with this number. lt is your
:hoice if you'd like to keep your number. lf you choose to keep your mobile number, you will assume financial responsibility.
:urther, some employees may be given the option to port their number into Ford's mobile plan. lf you want to explore that option,
:lease reach out to your Ford leader or Ford HR. BlackBerry will not be porting mobile numbers directly to Ford.

:xpenSeS

imployees are expected to complete an expense reports for any charges on their corporate AMEX prior to their last day to ensure
rrompt payment.

:urther communications on the logistics of your last day will follow approximately one week prior to your last day
f you have any questions about anything in this email, please let me know.

[hank you,

\mber Jessup
ì Business Partner Manager
lfice: +1 (519) 888-7465 x 13055
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AFFIDAVIT OF LEIGH NORTON

SWORN BEFORE ME THIS 31ST DAY OF JANUARY, 2019.
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To: Rebecca Graham[rebgraham@blackberry.com]
From: Daryl Martin
Sent: Tue 1/3/2017 12:38:36 PM
Subject: RE: I'm at A. 

Rebecca,
 
Have you heard back yet?  ​​​
​​​​
Daryl Martin
Manager, Location & Telemetry Technologies
Office: 519-597-3946, Mobile: 519-498-3468
 
From: Rebecca Graham 
Sent: Wednesday, December 14, 2016 12:38 AM
To: Daryl Martin <dmartin@blackberry.com>
Subject: RE: I'm at A.
 
Hi  Daryl,
 
Just wanted to let you know I haven’t forgotten you. Still waiting to hear back on a number of answers. Will revert as soon as I can.
 
Thanks,
Rebecca
 
From: Daryl Martin 
Sent: December-12-16 2:04 PM
To: Rebecca Graham
Subject: RE: I'm at A.
 
Thanks for taking the time to meet with me today, greatly appreciated. 
 
As per our conversation today, I wanted to leave a note in your inbox to remind to send me a list of data, such as RSU grants, that 
has been shared to Ford to assist with them making offers to BlackBerry Employees.  Please send this over by EOD if possible as I 
will be writing a counter offer tonight for Ford.
 
​​​​​Thanks,
​​​​
Daryl Martin
Manager, Location & Telemetry Technologies
Office: 519-597-3946, Mobile: 519-498-3468
 
From: Rebecca Graham 
Sent: Monday, December 12, 2016 12:28 PM
To: Daryl Martin <dmartin@blackberry.com>
Subject: I'm at A.
 
Hi Daryl, I can meet you in person at A. I'm outside Chris's office and we can find a room. :)
 
Rebecca 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Bell Network
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From: Daryl Martin
Attendees: Rebecca Graham
Location: Webex
Importance: Normal
Subject: Project Silver Job Offer
Start Time: Mon 12/12/2016 12:30:00 PM
End Time: Mon 12/12/2016 1:00:00 PM
Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham

http://blackberry.webex.com/meet/dmartinblackberry.com 
 
 
 
Hi Daryl, 
 
My calendar is up to date so just shoot me an invite when it works for you. 
 
Hope you have a great weekend. 
Rebecca 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Bell Network
Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
From: dmartin@blackberry.com
Sent: December 9, 2016 2:22 PM
To: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Subject: Re: Ford Offers

Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
 
Ah, then Monday would certainly be best. Do you want me to setup a meeting?  
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
From: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Sent: December 9, 2016 1:24 PM
To: dmartin@blackberry.com
Subject: Re: Ford Offers

Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
 
I'm in the same boat in Ottawa.  Monday? Or, happy to speak later this evening or on the weekend. 
 
Rebecca 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Bell Network
Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
From: dmartin@blackberry.com
Sent: December 9, 2016 12:36 PM
To: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Subject: Re: Ford Offers

Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
 
I'm still in meetings with Ford until around 2:00. Would you be free anytime after 3:00? I'm flexible once Ford leaves the office. 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
Required Attendees: Rebecca Graham
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From: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Sent: December 9, 2016 12:29 PM
To: dmartin@blackberry.com
Subject: Re: Ford Offers

 
Hi Darryl, 
 
We can chat about your options. When works for you? 
 
Rebecca 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Bell Network
From: dmartin@blackberry.com
Sent: December 9, 2016 12:12 PM
To: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Subject: Ford Offers

 
Rebecca,
 
As you are probably aware, I was given an offer from Ford last night and I now have 7 days to respond.  Who should I reach out to 
within BlackBerry to determine both my options if I choose to decline? 
 
Also, I noticed within my offer they did take into account my current outstanding stock.  Was my salary/bonus information 
communicated to Ford to assist with the offer? 
 
Thanks,
​​​​​
Daryl Martin
Manager, Location & Telemetry Technologies
Office: 519-597-3946
Mobile: 519-498-2468
dmartin@blackberry.com
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To: Rob Maurice[rmaurice@blackberry.com]
From: Rebecca Graham
Sent: Tue 12/13/2016 11:48:47 AM
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions

Hey Rob,
 
I’m planning to be at A all day today and tomorrow morning as well. I do have some meetings scheduled but trying to keep my 
calendar as open as possible. Please drop by when you have time or find a slot in my calendar that works for you. I’m OOO 
Thursday and Friday this week so today or tomorrow are best.
 
I’m sitting in the workstation out front of Chris’s office as usual.
 
Thanks,
Rebecca
 
From: Rob Maurice 
Sent: December-13-16 10:36 AM
To: Rebecca Graham
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions
 
Hi Rebecca,
 
I need to step out for lunch in about an hour.  However if you have some time in the afternoon I would love to meet up.
 
Cheers,
Rob
 
From: Rob Maurice 
Sent: December 12, 2016 7:00 PM
To: Rebecca Graham <rebgraham@blackberry.com>
Subject: Re: Couple of Questions
 
Hi Rebecca,
 
I reached out to Steve this morning.  No response yet.  
Tomorrow sounds fine.  
 
Another question to add to my list, since this is essentially an external offer, then I need to pass in my resignation to 
blackberry two weeks before my start date at Ford correct?  I have concerns that numbers expecting to move over will 
not be met.
 
Thanks,
Rob
 
 
Sent from my BlackBerry - the most secure mobile device - via the Rogers Network
From: rebgraham@blackberry.com
Sent: December 12, 2016 4:41 PM
To: rmaurice@blackberry.com
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions

 
Hi Rob,
 
Have you already connected with Steve from Ford HR on your Ford questions?
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Will hopefully be able to circle back with you on the BlackBerry questions tomorrow. I was at A today and will try to be back over 
here tomorrow so we can meet in person.
 
Thanks,
Rebecca
 
From: Rob Maurice 
Sent: December-12-16 3:27 PM
To: Rebecca Graham
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions
 
Hi Rebecca,
 
Just a FYI that I have a few concerns about the offer from Ford (I may need to ask for more time).  We can always talk in person if 
some of the questions below cannot be answered over email.
 
Cheers,
Rob
 
From: Rob Maurice 
Sent: December 11, 2016 10:44 PM
To: Rebecca Graham <rebgraham@blackberry.com>
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions
 
Thanks Rebecca, appreciate it.  I’m sure there are lots of dynamics at play here (especially around the first question below).  I need 
to give a response to Ford by December 15th (Thursday), so some kind of answer (or general direction) a bit before then would be 
really helpful in the decision process.  My list of questions to Ford definitely is longer then my list below for the BlackBerry side.
 
Weekend was great, but too short as always. 
 
Cheers,
Rob
 
From: Rebecca Graham 
Sent: December 11, 2016 10:38 PM
To: Rob Maurice <rmaurice@blackberry.com>
Subject: RE: Couple of Questions
 
Hi Rob,
 
Thanks for reaching out and good that you reached out to me. As you can imagine, there have been many questions flowing in 
since Thursday’s meeting. A lot we anticipated but some new ones as well. I am just awaiting final confirmation on some of the 
answers and then should be able to get back to employees and leaders so they can help answer these questions too.
 
Thanks in advance for your patience. Hope you had a lovely weekend.
 
Rebecca
 
From: Rob Maurice 
Sent: December-11-16 10:20 PM
To: Rebecca Graham
Subject: Couple of Questions
 
Hi Rebecca,
 
I was not sure if I should reach out to you or Amber.
 
Ford has presented me an offer and I wanted to check a couple items with you:
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1.      If I decline the offer, what are my options with BlackBerry?
2.      If I accept the offer, do I get any remaining/incurred vacation paid out at the end of my employment?

 
I’m sure there are other items I’m not thinking of (will probably think of them when I hit send).  Feel free to toss my any feedback I 
may have missed.
 
I’m guessing at some point there will be a FAQ put together for these types of questions (e.g. what happens to my RRSPs/options) 
but I may be early in the process.
 
Thanks,
Rob
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To: Vilok Kusumakar[vkusumakar@blackberry.com]
From: Rebecca Graham
Sent: Tue 12/13/2016 5:44:42 PM
Subject: RE: confidential - question about offer

Hi Vilok,
 
I think you’ve taken the right course of action by discussing with Ford. I was not privy to their offers, the language and terms so 
unfortunately may not be much help.
 
If you want to chat, please let me know.
 
Thanks,
Rebecca
 
From: Vilok Kusumakar 
Sent: December-12-16 6:11 PM
To: Rebecca Graham
Subject: confidential - question about offer
 
Hi Rebecca,
I am evaluating my Ford offer. I will start a discussion with them. But I have a question about Accountability level 
mapping and may be you can help me.
 
I was offered LL5. I am trying to understand how Ford levels work and how they compare to BlackBerry levels. Did Ford ask 
BlackBerry HR for details on our accountability levels?
 
I am asking Ford to share description of their accountability levels. Were there any mapping rules used? Here is what I think has 
been done. But I have several question marks in the table below…
 
People leadership roles
 

BlackBerry 
Accountability level

BlackBerry Title Ford Accountability 
Level

Ford Title

D Team lead LL 7? Team lead?

E Manager LL 6 Supervisor

F Senior Manager LL 5 Manager

G Director LL 4 Chief Engineer?

H Senior Director LL4 Chief Engineer?

I VP LL3 ?

 
In my particular case, due to accountability, competency, role scope and complexity, I report to Chris House. Even though my title 
is Director, I have been doing similar job in accountability and role scope and complexity to Senior Director. And I have been 
director for 5 years.
 
It will be unfair if we map all BlackBerry Directors and all BlackBerry Senior managers to same level in Ford. I think we need to look 
at each case individually.
 
​​​​​Vilok
Director, SW Apps and Framework
Mobile: 613-290-6635
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Office: 613-595-3703
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Questions and Answers following Mobility Solutions Announcements 

This document is for the use of HR and People Leaders in Mobility Solutions.  It should not to be 
distributed further or the document shared with employees.

The below FAQ is intended to be used ONLY by BlackBerry HR and Leaders and help them answer some 
common questions concerning the announcements made on December 8th. 

Generic:

If I receive an offer can I know my other options before I make a decision?  1)
BlackBerry employees are encouraged to strongly consider their offer from Ford or TCL.  a.
If an employee declines the offer, BlackBerry will check into internal redeployment, 
where possible.

If we aren’t on Silver and the function that we perform isn’t in scope for TCL or Software 2)
Licensing, and it is obvious our roles will become redundant, can we know our end date?  

Employees should speak with their Leader and/or SLT if they have questions or concerns a.
regarding their employment and future with BlackBerry.

Questions on Ford Employment:

BlackBerry employees who receive an offer from Ford may contact the following Ford 
representatives:

US Employees: Martha MacLachlan <mmaclac1@ford.com>o

Canadian Employees: Alyssa Andree < aandree@ford.com>o

Questions on TCL Employment:  

Employees’ questions should be directed to BlackBerry HRBP who will work with TCL to get the 
answers for you:
Employees who have questions may contact the following BlackBerry HRBPs

EMEA employees: Virginie Adamo

APAC & NA employees: Rebecca Graham, Lisa Carswell, Amber Jessup, Jennifer Mascarino

Questions on BlackBerry Matters:

Did BlackBerry provide Ford with information on employees’ compensation and employment 1)
with BlackBerry? 

BlackBerry signed an agreement with Ford for engineering services and the opportunity a.
to transition in-scope BlackBerry employees to Ford. Some information on in-scope 
BlackBerry employees was shared under strict confidentiality. 

Why were employees not consulted before this information was shared with a 3rd party? 2)
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In light of the confidentiality of this agreement and the time needed to properly identify a.
in-scope employees, BlackBerry had to share some employee-related information 
before we were able to announce this agreement internally.  

Has salary/employee info been shared with TCL?3)
BlackBerry signed a Master Services and License Agreement with TCL under which some a.
employees will transition to TCL. Some basic information on in-scope BlackBerry 
employees has been shared under strict confidentiality. This will allow TCL to more 
accurately evaluate such in-scope BlackBerry employees and will make their subsequent 
transition as seamless as possible.

Will the employees get to use up their HSA and PSA balances prior to moving to Ford/TCL, or 4)
will those be pro-rated?  

 Canada:a.
If you have remaining PSA or HSA credits, any eligible expenses incurred on or i.
prior to your last day of employment with BlackBerry are eligible for 
reimbursement; however, you will need to submit your expense(s) within 90 
days of your last day of BlackBerry employment.  You can confirm your HSA 
and/or PSA balance by visiting go/sunlife or www.mysunlife.com.

U.S.:b.
Health Savings Account (HSA)i.

If you contributed to an HSA through BlackBerry, your contributions will 1.
cease upon your last pay from BlackBerry.
The funds in this account are yours to take with you when you leave 2.
BlackBerry. You will be receiving a notice from PayFlex shortly regarding 
your account options.
PayFlex contact information: Phone: 1-800-284-4885; Website:    3.
www.healthhub.com

Flexible Spending Account (FSA)ii.
If you have a Health Care FSA, you will need to submit any expenses 1.
incurred on or prior to your last day of BlackBerry employment to 
WageWorks for processing within 90 days of your last day of 
employment.   You are eligible to continue your Health Care FSA 
through COBRA. Further details on how to continue to participate in the 
Health Care FSA will be provided in your COBRA election package.
If you have a Dependent Care FSA, you will need to submit any expenses 2.
incurred on or prior to your last day of BlackBerry employment directly 
to WageWorks for processing within 90 days of your last day of 
employment.
WageWorks contact information: Phone: 1-877-924-3967; Website:          3.
www.wageworks.com 
Fitness Reimbursement Programiii.
If you have a receipt(s) that you have not yet submitted for your Fitness 1.
Reimbursement Program, please submit your receipt(s) to the HR 
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Shared Services team via email (HRAdmin@blackberry.com). Expenses 
incurred on or prior to your last day of BlackBerry employment are 
eligible for reimbursement; however you will need to submit your 
expense(s) within 90 days of your last day of employment.

Will BlackBerry pay out vacation at time of transfer or do the vacation days get transferred to 5)
Ford?

Any vacation days/hours that have been accrued but not taken will be paid out on the a.
employee’s final pay in accordance with our vacation policy.

Will employees still be eligible to receive ViP?6)
Mobility Solutions performance against the performance metrics will be evaluated a.
before payout decision can be made.

If someone declines the offer from Ford, will they be laid off (with benefits package) or stay 7)
employed by BlackBerry?  

Employees who decline an offer from Ford (or TCL) will be considered for redeployment a.
within Mobility Solutions and BlackBerry where possible.

If employees accept an offer from Ford (or TCL), do they need to resign from BlackBerry? How 8)
is this treated?

Employees who accept an offer from Ford (or TCL) will be considered as having resigned a.
from their BlackBerry position. Confirmation of this decision should be made in writing 
by the employee to BlackBerry HR and the employee’s Leader.

Will Leaders be required to complete performance reviews for employees who are moving to 9)
Ford/TCL? Or if the Leader is moving to Ford/TCL, will the Leader need to complete the 
performance reviews for the team?

Yes. As employees will transition March 1, 2017, Leaders should complete the focal FY17 a.
performance reviews.

If an employee has BlackBerry equity that hasn’t yet vested, will the unvested portion expire 10)
on March 1st, or will it vest immediately?  

Unvested equity will expire and forfeited.  Unvested shares will return to the BlackBerry a.
equity pool.

For equity that has vested, do employees need to move the shares out and transfer them 11)
within the 90-day period?

Yes; employees will need to move their vested equity from Solium within 90 days from a.
their last day of employment with BlackBerry.

Can HR participate in team town halls to answer questions? Will there be BB HR sessions and 12)
will there be Ford HR sessions as well?

Mobility Solutions HRBPs will be available to answer employees’ questions and will hold a.
drop-in sessions.  

Can we keep our existing phone numbers and/or Devices when we go to Ford/TCL?13)
BlackBerry employees who accept an offer from TCL or Ford will be allowed to keep a.
their BlackBerry phone number. If the employee currently uses a secure BlackBerry 
device, the employee may take it provided that it has been wiped of all company data. 
No beta or development devices will be released. ONLY ONE approved BlackBerry device 
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and phone number will be released to each employee.  BlackBerry will no longer be 
responsible for any costs associated with the device.  All competitive and non-approved 
devices must be returned prior to the employee’s last day of BlackBerry employment.

Will Ford HR be doing info sessions, or will they only be here when they are ready to issue 14)
offers in January?  

Ford HR is available via email (please see contact info above)a.
Ford will be onsite in mid-January to present offers of employment to in-scope and b.
selected individuals. Ford will also be available at this time to answer questions.

Will both Ford and BlackBerry HR be present during the offer process so employees can ask 15)
questions of each company’s reps?  

BlackBerry HR will be available to support the process and employees.a.
Employee offer meetings will be private between the employee and Ford (or TCL).  The b.
offers will be comparable to or better than what the employee has at BlackBerry in 
accordance with the agreement.

What happens to my relationship with BlackBerry if I don't get an offer from Ford/TCL?  16)
Employees who do not receive an offer from Ford/TCL will be considered for a.
redeployment within Mobility Solutions and other organizations within BlackBerry 
where possible.

I was not selected to work on Engineering Services but I am interested in joining Ford, may I 17)
apply?

Only in-scope employees will be offered positions with Ford.a.
I was not selected to work on Engineering Services but a colleague was and plans to decline, 18)
may I switch with them?  

If this situation arises, please discuss directly with your Leader and HRBP, and will a.
evaluate then.

Who can I contact regarding my employment and country consultation process in EMEA?19)
Employees should contact Virginie Adam regarding their country process.a.

If I decline an offer from TCL, will I be laid off?20)
Employees who decline an offer from TCL will be considered for redeployment within a.
BlackBerry where possible.
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THIS IS EXHIBIT 6(C)) TO THE
AFFIDAVIT OF LEIGH NORTON

SWORN BEFORE ME THIS 31ST DAY OF JANUARY, 2019.

A Commissio Taking Affidavits, etc.
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From: Lax, Ryan <rlax@torys.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, August 21, 2018 12:17 PM 
To: Sternberg, Arlen <asternberg@torys.com>; Karine Dion <Karine.Dion@nelligan.ca> 
Cc: Leigh Norton <Leigh.Norton@nelligan.ca>; Janice Payne <janice.payne@nelligan.ca> 
Subject: RE: Cross-Examinations and new Certification Motion dates 
 
Hi Karine, 
  
I am responding regarding your documentary questions.  
  
December 9 Town Hall PowerPoint: We have located a version of a PowerPoint that appears to 
have been intended for use at the December 9, 2016 Town Hall meeting, but we have not been able 
to confirm whether it is in fact the final version that was presented to employees at that meeting. We 
are providing the version that we have located on this basis (and on the same basis as other 
confidential material previously provided). If it is discovered that there was a different final version, 
we will advise. The PowerPoint can be downloaded from the following link: 
https://torys.sharefile.com/d-s949f12f62b04937b. It has been zipped and password protected. No 
specialized software is needed. I will send the password in a separate email. The documents should 
be downloaded and unzipped before they are reviewed. To unzip, please right-click on the 
downloaded .zip file and select “extract all”, after which you will be prompted to enter the 
password. 
  
Question 7 of Refusals Motion: The list of 299 employees was requested through the plaintiff’s 
question #7 on the refusals motion (qq. 158-158 on the Cross-Examination of Rebecca Graham). 
Justice Charbonneau, in his June 12, 2018 endorsement (as clarified in his June 25, 2018 
endorsement), ruled that Question 7 is “not relevant and not necessary.” BlackBerry will comply 
with Justice Charbonneau’s ruling on the matter and will accordingly not answer this question. 
  
Questions for Colin Ho: We are still following up with Colin Ho to obtain the documents and 
hope to respond shortly. 
  
Kind regards, 
  
Ryan Lax 
  
P. 416.865.8166 | F. 416.865.7380 | 1.800.505.8679 
79 Wellington St. W., 30th Floor, Box 270, TD South Tower 
Toronto, Ontario  M5K 1N2 Canada | www.torys.com 
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AFFIDAVIT OF LEIGH NORTON

SV/ORN BEFORE ME THIS 31ST DAY OF JANUARY, 2019.
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19. The nature of these individual discussions, and the specific questions posed by 

employees, necessarily differed from employee to employee. Employees here having these 

discussions for purposes of considering their own situation and the factors they were taking into 

account in deciding whether to accept their Ford job offer and leave BlackBerry.16  The record 

includes extensive affidavit and cross-examination evidence from BlackBerry human resources 

representatives, some managers, and various employees about the nature of the job offer process 

and the discussions that took place.' 7  Mr. Parker was not personally involved in the individual 

discussions that other employees had during the process, when they were evaluating their options 

and making their decision. He does not know the details of all those various discussions and he 

does not know the specific reasons why other employees decided to accept their offer.18  In his 

factum, Mr. Parker ignores most of the evidence on this point. 

Communications with employees prior to receiving offers from Ford 

20. At a "town hall" meeting with Mobility Solutions Employees on December 8, 2016, 

Ralph Pini, then Chief Operating Officer of BlackBerry and General Manager of Mobility 

Solutions, described the ongoing shift in focus of Mobility Solutions toward software 

development and licensing, including the Project Silver engineering services for Ford.19  

21. The following day, on December 9, representatives of Ford jointly held another "town 

hall" meeting with BlackBerry for Project Silver employees. At that meeting, Ford announced 

that it intended to make offers of employment to some employees in January 2017. The words 

16  Ibid. 
17  First Graham Affidavit, Exhibits B-GG, LL-00, RR-TT, VV-XX, BlackBeny CR, Tab 1; Jessup Affidavit, 

Exhibits A-G, BlackBerry CR, Tab 2; Carswell Affidavit, Exhibits A-B, BlackBerry CR, Tab 3; Mascarin 
Affidavit, Exhibits A-B, BlackBerry CR, Tab 4; Racz Affidavit, Exhibits B-C, BlackBerry CR, Tab 5; Landry 
Affidavit, Exhibit A, BlackBerry CR, Tab 8; Mullin Affidavit, Exhibits A-B, BlackBeny CR, Tab 9. See footnote 
17. See also: Cross-examination of Rebecca Graham dated January 29, 2018 ["Graham Cross"], qq. 46-47, 263-
278, 281-298, 31 1-3 19, 327-369, 438-446, 457-493, 601-627, 633-641, 756, 850-867, 2nd Supplementary Motion 
Record of the Moving Party (Certification) ["Parker CR3"], Tab 3; Cross-examination of Amber Jessup dated 
January 18, 2018 ["Jessup Cross"], qq. 168-182, 200-207, 259-297, 314-334, 339-386, 415-449, 454-474, 522-
556, 590-594, 604-609, Parker CR3, Tab 4; Cross-examination of Lisa Carswell dated January 29, 2018, qq. 51-
109, Parker CR3, Tab 9; Cross-examination of Jennifer Mascarin dated January 29, 2018, qq. 94-175, 185-190, 
Parker CR3, Tab 8; Cross-examination of Zoltan Racz dated January 18, 2018 ["Racz Cross"], qq. 20-29, 34-44, 
65-64, 75-89, 114-129, Parker CR3, Tab 5; Cross-examination of Colin Ho dated January 18, 2018, qq. 45-55, 61-
65, 82-123, Parker CR3, Tab 6. 

Is Parker Cross, qq. 4-9, 48-56, 118-123. 
19  First Graham Affidavit, para. 22, BlackBerry CR, Tab 1, p. 10. 
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- 10 - 

with Ford.36  One of the plaintiff's own affiants, on cross-examination, indicated that the terms of 

his offer, including signing bonus and job level, were adjusted by Ford in response to concerns 

that he raised.37  

32. Some employees asked about their options for remaining at BlackBerry or the 

implications of declining the Ford offer. Individual employees who asked this question of a 

human resources representative were told that if they chose to decline the offer, their 

employment with BlackBerry would continue and BlackBerry would take steps to place them in 

a comparable role on another team or project at BlackBerry. There were many roles on other 

projects and teams to be filled going forward.38  Where employees asked about specific roles on 

other teams or projects, or wanted to better understand their continuing options at BlackBeny, 

they were encouraged to speak individually with the manager on their team and other managers 

known to be staying at BlackBerry.39  

33. Individual discussions between managers and employees took place. Those discussions 

would have informed those employees' understanding concerning their options for their 

continuing role if they chose to remain at BlackBerry.4°  Those discussions necessarily differed 

among employees because employees had differing considerations they were taking into account 

in making their decision, and employees were in differing roles and had differing future 

prospects at BlackBerry. 

34. It is wrong for the plaintiff to suggest that all employees had the same communications 

with BlackBerry or that they all were in identical positions in respect of their employment 

situation and future prospects. That is simply not the case. Some illustrative evidence regarding 

individual employees is highlighted below. 

36  First Graham Affidavit, para. 60, BlackBeny CR, Tab 1, p. 20. 
Cross-Examination of John Veniot dated January 17, 2018 ["Veniot Cross"], qq. 11, 22-28, Parker CR3, Tab 13. 

38  First Graham Affidavit, para. 55, BlackBerry CR, Tab 1, p. 19; Jessup Affidavit, para. 19, BlackBerry CR, Tab 2, 
p. 193. 

86  First Graham Affidavit, para. 56, BlackBerry CR, Tab 1, p. 19; Jessup Affidavit, para. 19, BlackBerry CR, Tab 2, 
p. 193. 
Racz Affidavit, paras. 9-13, 18, BlackBerry CR, Tab 5, pp. 233-235; Ho Affidavit, paras. 8-10, BlackBerry CR, 
Tab 6, pp. 243-244; Mullin Affidavit, paras. 4-9, BlackBerry CR, Tab 9, p. 254; Landry Affidavit, paras. 5-10, 
BlackBerry CR, Tab 8, pp. 249-250; Lee Affidavit, para. 6, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 2, p. 18; Mackie Affidavit, 
paras. 5-6, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 4, p. 30; Watson Affidavit, paras. 5-7, BlackBeny CR2, Tab 3, p. 27; Parker 
Cross, qq. 48, 74-75, 80-84, Parker CR 3, Tab 11. 
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Evidence from individual employees discussing their circumstances 

35. The record includes affidavits from a number of employees describing the process they 

went through and the reasons they each decided to either accept or decline their Ford job offers. 

These employees describe individual and differing communications they had through the process 

with BlackBerry human resources representatives, managers and/or others (including in respect 

of their continuing role at BlackBerry), that they took into account in making their decision. 

They describe what they understood from various communications they had and how this 

affected their decision.4I  In many instances, their evidence as to their understanding of their own 

employment situation and options, and why they made their decision to accept Ford's offer, 

differs significantly from Mr. Parker's evidence as to his own situation and understanding, and 

the reasons he made his decision.42  

36. By way of example, the following three affiants who remain members of the proposed 

class expressly confirm that, in light of their own circumstances and the discussions they had, 

they each made a voluntary decision to accept Ford's offer and resign from BlackBerry:43  

• Adrienne Lee, formerly a Senior Quality Manager at BlackBerry, received her offer from 

Ford in mid-January 2017. She confirms that she understood, based on a discussion with 

the head of BlackBerry's Quality department, that if she declined the offer from Ford, 

BlackBerry would take steps to place her on another project or team. Ms. Lee states, "I 

always understood that it was my choice whether to accept the offer or decline it." She 

found "the terms of the Ford offer very attractive, including the compensation terms and 

signing bonus." She "made a voluntary decision to accept Ford's job offer and leave 

BlackBerry's employ."44  

41  Racz Affidavit, paras. 6-13, BlackBerry CR, Tab 5, pp. 233-235; Ho Affidavit, paras. 7-10, BlackBerry CR, 
Tab 6, pp. 243-244; Landry Affidavit, paras. 5-10, BlackBeny CR, Tab 8, pp. 249-250; Mullin Affidavit, 
paras. 4-10, BlackBeny CR, Tab 9, pp. 254-255; First Parker Affidavit, paras. 9, 16, 21, Parker CR, Tab 2, pp. 8- 
10; Lee Affidavit, paras. 3-7, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 2, p. 18; Mackie Affidavit, paras. 2-8, BlackBeny CR2, Tab 
4, pp. 29-30; Watson Affidavit, paras. 2-8, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 3, pp. 26-27. 

42  First Parker Affidavit, paras. 5-25, Parker CR, Tab 2, pp. 7-10. 
Racz Affidavit. paras. 4-5, BlackBerry CR, Tab 5, pp. 233; Ho Affidavit, paras. 5-7, BlackBeny CR, Tab 6, 
p. 244; Affidavit of Martin van Hoeckel sworn October 2, 2017, paras. 4-5, BlackBerry CR, Tab 7, p. 247; Lee 
Affidavit, paras. 6, 8-9, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 2, pp. 18-19; Mackie Affidavit, para. 7, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 4, 
p. 29; Watson Affidavit, para. 7, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 3, p. 27. 

44 Lee Affidavit, paras. 3-6, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 2, p. 18. 
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• Andrew Mackie (formerly a Software Tools Developer at BlackBerry) and Lee Watson 

(formerly an HMT (handheld management and tracking) Specialist at BlackBerry) each 

describe their own individual discussions with their managers, their understandings that 

they could remain at BlackBerry, their process of weighing the benefits of the Ford offer 

against remaining at BlackBerry, and their voluntary choice to accept the Ford offers.45  

They each state: "I understood I would be resigning from BlackBerry, and intended to do 

so." 

• Unlike Mr. Parker, each of these employees submitted written resignation notices to 

BlackBerry. 

37. The record includes affidavits from two of the managers, Zoltan Racz and Colin Ho, who 

themselves received and accepted offers from Ford, and who had individual and differing 

discussions with various employees on their teams about those employees' offers. Mr. Racz 

(formerly a Vice President, Platform Software'at BlackBerry) indicates that he had "numerous 

one-on-one conversations with employees about their Ford offers" which "differed from 

employee to employee depending on the particular employee, his or her situation, and the factors 

he or she was taking into account in evaluating their offer." "Different employees asked different 

questions" and it was obvious that "employees were weighing the factors they each thought were 

important". In respect of his own employment offer from Ford, Mr. Racz states: "I clearly 

understood that it was my choice whether to accept the offer or not"; "I also understand that if I 

accepted this offer, I would be resigning from BlackBerry and therefore was not expecting to 

receive a severance package from BlackBerry"; and "the terms of the Ford offer were attractive 

to me and that is why I decided to accept the offer." 

38. Mr. Ho (formerly a Senior Manager, Input Systems at BlackBerry) also had individual 

discussions with a number employees on his team after they received their offers. He confirms 

that "people I spoke to were taking into account their own offer and situation (and appeared to be 

weighing their particular considerations) in coming to a decision whether to accept their offer or 

not. I told them it was entirely their choice whether to accept or not."46  Mr. Ho also confirms that 

as Watson Affidavit, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 3; Mackie Affidavit, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 4. 
46 Ho Affidavit, paras. 8-10, BlackBerry CR, Tab 6, pp. 243-244. 
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he voluntarily chose to accept his job offer from Ford "based on [his] own situation and 

considerations," and that he provided a resignation letter. 

39. Contrary to the submission in Mr. Parker's factum, there is no evidentiary basis to 

suggest that these managers (or any others) were given any financial incentives to encourage 

other Project Silver employees to accept their offers from Ford. The direct evidence on this point 

is from Rebecca Graham, BlackBerry's Director of Global Talent Development, who confirms 

that no such incentives were provided. The documentary evidence - Ford's contract with 

BlackBerry and available offers of employment from Ford to four manages - contains no 

reference to any such incentives. In support of this submission on this point, Mr. Parker 

selectively quotes from one email from a manager. This manager was merely reflecting his own 

personal question early in the process as to the number of employees that might go to Ford. This 

merits-related speculative assertion by Mr. Parker is unfounded.47  

40. Emails from other individual employees, included in the record by way of examples, 

show their own deliberations when considering their Ford offer.48  One employee created an excel 

spreadsheet that he planned to use to evaluate his offer from Ford in comparison with his current 

situation at BlackBerry across 16 metrics, including base salary, bonus percentage, stock awards, 

pension, vacation, and severance entitlement.49  He shared that spreadsheet with five Project 

Silver colleagues, stating "I have attached a little spreadsheet I am using to help me figure out 

what is good and bad about the pending offer from Ford. Feel free to use if you wish."50  

41. The record also includes evidence regarding the seven who were working on Project 

Silver in Canada, received offers of employment from Ford, and made the decision to decline 

their offers. All seven of those employees remained employed by BlackBerry after the 

conclusion of Project Silver and were placed in equivalent roles on different BlackBerry 

47  Graham answer to undertaking, q. 493, Parker CR3, Tab 10C, p. 888; Personnel, Premises and Asset Agreement, 
Parker CR3, Tab 10B1, p. 604; and see for example managers' agreements: Parker CR3, Tab 10F27, pp. 903-909; 
Parker CR3, Tab .10B12, pp. 683-685; Parker CR3, Tab 10B27, pp. 711-714; Parker CR3, Tab 10B23, pp. 692-
694; Parker CR3, Tab 10B29, pp. 723-725; Parker CR3, Tab 10B25, pp. 701-704; Parker CR3, Tab 10B31, pp. 
73 8-744; 

48  First Graham Affidavit, paras. 26-31, 43-47, 52-62, 69-72, 75-87, 90-92, 97-105 and exhibits cited in those 
paragraphs, BlackBerry CR, Tab 1, pp. 11-12, 15-31. 

49  First Graham Affidavit, para. 45, Exhibit "M", BlackBerry CR, Tab 1, pp. 16, 79-83, Stephenson Cross, qq. 30- 
48, Parker CR3, Tab 14. 

5°  First Graham Affidavit, Exhibit "M", BlackBerry CR, pp. 79-83. 
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projects. Each of these employees was in the same position as members of the proposed class, 

but made a different decision. They each understood they could remain at BlackBerry, and did 

so. 

42. Two of those employees, Michael Mullin (a Software Developer at BlackBerry) and Nick 

Landry (a Senior Applications Software Developer at BlackBerry), provided affidavits 

discussing their offers from Ford and their decisions to stay at BlackBerry.52  

43. Mr. Mullin states that he "found the offer interesting as it provided higher pay, a signing 

bonus, and better benefits than [he] had at BlackBerry". However, he "was not particularly 

interested in leaving BlackBerry — working at BlackBerry had been [his] goal since the time [he] 

went to college." He always "understood that the choice was entirely [his] as to whether to 

accept or decline" and that if he accepted "it would mean [he] was resigning from BlackBerry." 

As part of his deliberations, he spoke with a BlackBerry manager about a role on that manager's 

team if he declined the offer. Mr. Mullin also spoke to another manager regarding continuing 

roles on that team. Based on those discussions and his own considerations, Mr. Mullin declined 

Ford's offer. He continues to be an employee at BlackBerry on the team he desired.53  

44. Mr. Landry similarly confirms that: he received an offer from Ford; consulted with a 

BlackBerry manager and human resources in his process of deliberations; and then chose to 

decline the ford offer and remain at BlackBerry.54  

45. Mr. Parker's other affiants, who are members of the proposed class (Messrs. Dawson, 

Stephenson and Veniot), each confirmed on cross-examination that they made a decision to 

accept Ford's offer, and in making the decision they took into account the individual discussions 

they had with BlackBerry representatives, their own employment situations and what they 

understood their own options to be.55  One of these affiants, Mr. Veniot, stated in an email to a 

close family member at the time: "Well it's official. I excepted [accepted] the offer from Ford 

51  First Graham Affidavit, paras. 83-87, BlackBeny CR, Tab 1, pp. 25-27. 
52  Mullin Affidavit, BlackBerry CR, Tab 9; Landry Affidavit, BlackBerry CR, Tab 8. 
53  Mullin Affidavit, paras. 4-9, BlackBerry CR, Tab 9, p. 254. 
5 ' Landry Affidavit, paras. 4-10, BlackBerry CR, Tab 8, pp. 249-250. 
Ss Dawson Cross, qq. 9-15, 19-23, 29-34, 37, 39, Parker CR3, Tab 12; Veniot Cross, qq. 10-17, 27-32, 54-59, 63-73, 

Parker CR3, Tab 13; Stephenson Cross, qq. 5-7, 10-13, 21-22, 30-62; 69-70, Parker CR3, Tab 14. 
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necessarily to the same extent. The answer to the common issue "must be capable 

of extrapolation to each member of the class";104  

(c) the answer to the common issue must be "a substantial ingredient of each class 

member's claim" and the resolution of it must be necessary to the resolution of 

each class member's claim;105  

(d) resolution of the issue must not be dependent upon individual findings of fact that 

have to be made with respect to each class member;I°6  and 

the common issues should not be framed in over-broad terms, because "it would 

not serve the ends of either fairness or efficiency to certify an action on the basis 

of issues that are common only when stated in the most general terms." Such 

overly-broad common issues are bound to break down into individual 

proceedings.1°  

85. Even if there is some basis in fact to establish the existence of a common issue, the court 

must also ask whether resolving the issue will depend upon individual findings of fact or would 

sufficiently advance each proposed class member's claim. If the common issue fails to satisfy the 

court in this regard, the court must refuse to certify it.108  

Whether there was a wrongful termination by BlackBerry cannot be decided as a 
common issue 

86. The first — and threshold — proposed common issue is whether any given employee was 

wrongfully terminated by BlackBerry (as the plaintiff alleges) or voluntarily chose to leave 

BlackBerry's employ and resigned (as BlackBerry will contend for many employees). 

I" Hollick at para. 18, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 1; Western Canadian Shopping Centers at paras. 39-40, BlackBerry 
BOA, Tab 11; McCracken at para. 83, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 10; Brown at para. 36, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 5. 

105  Hollick at para. 18, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 1; Brown at para. 36, BlackBeny BOA, Tab 5. 
1°6  Williams v. Mutual Life Assurance Co. of Canada (2000), 51 O.R. (3d) 54 at para. 39 (S.C.J.), aff'd (2001), 17 

C.P.C. (5th) 103 (Div. Ct.), aft" d (2003), 226 D.L.R. (4th) 112 (C.A.), leave to appeal to S.C.C. refused [2003] 
S.C.C.A. No.283, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 12; Fehringer at paras. 16-21, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 8; Brown at para. 
36, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 5. 

107  Rumley v. British Columbia, 2001 SCC 69 at para. 29, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 13. 
1" See Cloud v. Canada (Attorney General) (2004), 73 O.R. (3d) 401 at paras. 49, 55 (C.A.) leave to appeal to 

S.C.C. refused [2005] S.C.C.A. No. 50, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 14; Chadha v. Bayer Inc, (2003), 63 O.R. (3d) 22 
at paras. 30-33 (C.A.) leave to appeal to S.C.C. refused [2003] S.C.C.A. No. 106, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 15. 
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87. None of the other issues arises unless and until this first issue is decided in an employee's 

favour. The date of termination (proposed common issue 2) only arises and becomes relevant if 

there is found to be a wrongful termination by BlackBerry, and all other proposed common 

issues are damages-related and would only arise if and to the extent it were found that an 

employee was terminated. A court cannot certify damages issues where no liability issue is 

certified. I°  

88. Mr. Parker frames this threshold liability issue as follows: "Does BlackBerry's conduct 

amount to a termination of the Class Employees' employment." While his framing of the issue is 

too narrow — since it is not only BlackBerry's conduct that will be in issue, and relevant to the 

analysis — he nonetheless acknowledges in his factum (paragraph 94) that this is a "threshold 

issue and critically important to the litigation", and "if it is not a termination, the litigation ends." 

89. As this Court has noted, "[a] certification motion cannot be considered in a vacuum... 

[The] criteria in the CPA must be considered with a correct understanding of the employment 

law that will ultimately govern the success of the action at trial."11°  Where an employment 

concept requires case-by-case analysis, it does not matter whether there are common elements to 

all of the employees' claims: the most important factor here is that an individual inquiry will be 

critical to assessing whether an employee has been terminated. Evaluating the common elements 

of the claim is merely the beginning of the inquiry, and the defence must not be precluded "from 

conducting an inquiry into the individual and unique circumstances of each plaintiff'.111  

90. Even on Mr. Parker's formulation of the applicable termination test that he submits will 

be applicable to the threshold issue (at paragraph 55 of his factum), an individual and fact-

specific analysis would be required. His formulation is that the termination test requires an 

analysis of "whether a reasonable person, in the Class Employees' circumstances, would 

understand, through the employer's words and actions, in the situation of that particular industry, 

workplace and surrounding circumstances, that their employment was terminated." This 

109  Anderson v. Wilson (1999), 44 O.R. (3d) 673 (C.A.) at para. 32, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 16. 
HO  Kafka v. Allstate Insurance Company of Canada, 2011 ONSC 2305 [Kafka ONSC], aff'd 2012 ONSC 1035 (Div. 

Ct.), BlackBerry BOA, Tab 17. 
' II  Kafka ONSC at paras. 156-162, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 17. 
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formulation requires the court to consider the employee's understanding, taking into account the 

communications with BlackBerry and other relevant circumstances. 

91. It is also important to bear in mind that the Court would, of course, be required to 

consider BlackBerry's defence to the termination issue as well, not just Mr. Parker's allegation 

or the specific facts on which he seeks to rely.112  As stated, BlackBerry's defence is that, for 

reasons that are somewhat different in each case, each or at least most of the employees made a 

voluntary decision to accept Ford's offer and leave BlackBerry's employ, and thus resigned. For 

employees that did so, there was no wrongful termination. 

92. There is no basis for Mr. Parker's submission that BlackBerry's defence of resignation is 

"legally insignificant". For example, in one of the two cases Mr. Parker himself relies on for the 

termination test (the Rajput v. Menu Foods Ltd. case — which was an individual action, not a 

class action) the issue was whether the employee was terminated or alternatively resigned — and 

the court assessed the communications and conduct of both the employer and the employee, and 

the surrounding factual circumstances, to decide the issue.113  

93. At law, a clear and voluntary decision by an employee to end his/her employment 

amounts to a resignation. The court must assess the factual circumstances, including the 

employee's communications and conduct, to assess whether the employee intended to resign.114  

94. We have found no decision in which a Canadian court has ever certified the issue of 

whether employees voluntarily resigned (or alternatively were wrongfully terminated), which is 

not surprising given the inherently individual and highly fact-specific analysis that is necessarily 

required in order to determine the issue. In other wrongful dismissal cases, where determining 

112  In his factum, Mr. Parker sets out his list of facts he will seek to rely on, including in asserting there was a 
"scheme" between BlackBerry and Ford, and suggests somehow that the Court will only need to consider those 
facts. However, in assessing whether an employee was wrongfully terminated, all relevant facts would need to be 
considered (not just those that Mr. Parker seeks to highlight), and BlackBerry's defence would need to be 
considered. 

113  Rajpzit v. Menu Foods Ltd., [1984] O.J. No. 2290 at paras. 2-19, Parker's Book of Authorities ("Parker BOA"), 
Tab 13. 

114  Kieran v. Ingrain Micro Inc. (2004), 189 O.A.G. 58 (C.A.) at paras. 28-30 BlackBerry BOA, Tab 18; 
Gebreselassie v. VCR Active Media Ltd., 2007 CanLII 45710 (Ont. S.C.J.) at paras. 41-45, 48, BlackBerry BOA, 
Tab 19; Beggs v. Westport Foods Ltd., 2011 BCCA 76 at para. 37, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 20, citing Harris, 
David, Wrongful  Dismissal, loose-leaf (Toronto: Thompson Canada Ltd., 1989). 
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liability will require individual factual analysis for each employee, courts have refused to certify 

such actions.115  

95. Similarly here, the issue of whether an employee was involuntarily terminated by 

BlackBerry or voluntarily resigned, is incapable of class-wide determination. An individual 

factual enquiry will necessarily be required for each employee, and success for one member of 

the class cannot mean success for all. In order to decide the issue, the Court would need to 

consider: 

• the particular conduct of the employee and BlackBerry; 

• the communications they had during the job offer process; 

• what each employee's understanding and assessment was of his/her employment situation 

and options in respect of their continuing role at BlackBerry; 

• why he/she made the decision to accept his/her Ford employment offer, and whether it 

was a voluntary decision by the employee to leave BlackBerry's employ; and 

• whether he/she provided express notice of resignation (and, if so, why). 

On both sides' formulation of the threshold issue and applicable employment law test, the Court 

would have to conduct this type of factual enquiry. 

96. Mr. Parker incorrectly submits that members of the proposed class all received the exact 

same communications from BlackBerry — he submits that BlackBerry "took great care to ensure 

it was communicating identical information."116  That is an incorrect overstatement and ignores 

the substantial evidence of all the individual discussions that were occurring and that differed 

from employee to employee. 

97. The employees did not all have the same discussions or receive the same information 

about their particular prospects at BlackBerry, and they were not all in the same position in 

respect of their future prospects. Their positions, roles and skillsets at BlackBerry were some of 

15  See by way of example, Kafka, supra, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 17; and Service v. University of Victoria, 2018 
BCSC 2027 (CanLII) 

'6  Parker Factum, para. 25, p. 9. 
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the material differences between them that affected their employment situation and future 

prospects. Employees asked questions pertaining to their own employment situation and the 

specific factors they were each considering in deciding whether to accept their Ford offer. Some 

employees spoke with a human resources representative and also one or more manager. Others 

likely only spoke to a human resources representative. Still others may not have had any such 

individual discussions. In short, individual employees had differing communications with 

BlackBerry and Ford. 

98. Mr. Parker alleges that he and other members of the proposed class "felt" that they had 

no choice but to accept the offer, and that if they did not do so their careers at BlackBerry 

"would likely not continue".117  Mr. Parker relies on BlackBerry's history in prior years of 

downsizing and periodic layoffs — but he (and some other affiants) confirmed that there was 

uncertainty at BlackBerry for years and the situation was no different in January-February 2017 

in this regard. Also, Mr. Parker can really only speak to how he felt at the time and as to his own 

belief or understanding of his employment situation and future prospects, and why he chose to 

accept Ford's offer. 

99. As described at paragraphs 18 to 46 above, the record contains extensive evidence 

regarding the individual discussions and email exchanges that were occurring with other 

employees and BlackBerry's human resources representatives and managers (besides individual 

discussions and emails between the employees and Ford). These communications would have 

informed each employee's understanding of his/her own employment situation and options and 

why he/she decided to accept their Ford offer — and thus whether the particular employee made a 

voluntary decision to leave BlackBerry's employ. 

100. Success for one employee on this threshold liability issue cannot possibly mean success 

for all employees in the proposed class. Just by way of example, if the Court were to conclude 

that Mr. Parker's employment was involuntarily terminated by BlackBerry in his circumstances 

and in light of the communications he had with BlackBerry and his belief or understanding at the 

time, that finding could not possibly mean that employees like Ms. Lee, or Messrs. Watson and 

Mackie (and many others) — who are in the proposed class — were involuntarily/wrongfully 

"7  First Parker Affidavit, para. 19, Parker CR, Tab 2, p. 9. 
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terminated. Ms. Lee and Messrs. Watson and Mackie each swore affidavits expressly confirming 

that: 

• when they received Ford's offer, they understood it was their choice whether to accept 

the offer or not; 

• they found Ford's offer to be attractive; 

• after considering their own situation and the Ford offer and having individual 

discussions, they made a voluntary decision to accept the offer; 

• in doing so, they understood they would be resigning from BlackBerry and intended to do 

so; and 

• they then provided a letter to BlackBerry confirming their resignation.118  

101. As described above, affidavit evidence from a number of other individual employees who 

were on Project Silver and who received job offers from Ford similarly indicates that they each 

understood it was their decision whether to accept the offer and join Ford, or decline it and 

remain employed by BlackBerry, and they made a voluntary decision based on their own 

circumstances, and their own consideration of the terms of their Ford offer. Some of those 

employees chose to accept Ford's offer, and others chose to decline it and they then remained at 

BlackBerry. There are emails from various other employees as well, showing that they 

understood it was their decision and they were carefully considering whether to accept their offer 

or not based on their own situation and considerations. 

102. Material factual differences between employees, that would need to be considered in the 

individual analyses, include whether the employee provided a resignation notice and the specific 

circumstances. Many employees provided express letters of resignation (in varying forms); some 

did not provide letters of resignation but raised no issues; and a relatively small number, 

including Mr. Parker, did not provide a letter of resignation and raised concerns. 

118  Lee Affidavit, paras. 3-11, BlackBerry CR2, Tab 2, pp. 18-19; Watson Affidavit, paras. 2-8, BlackBeny CR2, 
Tab 3, pp. 26-27; Mackie Affidavit, paras. 2-8, BlackBerry CR2, pp. 29-30. 
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103. In his factum, Mr. Parker has also not addressed the following individual circumstances: 

(a) the seven employees who were in the same position as members of the proposed 

class, but chose to decline their offers from Ford and remain BlackBerry 

employees; 

(b) the two Project Silver employees in the proposed class who brought applications 

to the Ministry of Labour alleging termination, in respect of whom the Ministry 

conducted individual factual analyses and found that both resigned from 

BlackBerry; and 

(c) certain employees' further individual circumstances related to their maternity 

leaves, or late hiring at BlackBerry and starting on Project Silver, which caused 

them to receive different communications than the ones on which Mr. Parker 

principally relies. 

104. In the circumstances, the determination of the threshold liability issue for any given 

employee is not "capable of extrapolation to each member of the class.""9  This issue cannot be 

assessed and determined in common for all employees. If the issue of class members' alleged 

wrongful termination were certified, BlackBerry would be prevented "from conducting an 

inquiry into the individual and unique circumstances of each plaintiff' that is necessary for it to 

defend the action.120  

105. At paragraph 50 of his factum Mr. Parker relies on two cases in submitting that "in the 

employment law context, Courts have certified class proceedings, even when dealing with 

difficult questions such as employee classifications or whether a contract term is enforceable." 

Those two cases raise very different issues than here, and in one of those cases (the Aston v. 

Casino Windsor case) the Court actually found that "there is a lack of common issues to be 

decided" and denied the certification motion. Also, the other case Mr. Parker relies on in 

paragraph 57 of his factum in submitting that "other decision makers have been able to assess 

whether a similar type of scheme constituted a termination on a common basis" — the Naranjo 

li 9  Hollick at para. 18, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 1; Western Canadian Shopping Centers at paras. 39-40, BlackBerry 
BOA, Tab 11; McCracken at para. 83, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 10; Brown at para. 36, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 5. 

I' Kafka ONSC at paras. 156-162, BlackBerry BOA, Tab 17. 
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54.

(íi) Common Issues I & 2: Termínation of employment ønd døte of termínatíon

53. There are two bases that the Trial Judge can determine whether BlackBerry terminated these

Class Employees on a common basis:

(i) The Trial Judge need only consider the BlackBerry Scheme to find a termination of
employment; or, in the altemative,

(ii) The Trial Judge need only consider at the BlackBeny Scheme and the interactions
BlackBerry had with the Class Employees to find a termination. However, BlackBerry
took significant steps to ensure it treated Class Employees identically, such that this
matter is appropriate for certification.

Parker will deal with both bases separately.

The Trial Judge only needs to look at the BlackBeny Scheme to find a termination

Whether or not BlackBerry terminated the Class Employees can be determined on a common

basis. Specifically, the legal test to determine whether these Class Employees were terminated

will involve assessing whether, given the context, BlackBerry made a unilateral decision to

terminate the Class Employees' employment.

Prinzo, supra, atpara 17: MPBOA Tab 8.

Rajput v Menu Foods Ltd. (1984),5 ACWS (2d) 450 at para l8 (ONSC) [Rajput]: MPBOA Tab 13.

55 The legal test for determining if a termination has occurred is focused on the employer's

conduct: whether a reasonable person, in the Class Employees' circumstances, would

understand, through the employer's words and actions, in the situation of that particular industry,

worþlace and surrounding circumstances, that their employment was terminated. As such, the

focus on certification will not be on the voluntariness of the Class Employees' accepting

employment, but rather, whether a reasonable person in their circumstances would have

20
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56.

understood their employment was terminated based on BlackBerry's conduct, its words and

actions.

Prinzo, supra, atpanTT: MPBOA Tab 8.

Rajput, supra, at para l8: MPBOA Tab 13.

To the extent that this definition of a termination does not fully capture the BlackBerry Scheme,

Parker will argue that the definition of a termination is flexible enough to ensure that a scheme

meant to deprive employees of their statutory and contractual rights is a termination. As the

Ontario Court of Appeal stated in Downtown Eatery (1993) Ltdv Ontario, "while an employer is

entitled to establish complex corporate structures and relationships, the lqw should be vigilant to

ensure that permissible complexity in corporate arrangements does not work an injustice in the

realm of employment law."

Downtown Eatery (1993) Ltd. v Ontario, 54 OR (3d) 161 atparu36: MPBOA Tab 14.

Other decision makers have been able to assess whether a similar type of scheme constituted a

termination on a common basis. In Nøranjo v Canadian Bank Institute, the Divisional Court

upheld a Small Claims Court deputy judge's decision on a group of six related actions. In those

cases, the issue was whether a business transaction constituted a termination or a sale of

business. In finding that the transaction in that case was a termination, the Court focused on the

employer's conduct, including the terms of the scheme, how the employer dealt with the

employees' files, and the structure of the transfer. V/hile that case only involved six employees

and related group actions (which is not a possible procedure here because of the size of the

proposed class), it nonetheless demonstrates that courts have been able to consider similar

schemes on a common basis.

Naranjo v Canadian Back Institute Operating Limited Partnership,20l8 ONSC 2882 atpans 13-22
MPBOA Tab 15.
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